Integrated Environmental-Economic Analysis of Different Scenarios Regarding Forest-based Bioenergy in Quebec

by

Hamed KOUCHAKI PENCHAH

MANUSCRIPT-BASED THESIS PRESENTED TO ÉCOLE DE TECHNOLOGIE SUPÉRIEURE IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY Ph.D.

MONTREAL, AUGUST 8, 2023

ÉCOLE DE TECHNOLOGIE SUPÉRIEURE UNIVERSITÉ DU QUÉBEC



GOBO Hamed Kouchaki Penchah, 2023

This <u>Creative Commons</u> licence allows readers to download this work and share it with others as long as the author is credited. The content of this work can't be modified in any way or used commercially.

BOARD OF EXAMINERS

THIS THESIS HAS BEEN EVALUATED

BY THE FOLLOWING BOARD OF EXAMINERS

Ms. Annie Levasseur, Thesis Supervisor Department of Construction Engineering, École de technologie supérieure

Mr. Olivier Bahn, Thesis Co-supervisor Department of Decision Sciences, HEC Montréal

Mr. Daniel R. Rousse, President of the Board of Examiners Department of Mechanical Engineering, École de technologie supérieure

Mr. Mathias Glaus, Member of the jury Department of Construction Engineering, École de technologie supérieure

Mr. Arnaud Hélias, External Evaluator French National Institute for Agriculture, Food, and Environment (INRAE)

THIS THESIS WAS PRENSENTED AND DEFENDED

IN THE PRESENCE OF A BOARD OF EXAMINERS AND PUBLIC

JULY 24, 2023

AT ÉCOLE DE TECHNOLOGIE SUPÉRIEURE

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my sincere thanks to my thesis supervisor, Professor Annie Levasseur, and my thesis co-supervisor, Professor Olivier Bahn. I would particularly like to thank both of them for the freedom they granted me in choosing the direction for my research project, as well as for their invaluable advice and ideas that have shaped this doctorate into what it is today.

I would also like to express my gratitude for the scientific and financial support from the Industrial Systems Optimization group of CanmetENERGY- Varennes and the financial support provided by the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC). I would like to thank my colleagues and friends within the LAMMS and the École de Technologie Supérieure. Moreover, I would like to extend my appreciation to everyone who contributed to this thesis. In particular, I am immensely grateful to Dr. Etienne Bernier for his thought-provoking inquiries throughout the final two years of my doctoral journey, as his invaluable input further enriched the discoveries and insights presented in this thesis.

Above all, I would like to thank my family for their endless support and understanding throughout my studies, especially since I chose to live abroad to join ETS. I would also like to thank my girlfriend, Iris, who has supported me in countless ways, enabling me to grow and achieve success. Without you, this experience would not have been the same. Ti Bala Mi Sar.

Analyse environnementale-économique intégrée de différents scénarios concernant la bioénergie à base de forêt au Québec

Hamed KOUCHKI PENCHAH

RÉSUMÉ

Cette étude fournit des informations précieuses aux décideurs en examinant la contribution du secteur forestier à la réalisation d'une décarbonisation profonde. Elle développe une approche de modélisation détaillée qui prend en compte différentes voies de bioénergie à base de forêt dans un cadre techno-économique afin de déterminer la contribution de la bioénergie à base de forêt dans la lutte contre le changement climatique. Ces voies sont incorporées dans le modèle énergétique NATEM-Québec, un modèle énergétique détaillé ascendante. Les résultats démontrent l'importance de la bioénergie à base de forêt en tant que composante clé de la stratégie de décarbonisation du Québec et mettent en évidence son potentiel pour d'autres régions connaissant un déclin des produits forestiers traditionnels. De plus, les résultats soulignent les défis de la décarbonisation des secteurs du transport et de l'industrie lourde, tout en insistant sur la nécessité d'une électrification étendue et d'une utilisation accrue de la bioénergie. Cette thèse développe également une approche intégrée en combinant le modèle de modélisation des peuplements et des paysages CBM-CFS3 avec NATEM-Québec afin d'éliminer l'hypothèse de neutralité carbone biogénique prévalente dans la littérature précédente, en abordant les erreurs de comptabilité potentielles et en évitant les décisions biaisées. L'intégration des flux de CO₂ biogénique dans le modèle du système énergétique révèle le rôle de la séquestration forestière dans l'atténuation des émissions et la nécessité d'inclure les émissions biogéniques dans les contributions déterminées au niveau national. La prise en compte des émissions biogéniques conduit à une réduction de l'utilisation de la biomasse et de la bioénergie dans les scénarios d'émissions de gaz à effet de serre. Par conséquent, supposer la neutralité carbone biogénique peut entraîner des décisions biaisées car cela permet au modèle d'utiliser davantage de biomasse sans être contraint par les émissions de CO₂ biogénique. Bien qu'un investissement immédiat dans la bioénergie avec capture et stockage du carbone, la capture directe de l'air et d'autres technologies d'émissions négatives puisse ne pas être réalisable, une transition vers des stratégies de gestion forestière rentables peut faciliter la réalisation d'émissions nettes nulles d'ici 2050. De plus, cette recherche entreprend une analyse techno-économique régionalisée approfondie, en mettant l'accent sur différentes voies de l'hydrogène dans la province de Québec, au Canada, en suivant l'approche intégrée développée. L'étude met en évidence l'importance de l'hydrogène, à la fois bleu et vert, dans la réalisation d'objectifs ambitieux de zéro émission nette, en particulier dans les secteurs industriels difficiles à décarboner. L'adoption généralisée de l'électrolyse est recommandée dans les situations où l'électrification n'est pas réalisable ou lorsque le stockage d'énergie est requis. Dans l'ensemble, cette recherche fournit des informations précieuses et des recommandations aux décideurs politiques et met en évidence l'importance de la bioénergie à base de forêt et de l'hydrogène dans la transition énergétique vers une économie durable à émissions nettes nulles.

Mots-clés: transition énergétique, émissions nettes nulles, bioénergie à base de forêt, technologies d'émissions négatives, BECCS, séquestration en forêt, CO_2 biogénique, hydrogène, modèle TIMES.

Integrated environmental-economic analysis of different scenarios regarding forestbased bioenergy in Quebec

Hamed KOUCHKI PENCHAH

ABSTRACT

This study provides valuable insights for decision-makers by examining the contribution of the forest sector in achieving deep decarbonization. It develops a detailed modeling approach that considers different forest-based bioenergy pathways within a techno-economic framework to determine the contribution of forest-based bioenergy in mitigating climate change. These pathways are incorporated into the NATEM-Québec, a detailed bottom-up energy model. The results demonstrate the importance of forest-based bioenergy as a key component of Quebec's decarbonization strategy and highlight its potential for other regions experiencing a decline in traditional forest products. Furthermore, the findings emphasize the challenges of decarbonizing the transportation and heavy industry sectors while also emphasizing the need for extensive electrification and increased bioenergy usage. This thesis also develops an integrated approach by integrating CBM-CFS3, a stand- and landscape-level modeling framework, with NATEM-Québec to eliminate the carbon neutrality assumption prevalent in previous literature, addressing potential accounting errors and biased decision-making. Integrating biogenic CO₂ flows into the energy system model reveals the role of forest sequestration in mitigating emissions and the need to include biogenic emissions in nationally determined contributions. Accounting for biogenic emissions leads to reduced biomass and bioenergy usage in GHG scenarios. Therefore, assuming biogenic carbon neutrality may result in biased decision-making because it allows the model to use more biomass without being constrained by biogenic CO₂ emissions. While immediate investment in bioenergy with carbon capture and storage, direct air capture, and other negative emission technologies may not be feasible, transitioning towards cost-effective forest management strategies can facilitate achieving net-zero emissions by 2050. Moreover, this research undertakes an extensive regionalized techno-economic analysis, focusing on various hydrogen pathways within the province of Quebec, Canada, following the developed integrated approach. The study highlights the significance of hydrogen, both blue and green, in achieving ambitious net-zero emission targets, particularly in difficult-to-decarbonize industrial sectors. The wider adoption of electrolysis is recommended for situations where electrification is not feasible, or energy storage is required. Overall, this research provides valuable insights and recommendations for policymakers and highlights the significance of forest-based bioenergy and hydrogen in the energy transition toward a sustainable, net-zero emission economy.

Keywords: energy transition, net-zero emission, forest-based bioenergy, negative emission technologies, BECCS, in-forest sequestration, biogenic CO₂, hydrogen, TIMES model

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION			
CHAP	TER 1	LITERATURE REVIEW	5
1.1	Climate cl	nange mitigation pathways	5
	1.1.1	Carbon dioxide removal options	7
	1.1.2	The role of forests	8
	1.1.3	Bioenergy with carbon capture and storage	9
	1.1.4	Hydrogen as a clean energy carrier	9
1.2	Energy sys	stem models	10
	1.2.1	TIMES models in general	. 11
	1.2.2	North American TIMES Energy Model	. 13
	1.2.3	Studies in the literature using energy system models	. 15
		1.2.3.1 Mitigating climate change with bioenergy	. 15
		1.2.3.2 Status regarding biogenic carbon	. 15
		1.2.3.3 The rising significance of hydrogen in the energy transition	. 16
1.3	Forest-bas	ed bioenergy production pathways	18
	1.3.1	Mechanical conversion processes	. 19
		1.3.1.1 Wood chips	. 19
		1.3.1.2 Wood Pellets	. 20
	1.3.2	Thermochemical Conversion Processes	. 20
		1.3.2.1 Combustion	. 20
		1.3.2.2 Co-firing	. 21
		1.3.2.3 Combined Heat and Power (CHP)	. 21
		1.3.2.4 Gasification	. 21
		1.3.2.5 Gasification and Methanation	. 22
		1.3.2.6 Fischer-Tropsch / Methanol	. 23
		1.3.2.7 Power-to-Gas (PtG) for FT liquid fuel production	. 25
		1.3.2.8 Hydrothermal Gasification in Supercritical Water	. 25
		1.3.2.9 Hydrothermal Liquefaction	. 26
		1.3.2.10 Pyrolysis	. 27
	1.3.3	Biochemical conversion processes	. 29
		1.3.3.1 Anaerobic digestion	. 29
		1.3.3.2 Fermentation	. 30
	1.3.4	Hybrid platforms	. 31
		1.3.4.1 Thermal Deoxygenation (TDO)	. 31
		1.3.4.2 Carboxylate platform (MixAlco Process)	. 31
		1.3.4.3 Liquefaction and Fermentation	. 33
	1.3.5	Other combined cycles	. 34
1.4	Biogenic o	carbon	35

	1.4.1	Biogenic carbon neutrality assumption	. 35
	1.4.2	Modeling forest carbon	. 36
	1.4.3	Biogenic carbon in TIMES model	. 38
1.5	Research	objectives	38
CHAI	PTER 2	THE CONTRIBUTION OF FOREST-BASED BIOENERGY IN	
		ACHIEVING DEEP DECARBONIZATION: INSIGHTS FOR	
		OUEBEC (CANADA) USING A TIMES APPROACH	41
2.1	Introduct	ion	42
2.2	Methodo	logical approach	47
	2.2.1	TIMES modeling approach	. 47
	2.2.2	NATEM model	. 49
	2.2.3	Forest-based biomass	. 49
		2.2.3.1 Resource supply	. 49
		2.2.3.2 Bioenergies and conversion technologies	. 51
	2.2.4	Energy and emission scenarios	. 55
2.3	Result an	alysis	56
	2.3.1	GHG emissions	. 56
	2.3.2	Primary energy production	. 58
	2.3.3	Forest-based residues as feedstock	. 59
	2.3.4	Final energy consumption	. 61
	2.3.5	The contribution of bioenergy in final energy consumption	. 62
	2.3.6	Mitigation costs	. 67
	2.3.7	Sensitivity analysis	. 68
2.4	Discussio	on	69
2.5	Conclusio	on	71
CHAI	PTER 3	IMPACT OF BIOGENIC CARBON NEUTRALITY ASSUMPTION	
		FOR ACHIEVING A NET-ZERO EMISSION TARGET: INSIGHTS	
		FROM A TECHNO-ECONOMIC ANALYSIS	73
3.1	Introduct	ion	74
3.2	Methodo	logical approach	78
	3.2.1	Forest modeling framework	. 78
	3.2.2	TIMES modeling approach	. 78
	3.2.3	NATEM model	. 79
	3.2.4	Integration approach	. 80
3.3	Result an	alysis	85
	3.3.1	Forest carbon management effects on GHG emission trajectories	. 85
	3.3.2	Implication for renewable energies and hydrogen	. 88
	3.3.3	The carbon neutrality assumption leads to biased decision-making	. 90
	3.3.4	Importance of forest management strategy over BECCS	. 93
	3.3.5	Forest sequestration decreases marginal abatement costs	. 93
3.4	Discussio	on	96

XII

3.5	Conclusio	n	98
CHAPTER 4 THE ROLE OF HYDROGEN IN A NET-ZERO EMISSION			
		ECONOMY UNDER ALTERNATIVE POLICY SCENARIOS	101
4.1	Introducti	on	102
4.2	Methodol	ogical approach	106
	4.2.1	TIMES modeling approach	. 106
	4.2.2	NATEM model	. 106
	4.2.3	Hydrogen production pathways	. 107
		4.2.3.1 Steam reforming (SR)	. 107
		4.2.3.2 Partial oxidation (POx)	. 108
		4.2.3.3 Auto thermal reforming (ATR)	. 109
		4.2.3.4 Pyrolysis	. 109
		4.2.3.5 Gasification	. 109
		4.2.3.6 Water electrolysis	110
	4.2.4	Alternative policy scenarios	. 111
4.3	Result and	alysis	114
	4.3.1	GHG emissions	. 114
	4.3.2	Primary energy production and final energy consumption	. 116
	4.3.3	Hydrogen profile in the energy system	. 119
	4.3.4	Hydrogen technology mix	122
	4.3.5	GHG abatement costs	. 124
	4.3.6	Green hydrogen policy	. 125
	4.3.7	Carbon capture and usage	. 126
4.4	Discussion	n	126
4.5	Conclusio	on	129
CHAPTER 5 A BROADER DISCUSSION			131
CONC	LUSION.		137
APPEI	NDIX I	SUPPORTING INFORMATION: THE CONTRIBUTION OF	
		FOREST-BASED BIOENERGY IN ACHIEVING DEEP	
		DECARBONIZATION	141
APPENDIX II		SUPPORTING INFORMATION: IMPACT OF THE BIOGENIC	
		CARBON NEUTRALITY ASSUMPTION FOR ACHIEVING A	
		NET-ZERO EMISSION TARGET	151
APPE	NDIX III	SUPPORTING INFORMATION: THE ROLE OF HYDROGEN IN	
		A NET-ZERO EMISSION ECONOMY UNDER ALTERNATIVE	1 - 1
		PULIUY SUENAKIUS	17/1

IST OF REFERENCES181

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1	Forest-based feedstock's availability, price, and energy coefficient in Quebec	50
Table 2.2	Primary conversion processes	53
Table 2.3	Secondary conversion processes	55
Table 2.4	Considered scenarios	56
Table 2.5	Forest-based biomass consumption by specific technologies	66
Table 3.1	Considered scenarios	84

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1	Summary of the potential and cost ranges of climate change mitigation options in 2030	6
Figure 1.2	Negative emission technologies (NETs)	8
Figure 1.3	Simplified reference energy system in NATEM	14
Figure 1.4	Emerging forest-based bioenergy conversion processes (in black) compared to the first-generation bioenergy conversion processes (in green).	19
Figure 1.5	Gasification and Methanation	23
Figure 1.6	Fischer-Tropsch / Methanol	24
Figure 1.7	Hydrothermal gasification in supercritical water	26
Figure 1.8	Pyrolysis	28
Figure 1.9	Fermentation	30
Figure 1.10	Thermal deoxygenation (TDO)	31
Figure 1.11	Carboxylate platform (MixAlco Process)	32
Figure 1.12	Liquefaction and fermentation	34
Figure 1.13	Distinction between biogenic and non-biogenic CO2	36
Figure 2.1	Detailed forest-based bioenergy conversion processes in NATEM- Quebec	53
Figure 2.2	Total GHG emissions in Quebec	57
Figure 2.3	Energy-related GHG emissions by sector in Quebec	58
Figure 2.4	Primary energy production in Quebec	59
Figure 2.5	Consumption of feedstock by type for bioenergy production in Quebec	60
Figure 2.6	Final energy consumption in Quebec	62

XVIII

Figure 2.7	Consumption of bioenergy by end-use sector in Quebec63
Figure 2.8	Consumption of bioenergy by type in Quebec
Figure 2.9	Bioenergy production from forest-based technologies in Quebec65
Figure 2.10	Marginal abatement cost for one ton of CO2-eq in Quebec
Figure 2.11	Bioenergy production at different prices of feedstock in GHGB scenario in 2050 in Quebec
Figure 3.1	(a) Defined supply chain in NATEM, (b) reference energy system of forest-based bioenergy technologies with and without CCS (BIOF)
Figure 3.2	Total net GHG emissions in Quebec, (a) FM1 (BAU), (b) FM2 (intensification), (c) FM3 (conservation), (d) total GHG emissions by sector in Quebec under a carbon neutrality assumption
Figure 3.3	Energy production and consumption in Quebec, (a) primary energy production, (b) final energy consumption
Figure 3.4	Alternative forest management strategies, (a) available feedstock in each forest management strategy, (b) unused forest residues and decomposition emissions, (c) impact of forest management strategies and carbon neutrality on bioenergy consumption
Figure 3.5	(a) Marginal mitigation costs (CAD per tCO₂-eq) for different scenarios, (b) bioenergy import and (c) bioenergy export in Quebec
Figure 4.1	Total net GHG emissions of all scenarios114
Figure 4.2	GHG emissions by sector for all scenarios115
Figure 4.3	(a) Primary energy production in Quebec and (b) final energy consumption (HHV) in Quebec
Figure 4.4	(a) Hydrogen production, and (b) hydrogen consumption for all scenarios
Figure 4.5	Industrial hydrogen penetration (% of steam) under different policy scenarios

Figure 4.6	Merit order of hydrogen technologies, (a) REF, (b) NZ_2050, (c) NZ 2050 IND, (d) NZ 2050 CCU, (e) NZ 2040, and (f)	
	NZ_2060	123
Figure 4.7	GHG mitigation costs (CAD per tCO ₂ -eq)	125

LIST OF ABREVIATIONS

AEL	Alkaline electrolysis
AEM	Alkaline anion exchange membrane
AFOLU	Agriculture, Forestry, and Other Land-Use
ATR	Auto thermal reforming
BAU	Business-as-usual
BECCS	Bioenergy with carbon capture and storage
BIGCC	Biomass Integrated Gasification Combined Cycle
BtL	Biomass-to-liquid
CAD	Canadian dollars
CBM-CFS3	Carbon Budget Model of the Canadian Forest Sector
CCS	Carbon capture and storage
CCU	Carbon capture and utilization
CDR	Carbon dioxide removal
CHP	Combined heat and power
DAC	Direct air capture
E3	Energy-Environment-Economy
EFGT	Externally Fired Gas Turbine
FT	Fischer-Tropsch
GHG	Greenhouse gas
HCs	Hydrocarbon fuels
HDO	Hydrodeoxygenation
HTC	Hydrothermal carbonization
HTG	Hydrothermal gasification
HTL	Hydrothermal liquefaction
HWPs	Harvested wood products
IEA	International Energy Agency

IPCC	The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
LCA	Life cycle assessment
LP	Linear programming
LULUCF	Land Use, Land-use Change and Forestry
NATEM	North American TIMES Energy Model
NDC	Nationally Determined Contribution
NETs	Negative emission technologies
NIR	National Inventory Report
OSB	Oriented strand board
PEM	Polymer electrolyte membrane
PEP	Primary energy production
Pox	Partial oxidation
PtG	Power-to-Gas
REF	Reference
RES	Reference Energy System
SBW	Spruce budworm
SMR	Steam reforming
SNG	Synthesis gas
SOEL	Solid oxide electrolysis
TDO	Thermal deoxygenation
TIMES	The Integrated MARKAL-EFOM System
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
WGS	Water gas shift

INTRODUCTION

The forest industry has experienced significant changes due to declining demand for traditional forest products in many countries such as the United States (US), Canada, and Nordic countries (Hurmekoski *et al.*, 2018; Jåstad *et al.*, 2019). This declining trend has spurred the development of new products and processes. The climate change mitigation potential of forest products provides further incentives (Xu *et al.*, 2018). Forest-based bioenergy has emerged as one such product that has gained attention, primarily due to its lower carbon balance compared to fossil fuels, storability unlike many renewables, and adaptability within the existing fossil infrastructure (Allen *et al.*, 2016).

As a signatory to the Paris Agreement (UNFCCC, 2015), every country is obligated to establish a Nationally Determined Contribution (NDC). For example, Canada (Government of Canada, 2020), the European Union (European Commission, 2018), New Zealand, United Kingdom, established a net-zero emissions target by 2050, Sweden by 2045, Norway by 2030 (Welfle, Thornley et Röder, 2020), and China by 2060 (Vaughan, 2020). Achieving pathways that limit warming to 2°C or lower entails extensive carbon dioxide removal, which involves a significant transformation of the land surface, an expansion of forest cover, and the deployment of negative emission technologies (NETs) (Riahi *et al.*, 2022 ; Lecocq *et al.*, 2022).

NETs that are available include coastal blue carbon, carbon mineralization, direct air capture (DAC), bioenergy with carbon capture and storage (BECCS), and terrestrial carbon removal and sequestration. However, only BECCS and terrestrial carbon removal and sequestration (particularly afforestation/reforestation, changes in forest management, uptake and storage by agricultural soils) are ready for large-scale deployment. These NETs have low to moderate costs (\$100/t CO₂ or less) and have a high potential for safe scale-up from the present implementation (NASEM, 2019). In addition to NETs, green hydrogen is increasingly being considered as a clean energy carrier in different countries' roadmaps for meeting the Paris agreement target (NRCan, 2020; European Commission, 2020; FCHEA, 2021).

To support policy makers in defining optimal pathways to achieve their targets, the utilization of tools such as techno-economic models is essential. This work relies on the North American TIMES Energy Model (NATEM) (Vaillancourt et al., 2017), a bottom-up energy system model, to take into account competition between the pathways on the market. Such models are considered relevant instruments to generate different scenarios, preparing deep insights for choosing a cost-effective or advantageous mix of technologies considering various assumptions and policy alternatives. NATEM belongs to the TIMES models family and is a highly detailed multi-regional optimization model of the Canadian energy sectors. It uses various and thorough parameters to optimize defined scenarios based on legislative policies, such as GHG emissions constraints. However, NATEM possesses certain limitations that need to be addressed. The first limitation to be addressed in this research is the lack of inclusion of various forest bioenergy technologies within the model. This absence hinders a comprehensive analysis of the potential benefits and impacts of such technologies on policy outcomes. Another significant drawback of NATEM, as well as TIMES models in general, is the disregard for biogenic carbon. Carbon uptake and release by biomass is known as biogenic carbon (Berndes et al., 2016). Biogenic CO₂ emissions from bioenergy sources, according to IPCC (Eggleston et al., 2006), should not be included in national greenhouse gas inventories since bioenergy CO₂ emissions are included in the Agriculture, Forestry, and Other Land-Use (AFOLU) sector. Accordingly, government initiatives endorse bioenergy as an alternative carbon-neutral energy source for fossil fuels (Liu et al., 2017). The carbon neutrality assumption might be acceptable when the rotation length of biomass is short such as annual crops. The assumption, however, may not remain true when the sequestration period is lengthy, as in the case of forest trees (Cherubini et al., 2011; Guest et al., 2013). Bioenergy systems can lead to positive, neutral, or negative effects on biogenic carbon stocks (Berndes et al., 2016). For instance, using roundwood as bioenergy lead to quite long carbon payback periods (Bernier et Paré, 2013), whereas harvested residues from managed forests (Smyth et al., 2017) or damaged forest residues (Lamers et al., 2014) as biomass source have shown a positive climate change mitigation potential. The carbon-neutral assumption is increasingly being questioned, with several studies indicating that it may result in accounting errors and biased decision-making (Berndes *et al.*, 2016; Liu *et al.*, 2017; Albers *et al.*, 2019).

Many studies (Head *et al.*, 2019 ; Smyth *et al.*, 2014 ; Smyth *et al.*, 2017 ; Werner *et al.*, 2010 ; Cintas *et al.*, 2017 ; Gustavsson *et al.*, 2017 ; Lamers *et al.*, 2014 ; Moreau *et al.*, 2022 ; Landry *et al.*, 2021) have evaluated the role of forest management or bioenergy in climate change mitigation using modeling frameworks that simulate the dynamics of forest carbon stocks. However, these studies cannot assess the most cost-effective pathways to reduce GHG emissions. Several research efforts (Börjesson *et al.*, 2014 ; Dodder *et al.*, 2015 ; König, 2011 ; Panos et Kannan, 2016 ; Zhao *et al.*, 2015 ; Jåstad *et al.*, 2021 ; Hugues, Assoumou et Maizi, 2016 ; Levasseur *et al.*, 2017 ; Vaillancourt, Bahn et Levasseur, 2019) have employed energy system models to examine the role of bioenergy while taking into account market competition among different pathways, but they usually disregard the dynamics of soil organic carbon and land use (Frank *et al.*, 2015) and follow a carbon neutrality assumption. Similarly, several studies (Blanco *et al.*, 2019 ; Damman *et al.*, 2021 ; Espegren *et al.*, 2021 ; van der Zwaan, Lamboo et Dalla Longa, 2021 ; Yang *et al.*, 2022) have been conducted to assess the role of hydrogen in climate change mitigation while accounting for market competition across various pathways, following a carbon neutrality assumption.

The objective of this thesis is to develop an integrated approach that combines a technoeconomic model of the energy system with a forest carbon model. This combined framework provides a more robust and comprehensive assessment of the crucial role played by forest bioenergy, hydrogen, and negative emissions technologies (NETs) within decarbonization pathways while eliminating the carbon neutrality assumption present in previous literature. By leveraging the strengths of both models, this research seeks to enhance our understanding of the potential contributions and impacts of these key elements, enabling policymakers and stakeholders to make more informed decisions in shaping sustainable and effective decarbonization strategies. The remainder of this dissertation is structured as follows. Chapter 1 describes energy system modeling approaches and summarizes previous works on the role of bioenergy, forest management, and green hydrogen in the energy transition. Then it presents the research questions and objectives of this dissertation. Chapter 2 focuses on factors affecting GHG emissions associated with forest-based bioenergy technologies in the energy system to investigate potential decarbonization pathways by 2050. The study was published in the journal of Energy Conversion and Management. Chapter 3 describes an integrated approach to address the carbon-neutrality assumption when assessing the role of bioenergy in climate change mitigation pathways. The study was published in the journal of Environmental Science & Technology. In Chapter 4, the integrated approach developed in the previous chapters, along with the lessons learned, are applied to measure the role of hydrogen under different policy scenarios. The article was submitted for publication to the International Journal of Hydrogen Energy. Eventually the dissertation is concluded in the Conclusions chapter that also offers recommendation for the future studies.

CHAPTER 1

LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter provides a concise introduction to energy system modeling approaches, along with essential concepts and vocabulary necessary for comprehending the thesis. It outlines the general context, highlights the overarching issues, and presents the current state-of-the-art in modeling forest-based bioenergies, forest management strategies, hydrogen, and the integration of a specific model with TIMES. The chapter culminates with a clear statement of the research question and the corresponding objectives, setting the foundation for the subsequent chapters.

1.1 Climate change mitigation pathways

A wide range of climate change mitigation options exist to address the pressing challenge of global warming. These options encompass various sectors such as energy, AFOLU, transportation, buildings, and industry. Figure 1.1 shows an overview of the available options in each sector along their approximate costs and potential in 2030 (Skea *et al.*, 2022). Prominent among these options is the deployment of renewable energy sources like solar and wind power, which have the potential to significantly reduce greenhouse gas emissions while becoming cost-competitive with fossil fuels. Additionally, improving energy efficiency in buildings, industries, and transportation systems can yield substantial emissions reductions. Other mitigation strategies include the adoption of sustainable land management practices, such as afforestation and reforestation, which help sequester carbon dioxide from the atmosphere. According to Skea et al. (2022), adopting a holistic approach that incorporates a range of mitigation options across diverse sectors is essential for effectively tackling climate change and minimizing its consequences.



Figure 1.1 Summary of the potential and cost ranges of climate change mitigation options in 2030 Taken from Skea et al. (2022)

1.1.1 Carbon dioxide removal options

Climate change mitigation pathways that limit warming to 2°C or below require deep carbon dioxide removal (CDR) through a large-scale transformation of the land surface, an increase in forest cover, and the deployment of negative emission technologies (NETs) Riahi *et al.*, 2022 ; Lecocq *et al.*, 2022). The inclusion of CDR strategies in national mitigation portfolios, targeting either net zero or net-negative emissions, is crucial. However, the specific methods, as well as the magnitude and timing of their implementation, will vary based on the desired level of gross emissions reductions, the effective management of sustainability and feasibility constraints, and the evolving political and social acceptability (Babiker *et al.*, 2022). Figure 1.2 classifies various methods of CDR or NETs based on implementation options, the earth system, and storage medium. Four NETs are ready for large-scale deployment, namely, afforestation/reforestation, changes in forest management, uptake and storage by agricultural soils, and bioenergy with carbon capture and storage (BECCS). These NETs incur low to moderate costs ($100/t CO_2$ or less) and have significant potential for safe scale-up from present implementation. Direct air capture (DAC) is another emerging NET option, although its costs are still prohibitively high (NASEM, 2019).



Figure 1.2 Negative emission technologies (NETs) Taken from Babiker et al. (2022)

Carbon capture and storage (CCS) and carbon capture and utilization (CCU) are not considered NETs since they do not directly remove CO₂ from the atmosphere. However, if the CO₂ is captured from the atmosphere, either through biomass or directly from ambient air, and subsequently stored in geological reservoirs or utilized in durable products, CCS and CCU can be incorporated as part of CDR methods (Babiker *et al.*, 2022).

1.1.2 The role of forests

Carbon dioxide removal can be accomplished through forestry practices such as intensifying afforestation/reforestation, and improving forest management strategies (NASEM, 2019). Global afforestation/reforestation is expected to remove 1-6 Gt CO₂-eq per year. It has been projected that the area required to achieve this target will range between 70 and 500 Mha (Griscom *et al.*, 2017; Smith *et al.*, 2016). The global mitigation potential of improved forest management is also estimated to be between 0.1 and 2.1 Gt CO₂-eq per year (Nabuurs *et al.*, 2022). The major limitation of CDR through in forest carbon storage is the demand for wood that limits possible reductions in harvest rate, and the inability to fully implement forest carbon stored in unharvested boreal forests. While CO₂ sequestered by forestry practices can be stored for decades, the associated sinks will gradually become satuated (Riahi *et al.*, 2022; Lecocq *et al.*, 2022). Carbon storage through the increased usage and preservation of harvested wood products (HWP) is also an available near-term approach for removing CO₂ (Churkina *et al.*, 2020; Pomponi *et al.*, 2020; Mishra *et al.*, 2022; NASEM, 2019).

1.1.3 Bioenergy with carbon capture and storage

BECCS plays an essential role in most climate change mitigation pathways limiting global temperature to 2°C or below (Hanssen *et al.*, 2020). The estimated range for BECCS CO₂ removal fluxes is between 3.5 and 15 Gt CO₂-eq per year, even though the associated land requirements for the upper limit were expected to be as high as 700 Mha (NASEM, 2019). The deployment of BECCS must incorporate the numerous strategies in which forests and forest-related sectors contribute to CDR because there could be trade-offs between carbon sequestration, storage, and biomass production, as well as between short-term and long-term GHG reduction targets (Berndes *et al.*, 2016). According to Hanssen et al. (2020), the IPCC's projected CO₂ sequestration through BECCS is achievable biophysically, although, given its extensive land requirements, a much more limited and earlier deployment was recommended. Section 1.3 provides a comprehensive description of bioenergy production pathways.

1.1.4 Hydrogen as a clean energy carrier

Global hydrogen production in 2021 reached 94 Mt, primarily through natural gas reforming without CCS or CCU, releasing more than 900 Mt CO₂ into the atmosphere. Less than 1% of this hydrogen was produced using fossil fuels with CCU or electricity and the rest was produced via coal gasification, oil, and as a by-product of naphtha reforming at refineries (IEA, 2022). Hydrogen is increasingly beingconsidered in different countries' roadmaps to meet the Paris agreement's target of limiting warming to 2°C or less, including the United States (FCHEA, 2021), the United Kingdom (Department for Business E& IS, 2021), the European Union (European Commission, 2020), Japan (METI, 2019), Australia (COAG Energy Council, 2019), and Canada (NRCan, 2020).

The hydrogen produced by reforming natural gas is known as grey hydrogen and combining this process with CCS/CCU results in lower process emissions and is called blue hydrogen. Green hydrogen is produced using renewable electricity in electrolyzers. Gasification of biomass could also be considered as another method for producing green hydrogen. Combining biomass gasification with CCS (BECCS) results in negative emissions (if the biomass source is carbon neutral) and is one of the available negative emission technologies (NASEM, 2019; Capurso *et al.*, 2022). Blue and green hydrogen have attracted attention, primarily because of the ability to minimize reliance on fossil fuels, improve energy security, and decarbonize the energy system (IEA, 2022). Biomass-based hydrogen generation, however, faces technological and economic challenges stemming from low efficiency and impurity issues (Hamedani Rajabi *et al.*, 2016). Section 2.3 of Chapter 4 provides an in-depth description of the available hydrogen technologies.

1.2 Energy system models

Even though adopting renewable energy as a cleaner energy source may be beneficial in minimizing environmental impact, the selected energy system must be affordable and reliable. Energy system models are the most effective method for achieving the aforementioned objectives by establishing alternative scenarios under various constraints, resulting in a least-cost energy system (Pfenninger et Keirstead, 2015). Some of the models that could be used to investigate energy systems include energy system optimization or simulation models, power system and electricity market models, and qualitative or mixed methods scenarios. Energy system optimization models are used for energy policy analysis by analyzing long-term policies such as emission reduction targets and instructing energy technology policies by demonstrating the proportionate potential for various energy technologies (McDowall *et al.*, 2018). Scenario analysis is used in energy system optimization models to determine the long-term progression of energy systems (Collins *et al.*, 2017).

Mathematical decision support models are divided into two main categories. The first category takes advantage of a macroeconomic approach to model the link between energy and the economy (top-down models), and the second one employs a disaggregated approach to model energy streams while considering many substitutions and relative costs (bottom-up models).

Contrary to top-down models, bottom-up models could not demonstrate a complete picture of the economy (partial equilibrium). Although they are more suitable for systems with emerging energy sources, such as biofuels or energy technologies that are more efficient (Bahn, 2018). Bottom-up partial equilibrium energy system optimization models with a rich representation of existing and future technologies are widely used for long-term analysis of large-scale energy systems, and thus they are appropriate for long-term sustainable consideration (Volkart *et al.*, 2017). Equilibrium means that suppliers produce exactly the amount consumers seek to purchase. And partial equilibrium implies that changes in the system boundary have no effect on external sectors (Loulou, Goldstein, Kanudia, Lettila et Remme, 2016).

This study uses a partial equilibrium bottom-up model. This could be justified by the fact that bottom-up models are better suited for analyzing systems with emerging energy sources and technologies. Despite the assumption in partial equilibrium models that sectors beyond the system's boundary remain unaffected by changes within the system, these models allow for a comprehensive representation of existing and future technologies in large-scale energy systems, making them appropriate for long-term sustainable considerations. Overall, patrial equilibrium models, specifically the TIMES family, are highly suitable for informing national energy policies in long-term perspectives. These models are adept at cost optimization and are rooted in economic principles, making them capable of incorporating the impact of environmental and economic policies (Astudillo, 2019).

1.2.1 TIMES models in general

The Integrated MARKAL-EFOM System (TIMES) (Loulou, Goldstein, Kanudia, Lettila et Remme, 2016) is a bottom-up model developed within the ETSAP program of the International Energy Agency (IEA) and is used in nearly 70 countries (IEA-ETSAP, 2023). TIMES model provides valuable insights for policymakers seeking to shape long-term energy strategies (Astudillo, 2019). TIMES as a partial equilibrium model generator is placed in the class of dynamic linear programming models and includes all the different energy technologies in

terms of capital cost, operation cost, efficiency, total capacity and associated GHG emissions, the different end users with final demands. The cost of producing energy for the final demands is minimized under given constraints such as GHG emission targets. It is a prospective model, i.e. it is calibrated for a reference year (e.g. 2016) and then final demands and constraints are estimated for future years and the model provides the optimal configuration of the future energy system (Bahn, 2018). Main outputs of TIMES include energy system configurations, energy flows, energy commodity prices, GHG emissions, capacities of technologies, energy costs and marginal emissions abatement costs. TIMES provides potential configurations for the energy system through comparing user-defined scenarios. TIMES outputs would be more reliable if the scenarios chosen corresponded to the actual situation. A reference energy scenario is defined in the absence of any policy constraints. The second scenario is then defined, and the intended constraints are introduced. The model generates various costeffective energy systems using various technologies and fuel options. As a result, a wide range of technology options will be recognized by comparing the outcome to a reference scenario that satisfies all policy constraints and limitations at the lowest cost (R Loulou, Goldstein, Kanudia, Lettila, et al., 2016).

The TIMES model considers some assumptions for simplification, such as perfect competition in the energy market, which leads to the optimal solution (maximizing the total surplus) (Bahn, 2018). One of the TIMES model's assumptions is that each energy service demand has a constant price elasticity function. Furthermore, as a linear-programming model, TIMES model can only cope with carefully designed constraints. The surplus maximization objective is first transformed into an equivalent cost minimization objective by taking the negative of the surplus and calling this value the total system cost. The objective of TIMES is to reduce the system's total cost, which should be appropriately increased by the cost of lost demand. Every cost component is properly discounted to a user-specified year (Loulou, Goldstein, Kanudia, Lettila et Remme, 2016). Complete documentation of TIMES model is accessible to the public on ETSAP home page (IEA-ETSAP, 2023), including a comprehensive explanation of the sets, attributes, variables, and equations of the model.

1.2.2 North American TIMES Energy Model

The North American TIMES Energy Model (NATEM) follows a TIMES approach and represents the Reference Energy System (RES) of all Canadian jurisdictions, including 70 enduse demands for energy services in energy production, agriculture, commercial, industrial, residential, and transportation sectors (Vaillancourt *et al.*, 2017). NATEM covers the entire system, from providing primary resources to transforming, transporting, distributing, and converting energy into the supply of energy services (Figure 1.3). The spatial scale of NATEM covers 13 Canadian provinces and territories, with data disaggregated by sub-regions. A detailed representation of any region from NATEM could be extracted to build a harmonized model in integrated studies. NATEM is calibrated to a 2016 base year. The time horizon of NATEM is 2060 and is divided into 9 periods and 16 annual time slices. All costs are based on 2016 Canadian dollars with a 5% global yearly discount rate (Vaillancourt *et al.*, 2017).



Figure 1.3 Simplified reference energy system in NATEM Taken from Vaillancourt et al. (2014)

This study uses a comprehensive portrayal of Quebec's energy system, which is referred to as NATEM-Quebec. More than 4000 different energy technologies, 800 commodities, and 700 user constraints are included in NATEM-Quebec. Prior to this research, NATEM-Quebec included bioenergy in general (first- and second-generation biofuels), with only six lignocellulosic-based biofuels considered (Vaillancourt, Bahn et Levasseur, 2019). NATEM-Quebec also encompassed DAC, CCS, and CCU as viable NETs, alongside hydrogen production pathways. However, it does not provide a comprehensive depiction of primary and secondary forest-based bioenergy technologies, including those with and without CCS. It also lacks representation of terrestrial carbon removal and sequestration methods, such as forest management strategies, as well as the consideration of biogenic emission flows.
1.2.3 Studies in the literature using energy system models

This section presents a cutting-edge overview of the literature employing energy system models, specifically focusing on bioenergy, biogenic carbon, and hydrogen. The primary aim is to identify gaps in previous literature and address the need for further research in these areas.

1.2.3.1 Mitigating climate change with bioenergy

Bioenergy emerges as a key player in global efforts to mitigate climate change. Many studies (Börjesson *et al.*, 2014 ; Dodder *et al.*, 2015 ; König, 2011 ; Panos et Kannan, 2016 ; Zhao *et al.*, 2015 ; Jåstad *et al.*, 2021) have used energy system models such as TIMES to examine the role of bioenergy while taking into account market competition among different pathways, but they usually do not consider the dynamics of soil organic carbon and land use (Frank *et al.*, 2015) and follow a carbon neutrality assumption. For instance, Hugues, Assoumou et Maizi (2016) have used the TIMES-FR model to investigate the French bioenergy sector penetration under GHG emission constraints. Levasseur et al. (2017) used NATEM in parallel with a life cycle assessment (LCA) method to investigate environmental impacts and market penetration of butanol production from pre-hydrolyzate in a Canadian Kraft dissolving pulp mill. Vaillancourt, Bahn et Levasseur (2019) studied the potential penetration of bioenergy in Quebec by 2030 under different GHG emission reduction scenarios using NATEM-Quebec. This work focused on bioenergy, encompassing both first- and second-generation biofuels, with a limited scope of lignocellulosic-based biofuels.

1.2.3.2 Status regarding biogenic carbon

As discussed in the previous section, many research efforts have employed energy system models to address the role of bioenergy or BECCS, following a carbon neutrality assumption. Several studies (Baker *et al.*, 2019; Kim *et al.*, 2018; Favero, Daigneault, *et al.*, 2023; Favero, Baker, *et al.*, 2023; Favero, Daigneault et Sohngen, 2020) have utilized the global timber

model, a partial equilibrium model designed to optimize overall welfare in timber markets, to analyze the connection between long-term changes in biomass demand and carbon sequestration. Funk et al. (2022) used a combination of GLOBIOM, a bottom-up partial equilibrium model for the agriculture, forestry, and bioenergy sectors, and carbon flux data from the NASA Carbon Monitoring System to investigate the magnitude and risks of unaccounted emissions, with a specific emphasis on the demand for wood pellets. However, the two models were not combined into an integrated approach. TIMES-MIRET, a partialequilibrium model, has been used in combination with a dynamic biogenic carbon modeling tool to conduct a consequential life cycle assessment (LCA) of policy-driven transportation strategies for France (Albers *et al.*, 2019). In this case, the dynamic biogenic carbon modeling tool was used separately to calculate the biogenic carbon inventory of the biomass resources with long rotation lengths that had previously been fed into TIMES-MIRET. TIMES model has also been used combined with an environmentally extended input-output model to estimate indirect CO₂ emissions (Daly *et al.*, 2015), as well as LCA to fully assess the environmental impact of the energy system (Fernández Astudillo *et al.*, 2019).

1.2.3.3 The rising significance of hydrogen in the energy transition

Several studies have been conducted to assess the role of hydrogen in climate change mitigation using energy system models. Research conducted using Energy-Environment-Economy (E3) models offers valuable insights into determining the most economically advantageous pathways towards achieving full decarbonization. These studies not only focus on the integration of hydrogen technologies but also consider alternative options such as bioenergy, carbon capture, and direct electrification technologies. By analyzing various combinations of these technologies, researchers can identify the optimal approaches for achieving net zero emissions. Many research projects look at hydrogen more specifically, using E3 models in the TIMES family. However, these studies ignore GHG emissions and uptakes associated with forest management and BECCS and follow a carbon neutrality assumption. For instance, Blanco et al. (2018) used the JRC-EU-TIMES model to assess the role of

hydrogen and synthetic liquid fuels in the European GHG reduction strategy. The results show that factors with the largest impact are the GHG reduction target, biomass, and geologic CO₂ sequestration availability. Espegren et al., (2021) assessed the role of hydrogen in Norway's energy transition using three analytical perspectives, including an energy systems perspective with a TIMES model. Renewable energy and hydrogen were identified as essential components in decarbonizing Norwegian transportation and industrial sectors. Yang et al. (2022) used a TIMES-based energy system optimization model (China-MAPLE) to investigate the role of hydrogen in difficult-to-decarbonize sectors of heavy industries and heavy-duty transportation in China. According to the findings, clean hydrogen can be used as an energy carrier and feedstock in decarbonizing heavy industry, as well as a fuel for up to half of the Chinese transportation sector. Using TIAM-ECN, a TIMES-based model, van der Zwaan et al. (2021) investigated the export of electricity and hydrogen from North Africa to Europe. They found solar power could be produced in significant quantities in North Africa and economically transmitted to Europe, or it could be converted to hydrogen via electrolysis and transported to the Eurozone via pipeline. In the Net-Zero America study (Larson *et al.*, 2021), hydrogen plays a significant role in seasonally balancing the grid in 2050, through intermittent electrolysis, intermittent hydrogen steam boilers (alternating with electrical ones), and hydrogen use in natural gas power plants, across all net zero scenarios. The largest part of hydrogen, however, is produced via biomass gasification with CO₂ capture and storage (BECCS) in most net zero scenarios. Electrofuel production is a major consumer of hydrogen only in scenarios restricting direct electrification or CO₂ storage. The International Energy Agency Net Zero by 2050 Roadmap (IEA, 2021), using the WEM and ETP models, finds comparable uses of hydrogen, with more emphasis on direct use of hydrogen and ammonia as transportation fuels, while biomass is directed more towards solid fuel applications. BECCS is entirely absent as a source of hydrogen; it is not specified if that is because the technology is absent from the model, because the optimizer selected against it, or because the different geography and policy aspects of the model penalize it. In another example, a study done for Quebec (Dunsky et ESMIA, 2021), using a variant of NATEM, arrives at a somewhat limited use of hydrogen in the context of the hydroelectricity-rich province. It is produced entirely using BECCS, serves primarily

the industrial and transportation sectors, and is presented more as an economic source of negative emissions than as an important replacement fuel. Interestingly, two scenarios that respectively allow and deny negative emissions, but are otherwise nearly identical in their input assumptions, show a major shift as to whether biomass should optimally be allocated to produce hydrogen or liquid fuels. Overall, there is a significant disagreement between studies about the extent to which hydrogen is necessary or useful to fully decarbonize at the lowest possible cost, and the ongoing development of E3 models might help guide investment decisions and the efficient allocation of scarce renewable resources such as forest-based residue.

Previous research papers have studied the role of hydrogen toward a net-zero economy. However, a comprehensive analysis of the role of hydrogen in achieving full decarbonization in the regional context of Quebec, Canada has been lacking, particularly when considering biogenic emission flows. Additionally, the role of hydrogen utilization compared to alternative technologies such as bioenergy, carbon capture, and direct electrification within the province remains unanswered.

1.3 Forest-based bioenergy production pathways

This section provides an overview of common and emerging lignocellulosic-based bioenergy conversion technologies. These technologies convert biomass into three primary outputs: electricity and heat as energy outputs and chemical feedstock as non-energy output. There are two types of conversion technologies: thermochemical and bio-chemical/biological. Furthermore, mechanical conversion is considered a primitive conversion technology for converting biomass to energy (McKendry, 2002). The reference energy system of common and emerging conversion technologies for producing lignocellulosic-based bioenergy is depicted in Figure 1.4. This figure has been developed as part of the first specific objective of this thesis. It shows the flow of resources, production, and conversion applications to end-use technologies.



Figure 1.4 Emerging forest-based bioenergy conversion processes (in black) compared to the first-generation bioenergy conversion processes (in green).

1.3.1 Mechanical conversion processes

Mechanical conversion processes of forest-based biomass primarily include splitting, chipping, pressing, and grinding, yielding in solid fuels such as logs, densified wood logs, wood pellets, wood chips, and wood powder.

1.3.1.1 Wood chips

Wood chips are produced from branches and treetops left over after logging and pruning, trees with no other material value, as well cultivation of trees for energy usage. Woody materials are shredded in the forest by a waste woodchipper or on a mobile chipper platform. The calorific value of wood chips is around 2500-3500 kW/tonne, depending on the moisture

content of the feedstock. Wood chips are mainly used as a fuel for furnaces or industrial furnaces and as a cogeneration of heat and power (Douard, 2010).

1.3.1.2 Wood Pellets

Wood pellets are the most processed product in mechanical conversion. Pellets generally produce from sawdust and finely ground wood through compressing in the granulation factory. The calorific value of wood pellets is about 4700 kW/tonne. Whereas its energy content could be enhanced from 9 to 18 MJ/m³ by torrefaction of feedstock (Douard, 2010; Guo, Song et Buhain, 2015). Torrefaction is used as the feedstock pretreatment through pyrolysis at a relatively low temperature of 225–300 °C. Hemicelluloses and wood lignin are decomposed, followed by somewhat dehydrogenation (chemical removal of water). As a result, it enhances the calorific value and density of pellets (Caillat et Vakkilainen, 2013). The primary applications of pellets are in wood stoves or automatic furnaces (Douard, 2010).

1.3.2 Thermochemical Conversion Processes

Thermochemical conversion processes are divided into four main categories: combustion, gasification, pyrolysis, and hydrothermal liquefaction. In addition, charcoal production and roasting are considered thermochemical conversion technologies that produce charcoal, briquette, and roasted wood.

1.3.2.1 Combustion

Combustion is defined as converting the chemical energy of biomass into heat/mechanical power/electricity by burning biomass in the presence of air through different means such as stoves, furnaces, boilers, steam turbines, turbo-generators, etc. Any type of biomass with a moisture content below 50% is suitable for combustion unless the biomass is pre-dried. Biomass with high moisture content is more favorable for biological conversion processes. The

scale of the combustion plant varies from 100 to 3000 MW. The conversion efficiency for biomass combustion power plants is about 20-40%. However, higher efficiencies are gained in power plants over 100 MW or co-firing of biomass with coal, which is 33–37% (Guo, Song et Buhain, 2015 ; McKendry, 2002).

1.3.2.2 Co-firing

Co-firing biomass in coal-fired power plants is an efficient route utilized by several coal-fired power plants to generate electricity on a commercial scale (McKendry, 2002). For instance, wood chips could be combusted in a 15-30% volume blended with pulverized coal to produce steam turbines (Guo, Song et Buhain, 2015).

1.3.2.3 Combined Heat and Power (CHP)

Combined heat and power (CHP) systems are broadly utilized in the industrial, household, and service sectors to supply required heat for process and space, hot water, and electricity (Kahlert et Spliethoff, 2017). The CHP cycles can consume various biomass-based fuels, including wood pellets, bio-oils, and synthesis gases.

1.3.2.4 Gasification

The gasification conversion process by partial combustion of biomass produces a gaseous stream – known as synthesis gas (SNG) - of carbon monoxide, carbon dioxide, hydrogen, methane, and water, besides unwanted residual tars and chars. Gasification tends to maximize the efficiency of SNG output by minimizing the number of condensable hydrocarbons and unreacted char. The proportion of SNG relies upon the feedstock type, feed ratios, process parameters, and gasifier type. The energy density of SNG is about half of the natural gas (CH₄) applicable in the steam cycles, gas engines, fuel cells, or turbines to generate power and heat. SNG plays an intermediate role in producing liquid fuels and other bio-chemicals, such as

hydrogen, synthetic natural gas, naphtha, kerosene, diesel, methanol, dimethyl ether, and ammonia. It can be transformed into alcohols and/or hydrocarbons (HCs) using fermentation or chemical catalytic methods (Ibarra-Gonzalez et Rong, 2018; Van Walsum et Wheeler, 2013).

1.3.2.5 Gasification and Methanation

As an emerging thermochemical process, this pathway generates synthetic natural gas (SNG), a mixture of CH₄, H₂, CO, CO₂, and H₂O from lignocellulosic resources. In addition, a schematic illustration of the process is presented in Figure 1.5. As can be seen, a drying step is required before the gasification process for raw material's moisture content reduction below 20 %. The gasification step converts the biomass into SNG at 800-900 °C in an oxygen-restrained environment. The syngas is then cleansed before being converted to SNG by the methanation process in a catalytic reactor (using nickel catalysts) at 300-400 °C. Depending on the biomass composition and the specific gasification technology, the reactor output will contain between 40 and 50% of methane (CH₄), which should be separated from the CO₂ and the remaining H₂ for injecting into the natural gas grid. The energy output of SNG per energy input of biomass shows the fuel efficiency of the technology, which is around 39 to 75%, regarding the biomass composition and humidity. The feasibility of this polygeneration process has been proven on a pilot scale (1 MWSNG) in Guessing, Austria. A commercial-scale plant with a capacity of a hundred MWSNG in Göteborg, Sweden, envisions by 2020 (Codina Gironès, 2018).



Figure 1.5 Gasification and Methanation

1.3.2.6 Fischer-Tropsch / Methanol

The thermochemical conversion of biomass to synthetic fuels is known as biomass-to-liquid (BtL). The ultimate aim of BtL technology is to replace petroleum products by producing nonpolluting biofuels similar to those of fossil-derived fuels, accordingly, usable in fuel distribution systems and standard engines (Ibarra-Gonzalez et Rong, 2018). The Fischer-Tropsch (FT) process (Figure 1.6), as a BtL technology, is proficient in producing liquid hydrocarbon fuels from SNG, which has been claimed to be a carbon-neutral substitution for petroleum products in recent studies. The global interest in FT synthesis is mainly due to the increased environmental impacts of natural gas consumption in remote locations and technological developments. FT-liquids are free of sulfur and contain very few aromatics compared to gasoline and diesel, which results in lower emission levels when applied in internal combustion engines (Tijmensen *et al.*, 2002).



Figure 1.6 Fischer-Tropsch / Methanol

Besides, Methanol (CH₃OH), also known as methyl alcohol or wood alcohol, is usable as a fuel, either as a blend with gasoline in internal combustion engines or fuel cell vehicles. In addition, Methanol is a functional product in the chemical industry as a starting point for many chemicals. Lignocellulosic-based Methanol could be a feasible way to address several problems related to the current use of petroleum-derived fuels, such as energy security and GHG emissions (Hamelinck et Faaij, 2002).

Lignocellulosic biomass is dried, torrefied, and ground into fine particles in pretreatment. The biomass particles are then transmitted into a pressurized (30 bar) steam-oxygen blown entrained flow gasifier. H₂, CO, and CO₂ are the primary gases produced as SNG in the gasifier. SNG is cooled by a water quench and cleaned in a scrubber. A water gas shift (WGS) reactor is adopted to adjust the H₂ to CO ratio. CO₂ is excluded by amines scrubbing to satisfy the FT synthesis needs by which the liquid hydrocarbon fuels are produced. FT-liquids can be blended

with diesel fuel. In addition, the Methanol production process as another BtL conversion technology is analogous to the FT-liquid conversion pathway (Codina Gironès, 2018).

1.3.2.7 Power-to-Gas (PtG) for FT liquid fuel production

Steam electrolysis could be applied to supply the required hydrogen for desired H₂/CO₂ ratio as a substitution for the water gas shift reaction in the FT process. Enhancing the H₂ portion increases carbon content, consequently boosting liquid fuel production. Essentially, the use of H₂ from electrolysis lead to a long-term storage option for excess renewable electricity in all conversion processes. The steam electrolysis improves the energy content per unit of biogenic carbon in the input. Energy content is changed from 13.4 MJ_{LHV}/kgC_{input} for the process with the water gas shift reaction to 26.1 MJ_{LHV}/kgC_{input} for the process with the electrolysis (Codina Gironès, 2018).

1.3.2.8 Hydrothermal Gasification in Supercritical Water

Unlike the gasification and methanation process, hydrothermal gasification (HTG) is suitable for converting lignocellulosic biomass with high moisture content (more than 50%) to SNG. As shown in Figure 1.7, electricity and heat as co-products can be derived from adding a combustion or CHP sector. The notable dominance of this technology over other conversion processes is that lignocellulosic biomass is treated in supercritical water (a temperature and pressure above the critical point of water that is 373.946 °C and 217.7 atm, respectively (Purdue-University, 2023). Therefore, energy consumption in the drying phase would be avoided (Codina Gironès, 2018). After hydrolysis and salt separation, lignocellulosic biomass is gasified into primary H_{2 and} CH₄ as burnable gases and CO₂ without adding a solid catalyst or in the presence of carbon or other solid catalysts (Kruse, 2009).



Figure 1.7 Hydrothermal gasification in supercritical water

It should be noted that supercritical conditions need less energy to heat up the water to the operating state. There is no commercial scale of this emerging technology, and only the lab scale of the HTG conversion process has been introduced. The efficiency of the HTG process is directly related to the feedstock's characteristics. Furthermore, the process heat demand is quite sensitive to the dilution of the organic matter in the water. Respectively, HTG is in direct competition with anaerobic digestion. Indeed, these two conversion processes complement each other since HTG can treat in a post-process the non-digested output from the digestion reactor (Codina Gironès, 2018).

1.3.2.9 Hydrothermal Liquefaction

Liquefaction was initially developed for converting coal into liquid fuels. Despite the utilization of direct liquefaction as a conversion process for various lignocellulosic materials, such as forest-based biomass, agricultural residues, aquatic plants, and organic residues, there are currently no direct liquefaction processes implemented on a commercial scale (Ibarra-Gonzalez et Rong, 2018). Hydrothermal processing can be divided into three separate

processes regarding the intensity of temperature: hydrothermal carbonization (HTC), which works at temperatures below 520 K. The primary output is hydrochar which is similar to low-rank coal. At the temperature ranges between 520 K and 647 K, the process is called hydrothermal liquefaction (HTL), which produces a liquid fuel known as biocrude. Biocrude is comparable to crude oil and can upgrade to the whole distillate range of petroleum-derived fuel products. Third, temperatures above 647 K switch gasification reactions on, and the process is identified as hydrothermal gasification (HTG), resulting in the production of synthetic fuel gas (SNG) discussed in the gasification section. The lower amount of organic carbon found in the water phase of HTG following the gasification step leads to high carbon efficiencies. This considers the main preference over HTL technology. The objective in all mentioned cases is to produce an output with a higher energy density by oxygen elimination. HTL of biomass is considered a thermochemical conversion of biomass to produce liquid fuels by processing in a hot, pressurized water environment for enough time to decompose the solid biopolymeric structure into primarily liquid ingredients (Elliott *et al.*, 2015).

Pretreatment is needed for lignocellulosic biomass to reduce the particle size, remove the contaminants, and alkaline treatment to obtain a stable slurry for easy pumping. A catalyst is expected to enhance the product's bio-oil efficiency and quality. After feedstock processing through HTL, a gaseous stream of CO₂, solid residue (char), bio-oil, and small traces of aqueous phase containing soluble organic compounds will be separated by separation steps. HTL bio-oils are semi-liquid and very viscous. Complicated mechanisms, a high percentage of oxygen, and undesirable solids make the HTL process difficult to operate and achieve a suitable fuel with liquid fuel standards (Ahmad, Silva et Varesche, 2018; Ibarra-Gonzalez et Rong, 2018).

1.3.2.10 Pyrolysis

Pyrolysis as a thermochemical conversion process transforms lignocellulosic biomass into various molecular arrangements in the absence of O₂ and produces char as solid, bio-oil as

liquid, and gasses bioenergy (Figure 1.8) (Van Walsum et Wheeler, 2013). The pyrolysis process could be divided into three categories: catalytic, fast, and flash. The major process characteristics that make a difference between pyrolysis categories are the solid residence times, heating rate, particle size, and temperature (McKendry, 2002). Making the conversion process faster will produce more oils; in contrast, letting the conversion process done slower will generate more char and gasses. Obviously, to produce liquid fuels, the oils are the desired output, which needs deep commitment to exploring feasible ways to maximize oil yield and quality from fast pyrolysis. Most existing conversion processes consider applying catalysts and added H₂ to upgrade the quality of the bio-oil to be compatible with the fuel properties of the current transportation system (Van Walsum et Wheeler, 2013).



Figure 1.8 Pyrolysis

The feedstock composition has a considerable effect on the output yields and quality. For example, oxygen rate and heating values in the bio-oils derived from forest-based biomass are higher and lower than bio-oils produced from agricultural-based biomass -which contain more hydrocarbon-like starting components-respectively. Char separation from the pyrolysis vapors and rapidly quenching polymerization reactions by condensing the vapors are required in all pyrolysis technologies, which could be challenging given they are primarily aerosols.

Furthermore, it would be necessary for all of the pyrolysis methods to enhance the quality of the oil by decreasing oxygen and water content and raising energy density and shelf life. The mentioned requirements could be dealt with through catalytic upgrading and hydrotreatment methods. Upgrading pyrolysis bio-oil to a usable transport fuel like diesel, gasoline, kerosene, and by-products needs full deoxygenation and some conventional refining, which could be done either by Hydrodeoxygenation (HDO) or by catalytic cracking. In addition, blending the lignocellulosic biomass with a divalent formate alkali salt, such as calcium formate, could be another upgrade option (Van Walsum et Wheeler, 2013 ; Ibarra-Gonzalez et Rong, 2018).

1.3.3 Biochemical conversion processes

Anaerobic digestion and fermentation are two primary biochemical conversion processes.

1.3.3.1 Anaerobic digestion

The conversion of organic biomass directly to a gas (biogas) is known as the anaerobic digestion process. Biogas consists primarily of CH₄ and CO₂, with small amounts of other gases like H₂S. The biomass is decomposed by bacteria in an anaerobic reactor, producing a gas with an energy content of around 20–40% of the lower heating value of the feedstock. Anaerobic digestion is vastly applied for treating high moisture content organic wastes (more than 80–90%) commercially. Biogas is usable in spark ignition gas engines or gas turbines as a direct fuel. The properties of biogas could be enhanced (comparable with natural gas) by eliminating carbon dioxide (McKendry, 2002). Lignocellulosic biomass is potentially a very available feedstock for methane production. A complicated structure and a deficiency of suitable digester reactors designed to effectively treat high-solid biomass are the main issues in the anaerobic digestion of lignocellulosic biomass (Sawatdeenarunat *et al.*, 2015).

1.3.3.2 Fermentation

The carbohydrate content of the lignocellulose forest-based biomass is the starting material for conversion to biofuels. The sugar derived from lignocellulose after hydrolyzation is transformed into glucose, xylose, arabinose, mannose, and galactose in different proportions biologically using the fermentation process of the cellulose and hemicellulose fractions of the wood after (Figure 1.9).



Figure 1.9 Fermentation

The fermentation conversion process has been broadly applied to produce ethanol from corn. The main issue of alcohols producing from lignocellulosic biomass is dealing with the high hydrolysis phase cost. The fermentation method cannot convert the wood's lignin content to bio-oil. Consequently, the lignin is used for internal operations as the boiler fuel or sale as a co-product. Ethanol and butanol as fermentation products are compatible with spark-ignited engines. Ethanol derived from starch or sugar, and ethanol from lignocellulose are identified as "first-generation" and "second-generation" biofuels, respectively. Butanol is known as an "advanced" biofuel because it can be mixed at any ratio with gasoline. However, it is not considered a "drop-in" fuel because butanol energy density is lower than gasoline (Van Walsum et Wheeler, 2013).

1.3.4 Hybrid platforms

Hybrid platforms are dedicated to conversion processes that integrate thermochemical and biochemical processes. The Carboxylate platform (MixAlco Process), thermal deoxygenation (TDO), liquefaction, and fermentation are summarized here.

1.3.4.1 Thermal Deoxygenation (TDO)

The organic acids produced from lignocellulosic biomass using acid-catalyzed hydrolysis and dehydration are neutralized to carboxylate salts, ketonized to mixed ketones and hydrocarbons, and consequently hydrotreated to generate thermal deoxygenation (TDO) oils (Figure 1.10). The TDO oils and distillate fractions produced from them are compatible with diesel and spark ignition engines, respectively. Although, hydrotreatment with a nickel catalyst is used to further improve the fuel properties (Van Walsum et Wheeler, 2013).



Figure 1.10 Thermal deoxygenation (TDO)

1.3.4.2 Carboxylate platform (MixAlco Process)

Carboxylate platforms (MixAlco Process) digest lignocellulosic materials by anaerobic organisms and then converts metabolic products to ketones and oils by pyrolysis that is upgradable to liquid fuels (Figure 1.11). Mixed alcohols are more stable compared to the liquid

fermentation fuels that are very susceptible to contamination. Acidogenic digestion works as a substitution for the fermentation conversion process that uses mixed cultures of organisms cultivated under conditions that result in the accumulation of organic acids. The approach is similar to biogas production by anaerobic digestion; however, to accumulate organic acids, growing methanogenic organisms is prohibited. Therefore, organic acids are used as a feedstock to produce organic chemicals or biofuels through chemical conversions. Oxygen content in carboxylic acids is relatively high for current transportation systems. Two methods to decrease oxygen content are adding hydrogen to remove oxygen as water (esterification) or sacrificing carbon atoms to release oxygen as carbon dioxide (ketonization) (Van Walsum et Wheeler, 2013).



Figure 1.11 Carboxylate platform (MixAlco Process)

The ketonization approach consumes less H₂ than the esterification method, decreasing the bio-oils carbon yield. The net chemical energy balance between the upgrading approaches is the same. Producing longer carbon chain alcohols in the ketonization approach makes the

output fuel more like hydrocarbon fuels (HCs). The Mixed alcohol is hydrotreated to produce fully deoxygenated hydrocarbons suitable for heavier fuel utilization, for instance, jets, diesel, and fuel oil (Van Walsum et Wheeler, 2013).

1.3.4.3 Liquefaction and Fermentation

This process treats lignocellulosic biomass with solvents and acids, decompose the treated materials into fermentable sugars through solvent liquefaction, and ferments the sugars to produce ethanol (Figure 1.12). The pretreatment reactor works at a temperature of 120 °C. A separation sector separates vapor with 99.93% of the solvent, xylose-rich liquid sugar, and solids stream with mostly lignin. The lignin could be burned in a boiler for heat and power, whereas the solvent is recycled. The cellulose-rich pulp slurry is transmitted to a liquefaction reactor to decompose into sugars. The sugar-rich streams undergo hydrolysis to transform the remaining anhydrosugars into hydrosugars favorable to fermentation. Ethanol is produced at 92% purity following distillation columns and can be dehydrated to 99.5% via vapor-phase molecular sieve adsorption (Li *et al.*, 2018).



Figure 1.12 Liquefaction and fermentation

1.3.5 Other combined cycles

In this section, other conversion processes that primarily generate heat and electricity are briefly discussed. One such process is the Biomass Integrated Gasification Combined Cycle (BIGCC), where lignocellulosic biomass is converted to synthetic natural gas (SNG) in a pressurized gasifier. The SNG is then purified before entering a gas turbine, which generates electricity (Codina Gironès, 2018). Another process is the Integrated Gasifier with Fuel Cell and Gas Turbine (Gas-FC-GT), which involves transforming lignocellulosic biomass into SNG in a gasifier. The purified SNG then enters a Solid Oxide Fuel Cell and a gas turbine to generate electricity (Codina Gironès, 2018). Additionally, the Externally Fired Gas Turbine (EFGT) technology is introduced as a new approach for small and medium-scale power and heat generation. This method improves efficiency by recycling waste heat from turbines and allows the use of "dirty" fuels. EFGT presents a promising solution for utilizing biomass in combined

heat and power applications while mitigating greenhouse gas emissions (Kautz et Hansen, 2007).

1.4 Biogenic carbon

This section focuses on the assumption of biogenic carbon neutrality and its limitations, modeling forest carbon in national GHG emission inventories using CBM-CFS3, and the assessment of various forest management scenarios in Quebec. Additionally, the section explores the inclusion of biogenic carbon in the TIMES model, highlighting the importance of integrating it and emphasizing its significance as a valuable contribution to the thesis.

1.4.1 Biogenic carbon neutrality assumption

Carbon that is taken up, sequestered, or released by biomass is known as biogenic carbon (Figure 1.13) (Berndes *et al.*, 2016). Biogenic CO₂ emissions from bioenergy sources, according to the IPCC (Eggleston *et al.*, 2006), should not be included in the energy sector of national greenhouse gas inventories since all biogenic emissions and uptakes are accounted for in AFOLU sector. Accordingly, government initiatives endorse bioenergy as an alternative carbon-neutral energy source for fossil fuels (Liu *et al.*, 2017). This could lead to accounting errors in jurisdictions where carbon flows from the AFOLU sector are not included in GHG emissions inventories. Governments also rely on energy system models to explore potential decarbonization pathways. The carbon neutrality assumption might be acceptable when the rotation length of biomass is short such as annual crops. The assumption, however, may not remain true when the sequestration period is lengthy, as in the case of forest trees (Cherubini *et al.*, 2011; Guest *et al.*, 2013). Bioenergy systems can lead to positive, neutral, or negative effects on biogenic carbon stocks (Berndes *et al.*, 2016). The carbon-neutrality assumption is increasingly being questioned, with several studies indicating that it may result in accounting errors and biased decision-making (Berndes *et al.*, 2016; Liu *et al.*, 2017; Albers *et al.*, 2019).



Figure 1.13 Distinction between biogenic and non-biogenic CO₂ Taken from Berndes et al. (2016)

1.4.2 Modeling forest carbon

Several studies (Head *et al.*, 2019 ; Moreau *et al.*, 2022 ; Landry *et al.*, 2021) have evaluated the role of forest management or bioenergy in climate change mitigation using modeling frameworks that simulate the dynamics of forest carbon stocks. However, these studies cannot assess the most cost-effective pathways to reduce GHG emissions. For example, Smyth et al. (2014) assessed the mitigation potential of Canadian managed forests from 2015 to 2050 using the Carbon Budget Model of the Canadian Forest Sector (CBM-CFS3). They considered seven forest management approaches and two harvested wood product strategies. Better utilization scenario (increasing utilization of harvested wood, maximizing salvage harvesting, avoiding burning residues, and collecting 50% of residues for bioenergy) showed the most climate change mitigation potential. Lamers et al., (2014) used CBM-CFS3 to analyze different scenarios for damaged forests of British Columbia. Using harvesting leftovers as bioenergy feedstock indicated a higher emission reduction potential than a protection reference scenario. Smyth et al. (2017) analyzed the climate change mitigation potential of local harvest residues for bioenergy in Canada using three models, including CBM-CFS3. The results suggested that

the substitution of harvest residues for fossil fuels leads to GHG emission reduction. Whereas displacement of these residues for cleaner energy sources such as low-emission hydroelectricity resulted in further emissions. Cintas et al. (2017) employed a scenario-based approach, by relying on an established Swedish model, to investigate the potential role of forest management in climate change mitigation in Sweden. According to this study, the Swedish forest sector contributes to achieving carbon neutrality by offering bioenergy and other forest products. Simultaneously, it acts as a carbon sink and maintains vegetation and soils. In a study by Gustavsson et al. (2017), the Heureka Regwise simulator and the Q-model were used to investigate the climatic implications of different forest management strategies, harvest residue extraction levels, and end-use options for forest products in Sweden. A scenario with high harvest and residue recovery rates was introduced as the most promising pathway toward climate change mitigation.

The CBM-CFS3 is a model that uses inventory-based data to simulate the dynamics of carbon in forests through considering various factors such as above- and belowground biomass, dead wood, litter, and mineral soil (Kurz et al., 2009). The model has been extensively used and validated in Canada (as discussed above), Ireland (Duffy et al., 2021), South Korea (Kim et al., 2017), and 26 European Union member states (Pilli et al., 2016). It simulates the effects of land-use change and serves as a means to account for land-use change impacts under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) and Kyoto Protocol requirements and the according to IPCC's relevant guidelines. It also can simulate disturbances such as forest management operations, land-use change, wildfires, and insect outbreaks (see Kurz et al. (2009) for a detailed description). In a recent study, Moreau, Thiffault, Kurz, et al. (2023) assessed emissions and sequestration in different forest management strategies for Quebec, Canada using CBM-CFS3, from 2018 to 2050. They compared alternative scenarios to a business-as-usual strategy to evaluate emission reduction potential. The research highlights the importance of minimizing methane emissions from wood products at the end of their life cycle for optimizing mitigation outcomes in Quebec's forest sector. Despite not considering market competition and overlooking the techno-economic aspect, the study

suggests potential opportunities for the sector to contribute to mitigation benefits through increased carbon sequestration, advancements in long-lived wood products, and optimal market substitution, with high uncertainties. This thesis uses the output of the model used in the study by Moreau, Thiffault, Kurz, et al. (2023) to examine various forest management strategies and their implications on biomass availability for bioenergy and forest net emissions within the energy system. To accomplish this, a thorough representation of Quebec's energy system is derived from NATEM in order to build a harmonized model with CBM-CFS3. CHAPTER 3 provides a detailed description of the integrated approach developed in this thesis.

1.4.3 Biogenic carbon in TIMES model

Nearly 70 countries (IEA-ETSAP, 2023) currently employ the TIMES model to optimize their energy systems or achieve their objectives of reducing greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. As highlighted previously in section 1.4.1, overlooking biogenic emission flows may result in biased decision-making. Remarkably, none of the existing literature (section 1.2.3.2) has adopted an integrated approach that incorporates biogenic emission flows within the TIMES model.

1.5 Research objectives

The overarching objective of this research is to comprehensively analyze the potential contribution of the forest sector in facilitating decarbonization pathways. The achievement of the overarching objective of this thesis relies on addressing three specific unanswered questions, which serve as key objectives for this research:

- What is the contribution of forest-based bioenergy in achieving deep decarbonization in Quebec?
- Does the assumption of biogenic carbon neutrality affect decarbonization pathways?

• What is the role of biomass-based hydrogen in Quebec's energy transition compared to other emerging hydrogen technologies?

This thesis aims to provide valuable insights for policymakers and stakeholders involved in Quebec's energy transition by addressing these gaps in the existing literature and employing an integrated approach. The main contributions of this research are as follows:

This study develops a detailed modeling approach that considers various forest-based bioenergy pathways within a techno-economic framework to determine the contribution of forest-based bioenergy in achieving deep decarbonization in Quebec. These pathways are incorporated into the NATEM-Québec, a comprehensive bottom-up energy model. Furthermore, the analysis assesses the potential of forest-based bioenergy in Quebec under different greenhouse gas (GHG) emission reduction scenarios.

This research develops an integrated approach by combining CBM-CFS3, a stand- and landscape-level modeling framework, with NATEM to eliminate the carbon neutrality assumption in previous literature. The CBM-CFS3 provides outputs that help model different forest management strategies and their impacts on biomass availability for bioenergy, net forest carbon stocks, and emissions, to see if and how this biomass would be used within the energy system over the considered time horizon. Additionally, various forest-based bioenergy and BECCS pathways are modeled, and their associated GHG emissions and uptakes are integrated into NATEM-Quebec to evaluate potential decarbonization pathways by 2050. Notably, this marks the first instance of modeling biogenic CO₂ flows within an energy system model like TIMES.

Following the developed integrated approach, this research conducts a comprehensive regionalized techno-economic study focused on different hydrogen pathways, specifically in the Quebec province of Canada. The study accounts for GHG emissions and uptakes associated with forest management, BECCS, and biogenic CO₂ flows. By considering these factors,

decision-makers can gain more accurate insights into the contribution of various emerging hydrogen technologies, including biomass-based hydrogen. It is crucial to avoid assuming carbon neutrality for forest biomass, as such assumptions can lead to accounting errors and biased decision-making.

CHAPTER 2

THE CONTRIBUTION OF FOREST-BASED BIOENERGY IN ACHIEVING DEEP DECARBONIZATION: INSIGHTS FOR QUEBEC (CANADA) USING A TIMES APPROACH

Hamed Kouchaki-Penchah^a, Olivier Bahn^b, Kathleen Vaillancourt^c, Annie Levasseur^a

 ^a École de Technologie Supérieure, Department of Construction Engineering, 1100 Notre-Dame West, Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3C 1K3
^b GERAD and Department of Decision Sciences, HEC Montréal, Montreal, Quebec, Canada
^c ESMIA Consultants, Blainville, Quebec, Canada

Paper Published in Energy Conversion and Management, January 2022

Abstract

This study assesses the contribution of various forest-based bioenergy technologies when transitioning to a low carbon economy. A detailed modeling of different forest-based bioenergy pathways is provided following a techno-economic (bottom-up) approach. As an illustration, these pathways are implemented in NATEM-Québec, a detailed bottom-up energy model for Québec, Canada. It is the first time different primary and secondary forest-based bioenergy technologies are being modeled in such a detailed bottom-up energy system model like TIMES. A detailed analysis of forest-based bioenergy potential in Quebec is also provided under different greenhouse gas (GHG) emission reduction scenarios. Main insights are as follows. The transportation sector is the primary contributor to GHG emissions over the time horizon in all scenarios, except for the most stringent GHG reduction scenario (GHGB) in 2050. The industrial sector is the main emitter by 2050 in GHGB, indicating the difficulties to decarbonize heavy industry. Furthermore, an extensive electrification is required to reach the GHG reduction targets. The bioenergy share is expected to increase considerably in the transportation and industrial sectors, cutting down on the need to reduce GHG emissions.

Forest-based bioenergies such as cellulosic bioethanol, biobased heat, FT diesel and electricity as a co-product can effectively support this energy transition. The present study discerns forestbased bioenergies as an attainable decarbonization pathway for the province of Quebec and envisages a greater penetration of bioenergy than in the 2030 Plan for a Green Economy proposed by the government of Québec. Other world regions with a declining trend for traditional forest products should also consider such a strategy.

Keywords: GHG emissions; Forest-based bioenergy; TIMES model; Prospective analysis; Decarbonization pathways

2.1 Introduction

The forest industry sector has undergone remarkable changes in recent years as demand for traditional forest products has decreased across many countries such as the United States (US), Canada, and Nordic countries (Hurmekoski *et al.*, 2018 ; Jåstad *et al.*, 2019). For example, while the forest industry is an important economic sector for Canada, with a Gross Domestic Product (GDP) share of 1.3% and total revenues of \$73.6 billion (FPAC, 2019), it is currently experiencing a decline due to an escalating global competition, a decrease in the US housing market and a sharp drop in the North American newsprint demand (Cambero et Sowlati, 2016). These countries are looking for new opportunities to compensate for the declining demand for traditional forest products (Hurmekoski *et al.*, 2018).

Declining trends in the forest industry market provide incentives to develop new products and processes. The climate change mitigation potential of forest products provides further incentives (Xu *et al.*, 2018). Forest-based bioenergy is one such product that has attracted attention, primarily because it usually has a lower carbon balance than its fossil counterparts. Unlike many renewables, biomass provides a storable energy solution and can be used within the existing fossil infrastructure. It facilitates the transition towards a renewable energy supply by enabling more intermittent renewable modes. Bioenergy also offers substantial benefits by

enhancing energy supply security (cutting down the dependence on imported fossil fuels, diversifying supply patterns, and broadening the diversity of energy sources). It also accelerates the economic vitality of rural communities (Allen *et al.*, 2016). Petroleum products (e.g., diesel, gasoline) have a high energy density, uncomplicated storage and combustion properties that make them a perfect choice for powering transportation. Biofuels such as ethanol and biodiesel are renewable alternatives to gasoline and diesel, respectively. However, these biofuels are currently mainly produced from food crops, sugar, grain, and vegetable oils, threatening food security. There has thus been significant research on developing non-food-based biofuels, such as lignocellulosic biomass-based feedstocks that are abundant, low-priced and more sustainable than food crops (Van Walsum et Wheeler, 2013).

Many countries have announced ambitious plans to reduce their GHG emissions following national or international commitments such as the Paris Agreement (UNFCCC, 2015). For instance, Canada (Government of Canada, 2020), the European Union (European Commission, 2018), France, New Zealand, Spain, United Kingdom, are moving toward carbon neutrality by 2050, Sweden by 2045, Norway by 2030 (Welfle, Thornley et Röder, 2020), and China by 2060 (Vaughan, 2020). In such a context, bioenergy can have a substantial role in fossil-free energy systems (Jåstad *et al.*, 2020), especially forest-based bioenergy in North America and Nordic countries (with declining trend for traditional forest products). In Canada, for instance, bioenergy could be a key component of its climate change mitigation strategy (Langlois-Bertrand *et al.*, 2018). Likewise, the province of Québec (Canada), that is used as a case study, plans to achieve its objective to reduce its GHG emissions by 37.5% below 1990 by 2030 by various means such as an increase in bioenergy production by 50%, relative to 2013 (Government of Québec, 2020).

Indeed, when the forest is sustainably managed, the release of the biofuel carbon content during combustion can be compensated by the uptake of an equivalent amount of carbon from the atmosphere by growing forests. However, growing biomass demand may originate further land-use change emissions and a non-neutral biogenic carbon balance. Immediate combustion emissions might take several years to be sequestered through natural processes, which cause short-term warming effects even if the biogenic carbon balance is zero in the long-term (Berndes *et al.*, 2016). Furthermore, converting forest biomass into fuel, and then into useful energy, involves GHG emissions throughout the process as energy and material inputs are needed. The conversion efficiency affects the scale of GHG emission reductions, as more or less forest biomass must be converted to substitute a given amount of fossil energy (Allen *et al.*, 2016; Berndes *et al.*, 2016; Albers *et al.*, 2019).

Many studies have already assessed the role of bioenergy for climate change mitigation following different approaches. (Werner et al., 2010) applied an integral model-based approach to examine the climate change mitigation potential of various forest management and wood use strategies. Temporal and spatial patterns of GHG emissions and sequestration have been analyzed in this study. On a global level, substitution of material for wood is recognized to be more effective than bioenergy generation. Nevertheless, in the regional context of Switzerland, bioenergy production showed advantage over material substitution. (Lemprière et al., 2013) surveyed the biophysical mitigation potential of boreal forests. They indicated that avoiding GHG emissions and maintaining carbon stocks lead to the most considerable biophysical mitigation potential in the short-term. Nonetheless, exploiting forest-based biomass to accelerate carbon removal leads to higher emission mitigation potential on the longterm. (Smyth et al., 2014) assessed the mitigation potential of Canadian managed forests from 2015 to 2050 using the Carbon Budget Model of the Canadian Forest Sector (CBM-CFS3). They considered seven forest management approaches and two harvested wood product strategies. Better utilization scenario (increasing utilization of harvested wood, maximizing salvage harvesting, avoiding burning residues, and collecting 50% of residues for bioenergy) showed the most climate change mitigation potential. (Lamers et al., 2014) used CBM-CFS3 to analyze different scenarios for damaged forests of British Columbia. Using harvesting leftovers as bioenergy feedstock indicated a higher emission reduction potential than a protection reference scenario. (Wang et al., 2015) developed an integrated dynamic, priceendogenous, partial equilibrium model of the forestry, agricultural, and transportation sectors

to examine the GHG emission consequences of exporting pellets in the US. Pellets produced from the combination of agricultural and forest-based feedstocks showed better GHG mitigation opportunities than pellets made from just forest-based feedstock. (Smyth et al., 2017) analyzed the climate change mitigation potential of local harvest residues for bioenergy in Canada using three models. The results suggested that the substitution of harvest residues for fossil fuels leads to GHG emission reduction. Whereas displacement of these residues for cleaner energy sources such as low-emission hydroelectricity resulted in further emissions. (Cintas et al., 2017) employed a scenario-based approach to investigate the potential role of forest management in climate change mitigation in Sweden. According to this study, the Swedish forest sector contributes to achieving carbon neutrality by offering bioenergy and other forest products. Simultaneously, it acts as a carbon sink and maintains vegetation and soils. In a study by (Gustavsson et al., 2017), the Heureka Regwise simulator and the Q-model were used to investigate the climatic implications of different forest management strategies, harvest residue extraction levels, and end-use options for forest products in Sweden. A scenario with high harvest and residue recovery rates was introduced as the most promising pathway toward climate change mitigation. But what are the most cost-effective pathways to reduce GHG emissions?

This study relies on NATEM (Vaillancourt *et al.*, 2017), a bottom-up energy system model, to overcome the limitation of the other approaches and take into account competition between the pathways on the market. Such models are considered relevant instruments to generate different scenarios, preparing deep insights for choosing a cost-effective or advantageous mix of technologies considering various assumptions and policy alternatives. The Integrated MARKAL-EFOM System (TIMES) (Loulou, Lehtilä, *et al.*, 2016) is a bottom-up partial-equilibrium model representing the entire energy system of a country or region over a long-term horizon. It typically includes extraction, transformation, distribution, end uses, and trade of various energy forms. Each step of the energy value chain is described by specific technologies represented with their techno-economic characteristics (e.g., cost and efficiency). The North American TIMES Energy Model (NATEM) belongs to the TIMES models family

and is a highly detailed multi-regional optimization model of the Canadian energy sectors. It uses various and thorough parameters to optimize defined scenarios based on legislative policies, such as GHG emissions constraints.

Energy system models have been utilized to measure the bioenergy role in a few studies (Börjesson et al., 2014), (Dodder et al., 2015), (König, 2011), (Panos et Kannan, 2016), (Zhao et al., 2015), and (Jåstad et al., 2021). It is also the case for models relying on the TIMES approach. For example, Hugues et al., (Hugues, Assoumou et Maizi, 2016) have used the TIMES-FR model to investigate the French bioenergy sector penetration under GHG emission constraints. (Levasseur et al., 2017) used NATEM in parallel with a life cycle assessment (LCA) method to investigate environmental impacts and market penetration of butanol production from pre-hydrolyzate in a Canadian Kraft dissolving pulp mill. (Albers *et al.*, 2019) coupled a TIMES model (TIMES-MIRET) with forest carbon modeling in the specific context of dynamic LCA (dynamic biogenic carbon models). They challenged the static approach toward combining LCA and partial-equilibrium model because climate change effects of biogenic carbon embedded in bioenergy are sensitive to time. Based on their results, a scenario considering dynamic biogenic carbon demonstrated more significant emission mitigation than a scenario without biogenic carbon. (Vaillancourt, Bahn et Levasseur, 2019) studied the potential penetration of bioenergy in Quebec by 2030 under different GHG emission reduction scenarios using NATEM-Quebec. However, this work focused on bioenergy in general (firstand second-generation biofuels), with only six lignocellulosic-based biofuels considered, and there was no detailed sensitivity analysis on biomass feedstock uses. In this paper, it is considered again that forest-based biofuels as non-edible feedstock are more socially acceptable to the Canadian public (Longstaff et al., 2015).

A thorough search of the relevant literature yielded only a few papers that studied bioenergies in models covering energy and the economy. This manuscript aims to critically analyze factors affecting GHG emissions associated with forest-based bioenergy technologies by introducing them in NATEM-Quebec to investigate potential decarbonization pathways by 2050. It is the first time different primary and secondary forest-based bioenergy technologies are being modeled in such a detailed bottom-up energy model like TIMES. More precisely, the contributions of this paper are as follows. First, a detailed modeling of different forest-based bioenergy pathways is provided following a techno-economic (bottom-up) approach. Second, these pathways are implemented in a detailed bottom-up energy model for Québec (NATEM-Québec). This contributes to improving a state-of-art energy model used to provide consulting to different ministries in Quebec. Third, a detailed analysis of forest-based bioenergy potential in Quebec is provided under different GHG emission reduction scenarios. This contributes to the climate policy debate with a tool that includes a broad diversity of mitigation options that are necessary since the targets to be reached are ambitious. This study also performs a critical analysis of factors affecting GHG emissions associated with different forest-based bioenergies. Finally, this paper discusses how the insights gained in this study can be applied to other countries.

The remainder of the paper is organized as follows. Section 2 succinctly presents the TIMES modeling approach, the NATEM framework, forest-based resource supply, and associated conversion technologies. Section 3 presents detailed results, including energy and emission scenarios, GHG emissions analysis, forest-based feedstock, bioenergy role in final energy demand, and sensitivity analysis. Section 4 gives a complementary discussion. Section 5 contains a summary and conclusion.

2.2 Methodological approach

2.2.1 TIMES modeling approach

Models covering energy and the economy can be divided into two main categories. The first category takes a macroeconomic (top-down) approach to model the link between energy and the economy. The second employs a disaggregated (bottom-up) approach to model energy value chains while considering many substitutions and relative costs. Contrary to top-down

models, bottom-up models are partial-equilibrium models and thus cannot provide a complete picture of the economy. But they are more suitable to describe systems with emerging energy sources such as biofuels or to describe explicit energy technologies (Bahn, 2018).

TIMES is such a bottom-up model that has been developed within the IEA ETSAP program. It provides potential configurations for the energy sector by comparing user-defined scenarios. The main outputs of a TIMES model include energy system configurations, energy flows, energy commodity prices, GHG emissions, capacities of energy technologies, energy costs and marginal emissions abatement costs. TIMES is cast as a linear programming (LP) problem. As such, it is comprised of decision variables, an objective function and constraints. Decision variables corresponds to choices to be made endogenously. The main types are related to energy technologies (installed capacities, new capacity additions, activity levels...) and energy commodities (quantities produced, stored, exported, imported...). The objective function corresponds to maximizing the total producer and consumer surplus. Under some simplifying assumptions (such as perfect competition on energy markets and a constant price elasticity for energy service demands), a single optimization yields an optimal configuration of the energy sector under user defined constraints. These constraints (referred to as the model's equations) express physical and logical relationships (e.g., production limits, energy balances...) that must be addressed to appropriately model the whole energy sector. The model also includes policy constraints such as GHG emission reduction targets that can be achieved through technology and fuel substitutions (Loulou, Goldstein, Kanudia, Lettila et Remme, 2016). TIMES complete documentation is publicly available (Loulou, Goldstein, Kanudia, Lettila et Uwe Remme, 2016), including a comprehensive explanation of the sets, attributes, variables, and equations of the model. TIMES scope includes local, national, multi-regional, or global energy systems over a multi-period time horizon. A typical time horizon is the year 2050. Short periods (1 to 2 years) are specified in early stages, while longer periods (5 to 15 years) are used in subsequent periods due to increasing uncertainty in data. Besides, there are time divisions within each year. These time slices correspond to different seasons and intraday periods (e.g., day, night, peak hours...) (Vaillancourt et al., 2017).

2.2.2 NATEM model

In this paper, the North American TIMES Energy Model (NATEM) is used to perform energy policy analyses for the Quebec Province of Canada. Following a TIMES approach, NATEM represents the Reference Energy System (RES) of all Canadian jurisdictions, including 70 enduse demands for energy services in different sectors (agriculture, commercial, industrial, residential, and transportation), see (Vaillancourt et al., 2017). From NATEM, a detailed representation of the Quebec's energy system has been extracted, thereafter called NATEM-Quebec, to assess forest-based bioenergy technologies in the context of a region endowed with forest-based biomass. The spatial scale of NATEM-Quebec concerns the whole province, with data disaggregated by sub-regions. The temporal horizon is 2011-2050 with 9 periods and 16 annual time slices. All costs are presented in 2011 Canadian dollars (CAD) and a global annual discount rate of 5% is used (Vaillancourt, Bahn et Levasseur, 2019). The large database of NATEM-Quebec (with, e.g., its more than 4,000 explicit energy technologies) is managed using the VEDA2.0 model management system (KanORS-EMR, 2023), whereas TIMES is coded in the GAMS modeling language and the resulting large LP problem (more than 300,000 equations and close to 400,000 variables) is solved to optimality using the CPLEX solver (GAMS, 2023).

2.2.3 Forest-based biomass

2.2.3.1 **Resource supply**

Instead of a simple category labeled "forest residues" as the only forest-based feedstock in NATEM (Vaillancourt, Bahn et Levasseur, 2019), different forest-based biomass sources have been introduced along with new technologies that need specific feedstock types. As a numerical illustration of our approach, the availability of forest-based feedstocks in the province of Quebec by 2050 are given in Table 2.1. Forest-based feedstocks are characterized

according to their physical properties, related activity, and final usage (Allen *et al.*, 2016). Forest industry residues include sawdust and shavings mainly from sawmills and oriented strand board (OSB) mills. Also mill residue surplus is considered as an untapped forest industry residue source. Hog fuels consist of bark-contained or coarse wood refuse generated in sawmill and plywood-veneer. Also, unutilized hog fuel is considered as an untapped hog fuel source. Wood chips originate from sawmills and plywood-veneer. Firewood originates from forests or farms through splitting wood logs by saw-splitters. Pulp and paper waste are mainly solid waste generated in pulp and paper plants. Spent liquor is a by-product of paper production during the kraft process. Slash (forest leftovers) generates from forestry activities, including branches, needles, leaves, trunks and treetops (Ghafghazi *et al.*, 2017 ; Hydro Québec, 2015 ; Bajpai, 2015 ; Speight, 2019).

Туре	Source	Energy coefficient ¹	Total estimated ²		Price ³	First yearly potential ⁴	Extra feedstock price ^s	Second yearly potential ⁶	Extra feedstock price ⁷
		[MJ/kg]	[ton/yr]	[PJ/yr]	[\$/GJ]	[PJ/yr]	[\$/GJ]	[PJ/yr]	[\$/GJ]
Forest industry residues	Sawmill/OSB/ untapped	18.89	1,550,332	29.3	5.51	8.8	8.3	13.2	16.5
Hog fuel	Sawmill/plywood veneer/untapped	18.30	1,281,163	23.4	5.51	7.0	8.3	10.6	16.5
Chips	Sawmill/plywood	18.89	4,076,782	77.0	7.77	23.1	11.7	34.7	23.3
Firewood	Forest/farms	18.76	2,771,850	52.0	12.35	15.6	18.5	23.4	37.1
Slash	Forest	18.95	4,430,000	83.9	4.41	25.2	6.6	37.8	13.2
Pulp and paper waste	Pulp and paper plant	17.08	915,172	15.6	5.51	4.7	8.3	7.0	16.5

Table 2.1 Forest-based feedstock's availability, price, and energy coefficient in Quebec
Spent liquor	Kraft process	12.29	3,018,750	37.1	4.41	11.1	6.6	16.7	13.2
¹ (Hydro Québec, 2015 ; Carrasco <i>et al.</i> , 2017)									
² (Ghafghazi et al	l., 2017 ; Hydro Qu	uébec, 20	15)						

³ (Hydro Québec, 2015 ; Carrasco et al., 2017 ; Natrural Resources Canada, 2020)

⁴ assumed to be 30% of the total estimated

⁵ assumed to be 1.5 times higher than the estimated price

⁶ assumed to be 45% of the total estimated

⁷ assumed to be 3 times higher than the estimated price

For each of these feedstocks, a supply curve has been defined in NATEM-Quebec with different availability potentials and their relative costs. Extra feedstocks are assumed available at a higher price. Accordingly, two different yearly potentials for forest-based feedstocks are investigated in this study. The first yearly potential could be seen as providing extra biomass within the province. The second annual potential might be viewed as supplying feedstock from other regions.

2.2.3.2 Bioenergies and conversion technologies

Figure 2.1 presents the reference energy system of common and emerging conversion technologies to produce lignocellulosic-based bioenergy. It displays the flow of resource supply, production and conversion technologies to end-use technologies. Table 2.2 and Table 2.3 present an overview of these technologies that have been added to NATEM. The data for 45 primary and secondary forest-based bioenergy technologies were acquired from various literature and modeled in NATEM after required modifications. Mainly studies that calculated the process's costs using a classical process design approach (Peters, Timmerhaus et West, 2003) were selected for this work. The primary modifications are as follows: associated feedstocks were defined for each of the processes; energy inputs required during conversion processes were calculated; energy efficiency and investment cost were revised and quantified;

fixed and variable operating costs recalculated by excluding energy costs since they are already considered by NATEM; all the mentioned costs were divided by the installed capacity which is the total amount of energy produced. A more detailed description is given in APPENDIX I (Part A). With these conversion technologies, biomass is transformed into three primary outputs: electricity and heat as two energy outputs, and chemical feedstock as a non-energy output. Conversion technologies are divided into two main groups: thermo-chemical and biochemical/biological. In addition, mechanical conversion process is considered a primitive conversion technology to transform biomass into energy (McKendry, 2002).

Mechanical conversion processes of forest-based biomass mainly include splitting, chipping, pressing, and grinding that produce solid fuels such as logs, densified wood logs, wood pellets, wood chips, and wood powder (Douard, 2010; McKendry, 2002). However, pelletizing is only considered due to a lack of data for other types of mechanical conversion processes. Thermochemical conversion processes are divided into four main categories: combustion, gasification, pyrolysis, and hydrothermal liquefaction (Pang, 2019). Besides, charcoal production and roasting (Douard, 2010) are also considered as thermochemical conversion technologies that produce charcoal, briquette, and roasted wood. Biochemical processes include fermentation and anaerobic digestion (Pang, 2019). Different types of fermentation conversion processes have been investigated in this study. Hybrid conversion processes integrate thermochemical and biochemical conversion processes (Van Walsum et Wheeler, 2013). A description of biofuel conversion pathways is available in APPENDIX I (Part B).



Figure 2.1 Detailed forest-based bioenergy conversion processes in NATEM-Quebec

Technology	Conversion process	Bioenergy	Reference
Biomass HTL. Upgrading system 69.9 MGGEPY	Hydrothermal liquefaction	Hydrocarbons	(Zhu et al., 2014)
Co-Gasification. Methanol grade AA. Black liquor. Crude glycerol	Co-Gasification	Biomethanol	(Carvalho <i>et al.</i> , 2018)
Fast pyrolysis and hydroprocessing 35 MGPY	Fast pyrolysis	Gasoline(bio), Biodiesel	(Li <i>et al.</i> , 2017 ; Wright et Brown, 2019)
Fermentation. Butanol Production	Fermentation	Butanol(bio), Heat	(Levasseur <i>et al.</i> , 2017)
Fermentation. Ethanol. Enzyme. Dilute- acid 53.4MGPY	Fermentation	Cellulosic bioethanol, Electricity	(Li <i>et al.</i> , 2018 ; Kazi <i>et al.</i> , 2010)

Table 2.2 Primary conversion processes

Fermentation. Ethanol. Enzyme. NREL 61MGPY	Fermentation	Cellulosic bioethanol	(Li <i>et al.</i> , 2018 ; Humbird <i>et al.</i> , 2011)
Fischer-Tropsch. Catalytic. Hydroprocessing. High temperature. Flow gasifier 41.7MGPY	Gasification/Fischer -Tropsch	FT diesel, Electricity	(Swanson <i>et al.</i> , 2010)
Fischer-Tropsch. Catalytic. Hydroprocessing. Low temperature. Fluidized bed gasifie 32.3MGPY	Gasification/Fischer -Tropsch	FT diesel, Electricity	
Gasification facility. Gasifier + methanation. Wood Gasification facility. Gasifier +	Gasification/methan ation Gasification/methan	Syngas, Electricity Syngas	(Panos et Kannan, 2016)
Gasification.Wood.20MW	Gasification	Syngas, Electricity, Heat	(Moret <i>et al.</i> , 2017)
Gasification to ethanol 61.8 MMGPY/mixed alcohol 76.2 MMGPY	Gasification/mixed alcohol	Cellulosic bioethanol	(Phillips <i>et al.</i> , 2007 ; Wright et Brown, 2019)
Gasification. Bio. CCS. Hydrogen	Gasification/Hydrog en	Hydrogen	(Moret <i>et al.</i> , 2017 ; Tock, 2013)
Gasification. Methanol synthesis, Methanol to Gasoline (MTG) 49.6 MGPY	Gasification/methan ol synthesis	Gasoline(bio), LPG (bio)	(Phillips <i>et al.</i> , 2011)
Liquefaction. Fermentation. Ethanol. Solvent. 1,4-Dioxane 39.4MGPY Liquefaction. Fermentation. Ethanol. Solvent. Acetone 34.8MGPY	Liquefaction & Fermentation Liquefaction & Fermentation	Cellulosic bioethanol Cellulosic bioethanol	(Li <i>et al.</i> , 2018)
Solvent. GVL 50.6MGPY	Liquefaction & Fermentation	bioethanol	(L1 <i>et al.</i> , 2018; Han <i>et al.</i> , 2015)
Liquefaction. Fermentation. Ethanol. Solvent. THF 53.3MGPY	Liquefaction & Fermentation	Cellulosic bioethanol	(Li <i>et al.</i> , 2018)
Pellet. Production. Forest residue. Regular 190kt	Pelletizing	Pellets	(Shahrukh <i>et al.</i> , 2016)
pretreated 290kt	Purelusis	Purelucia oil	
1 y101y515. W 000 101VI W	1 91019515	1 91019515 011	(Moret <i>et al.</i> , 2017)

Continued

Technology	Conversion process	Bioenergy	Reference
CHP ORC system. Wet/dry wood 2.08MWe	CHP/ORC/Wet/dry	Electricity, Heat	(Moret <i>et al.</i> , 2016)
CHP. biomass combustion. ORC 2.5MW	CHP/ORC	Electricity, Heat	,

CHP. biomass gasification. IC engine 3MW	CHP/Gasification/I C engine	Electricity, Heat	(Rentizelas <i>et al.</i> , 2009)
CHP. District. Wood 20MWth	CHP/District	Heat, Electricity	(Moret <i>et al.</i> , 2017)
CHP. Industry. Wood 20MWth	CHP/Industry	Heat, Electricity	2017)
Boiler. Decentralized. Wood. 0.1MW	Boiler/Decentralized	Heat	
Boiler. District. Wood.10MW	Boiler/District	Heat	
Boiler. Industry. Wood.10MW	Boiler/Industry	Heat	
Boilers. Industrial. Wood	Boilers/Industrial	Heat	(Panos et Kannan,
Boilers. Residential. Wood. High	Boilers/Residential	Heat	2016)
Boilers. Residential. Wood. Low	Boilers/Residential	Heat	
Boilers. Services. Wood	Boilers/Services	Heat	

Technology	Conversion process	Bioenergy	Reference		
CH4 reforming. CCS. Hydrogen	CH4 reforming/Hydrogen	Hydrogen	(Moret <i>et al.</i> , 2017; Tock, 2013)		
Electrolysis. Hydrogen	Electrolysis/Hydrogen	Hydrogen	(Moret <i>et al.</i> , 2017 ; Gassner et Maréchal, 2008)		
CHP. Combined-Cycle Gas Turbine CCGT. SNG 34-55MWe	CHP/CCGT	Electricity, Heat	(Moret <i>et al.</i> , 2016)		
CHP. Oil/Bio-Oil 0.2-2MWe	CHP/Bio-Oil	Electricity, Heat	2010)		
Boilers. Industrial. Oil	Boilers/Industrial	Heat	(Panos et Kannan,		
Boilers. Industrial. Pellet	Boilers/Industrial	Heat	2016)		
Boilers. Residential. Oil. High	Boilers/Residential	Heat			
Boilers. Residential. Oil. Low	Boilers/Residential	Heat			
Boilers. Residential. Pellet. High	Boilers/Residential	Heat			
Boilers. Residential. Pellet. Low	Boilers/Residential	Heat			
Boilers. Services. Oil	Boilers/Services	Heat			
Boilers. Services. Pellet	Boilers/Services	Heat			

Table 2.3 Secondary conversion processes

2.2.4 Energy and emission scenarios

Four scenarios (Table 2.4) are considered to explore the potential contribution of emerging forest-based bioenergy in Quebec's energy transition: i) a business-as-usual (BAU) scenario without any additional GHG emission reduction constraints beyond existing governmental policies, and without lignocellulosic-based bioenergies; ii) a business-as-usual scenario in

which the model can use the lignocellulosic-based bioenergies (BAU+BIOF) to explore the role of these bioenergies in Quebec's energy system in the absence of additional GHG emission reduction constraints; and iii) two reduction scenarios with different GHG emission targets to be reached by 2050. In all scenarios, demands for energy services are projected through 2050 from 2011 by means of a set of comprehensible socio-economic assumptions (GDP, GDP per capita, population growth) from the Trottier Energy Futures Project (TEFP, 2016). And again, all these scenarios consider existing governmental energy and climate policies (Government of Canada, 2010 ; Government of Quebec, 2012 ; Ministère des Transports du Québec, 2015 ; NHTSA, 2011).

Scenario	GHG constraints	Forest-based bioenergy technologies
BAU	No additional GHG emission reduction constraints beyond existing governmental policies	No
BAU+BIOF	Same as BAU	Yes
GHGA	BAU with GHG emission reduction targets of 30% by 2030 and 70% by 2050 (from 1990 level)	Yes
GHGB	BAU with GHG emissions reduction targets of 37.5% by 2030 and 80% by 2050 (from 1990 level)	Yes

Table 2.4 Considered scenarios

NATEM considers most of the GHG emissions caused by fuel combustion and fugitive sources from the energy sector, which were responsible for 66% of Canadian emissions in 1990 (58.6 Mt CO₂-eq) and 69% in 2013 (56.3 Mt CO₂-eq). Emission reduction constraints are imposed at the different periods using a linear interpolation based on target years (2030, 2050).

2.3 Result analysis

2.3.1 GHG emissions

In the BAU scenario, GHG emissions decrease by 4.1% between 2011 and 2025, before increasing by 25.9% between 2025 and 2050 (Figure 2.2). The first decreasing trend is due in

particular to the substitution of some fossil fuel vehicles by electric vehicles due to governmental policies included in the scenario. However, growing energy service demands cause GHG emissions to increase again afterwards. The BAU+BIOF scenario shows slightly higher GHG emissions than the BAU scenario because of a switching to cellulosic bioethanol (mainly because of cheaper feedstock), which has a higher emission coefficient than bioethanol from agriculture-based feedstock. To achieve the imposed GHG reduction targets, compared to the baseline (BAU), emissions are reduced by 22.5% (GHGA), respectively 30.8% (GHGB) in 2030, and by 66.8% (GHGA), respectively 77.9% (GHGB) in 2050.



Figure 2.2 Total GHG emissions in Quebec

Figure 2.3 displays energy related GHG emissions by sector (agriculture, commercial, electricity, industrial, residential, production, and transportation). Transportation is responsible for more than half of total GHG emissions in the different time periods and scenarios, except for BAU+BIOF (49.5%) in 2030 and GHGB (21%) in 2050. Dependence upon fossil fuels to satisfy transportation demands is the main reason for this sector's emissions. Emissions for the industrial sector in the BAU and BAU+BIOF scenarios increase by around 54% and 59% respectively in 2050, compared to 2011. Besides, emissions for the production sector increase

by 28.6% and 17.5% in the BAU and BAU+BIOF sectors, respectively. The production sector includes primary energy supply.

In the GHGA scenario, significant reductions are achieved in the transportation, industrial, commercial, and residential sectors of 24.2, 6.7, 4.9, and 3.2 MtCO₂-eq in 2050, respectively, compared to baseline values. In the GHGB scenario, further reductions are necessary in the transportation and industrial sectors to reach the more stringent target. The transportation, industrial, commercial, and residential sectors present 30.6, 7.1, 4.9, and 3.3 MtCO₂-eq of emission abatements in this scenario in 2050, respectively, compared to baseline values. In GHGB, the industrial sector is the main emitter by 2050, highlighting the challenge to decarbonize heavy industry.



Figure 2.3 Energy-related GHG emissions by sector in Quebec

2.3.2 Primary energy production

Primary energy production (PEP) highly relies on hydroelectricity and biomass in Quebec (Figure 2.4). Renewable consists of other types of renewable energies such as solar and wind. Other energy sources such as coal, gas, and oil are being imported to Quebec. A twofold



increase in the share of biomass in PEP is expected in the GHG reduction scenarios relative to BAU in 2050.

Figure 2.4 Primary energy production in Quebec

2.3.3 Forest-based residues as feedstock

Figure 2.5 presents the consumption of biomass as an energy source. Forest-based biomass (forest industry residues, hog fuel, chips, firewood, slash, spent liquor, pulp and paper waste) is more in demand than other types of biomass, mainly because of its lower price. Other biomass types consist of agriculture residues, canola, corn, soybeans, dedicated crops, greasy residues, and municipal wastes. The share of these other biomass sources is 6% and 29% of the total biomass demand in the BAU scenario in 2011 and 2050, respectively. In the BAU+BIOF scenario, the amount of forest-based biomass is 208.4 PJ in 2050, 30.9 PJ more than in the BAU scenario. The biomass share escalates considerably to help meet energy service demands with a low emission profile in the GHG emission reduction scenarios. The amount of other biomass sources decreases by 4.3 PJ in the GHGB scenario compared to the

GHGA scenario. The amount of forest-based biomass is the same for both reduction scenarios because of the feedstock's competitive price and limited forest-based biomass.

Forest slash is the primary feedstock in all the scenarios because of its lower price. Municipal wastes are another primary feedstock after the year 2025, because of emerging technologies which can use municipal wastes as feedstock. In the GHG emission reduction scenarios, the mix of feedstock is more diversified. Wood chips, firewood, hog fuel, and spent liquor are in high demand mainly because of the limited availability of slash, municipal waste or any other cheaper feedstock.



production in Quebec

In the BAU scenario, the maximum amounts of forest industry residues, hog fuel, pulp and paper waste available at minimum cost as well as the first and second yearly potential of slash are utilized to meet the feedstock demand for cellulosic bioethanol, pellet, electricity, and heat for industry and residential sectors in 2050. With the addition of emerging technologies (BAU+BIOF), all the feedstock consumed in the BAU scenario except corn and 83% of spent

liquor available at minimum cost are used. Even though the same types of bioenergy are produced in the BAU+BIOF scenario, more of them are forest-based. Corn is not used as a feedstock to produce ethanol. Instead, forest slash is used to produce cellulosic ethanol and spent liquor to produce heat.

All the forest-based feedstock available at minimum cost, first yearly potential (except for firewood), and all the slash accessible in the second yearly potential are consumed in both GHG reduction scenarios in 2050 (see again Table 2.1). The same type of bioenergy, but in higher quantities, are produced in GHG reduction scenarios. FT diesel is the only new bioenergy that is produced in GHG reduction scenarios in 2050.

2.3.4 Final energy consumption

Figure 2.6 displays the final energy consumption. In 2011, it was dominated by oil products, electricity, and heat. In the baseline scenarios, energy consumption moderately increases between 2011 and 2030, while it intensifies in 2050 relative to 2011. The share of oil products gradually decreases, and the share of electricity, heat, and natural gas increases in consecutive years. Significant changes occur in GHG reduction scenarios by 2050. The percentage of electricity and heat are 60% and 70% of final energy consumption in the GHGA and GHGB scenarios, respectively, in 2050. This indicates that extensive electrification is required to reach the GHG reduction targets. The contribution of bioenergy increases significantly (20% and 17% of final energy consumption in the GHGA and GHGB scenarios, respectively, in 2050).



Figure 2.6 Final energy consumption in Quebec

2.3.5 The contribution of bioenergy in final energy consumption

Bioenergy use increases over the time horizon in BAU and BAU+BIOF scenarios (Figure 2.7). This trend is boosted by strict GHG emission reduction constraints in GHGA and GHGB scenarios. Bioenergy consumption in the GHGA and GHGB scenarios increases by 73% and 112% respectively in 2030, and by 203% and 164% respectively in 2050, relative to 2011. The total amount of bioenergy in the GHGB scenario is lower than in the GHGA scenario, as priority is given to use limited feedstocks for some bioenergy such as cellulosic bioethanol instead of bio-based heat.

Biodiesel and bioethanol are the only bioenergies consumed in 2011. Afterwards, there is a more diverse consumption of bioenergy types. The industrial sector is the main consuming sector, except in GHG reduction scenarios by 2050, in which transportation is the primary consumer. Bioenergy consumption in the industrial sector decreases by about 2.6% in the BAU scenario and 16.4% in the BAU+BIOF scenario in 2030 compared to 2011. Expected demand reduction for pulp and paper in this period is the main reason for this fall-off. However, the

industrial sector's bioenergy consumption is increased afterwards following growing end-use demands. In the GHG reduction scenarios, consumption of bioenergy in the industrial sector continues to grow relative to the BAU scenario. The amount of industrial bioenergy usage in the GHGB scenario is 35% of the bioenergy in the GHGA scenario in 2050, stemming from the growing demand for bioenergy in the transportation sector to satisfy GHG constraints. In general, bioenergy is used for space heating in the residential sector, mainly from solid biomass. However, it is diversified in GHG scenarios through the use of biodiesel and FT diesel. Bioenergy consumption in this sector decreases over time in all scenarios. By introducing new technologies, solid biomass, biodiesel, and FT diesel are consumed to provide space heating and liquid fuel in GHG scenarios for commercial and agriculture sectors.



Figure 2.7 Consumption of bioenergy by end-use sector in Quebec

Figure 2.8 presents the consumption of the different types of bioenergy. Bio-based heat and electricity accounts from 90% (2011) to 64% (2030) in the BAU scenario. This reduction is due to limited feedstock and emerging new sources of bioenergies like biodiesel, bioethanol, FT diesel, bio methanol, and biomethane. The bioenergy consumption increases by around

36% in the BAU and 29% in the BAU+BIOF scenarios to meet the demand in 2050 compared to 2030. By introducing diversified forest-based feedstock in NATEM and defining new conversion technologies, cellulosic bioethanol becomes more available than first generation bioethanol. It reaches the highest amount of 111 PJ in the GHGB scenario in 2050.

The use of diverse bioenergy continues in the GHG reduction scenarios, where the highest use of bioenergy is reached. Biodiesel, bio methanol, and bio-based heat consumption reduces in the GHGB scenario in 2050 compared to the BAU scenario in 2050, mainly due to the diversion of feedstock for the production of cellulosic bioethanol.



Figure 2.8 Consumption of bioenergy by type in Quebec

Bioenergy production from forest-based technologies is displayed in Figure 2.9. Besides, biomass consumption by these technologies is given in Table 2.5. Cellulosic bioethanol is the primary bioenergy produced in BAU+BIOF, reaching 26 PJ and 24 PJ in 2030 and 2050,

respectively. Besides, the amount of bio-heat production grows from 1 PJ to 28 PJ in this scenario over the time horizon. Production of industrial heat in the GHG reduction scenarios increases from 3.7 PJ in 2025 to more than 23 PJ in 2050. Similarly, district heat increases from 2.9 PJ in 2030 to more than 19 PJ in 2050. The model uses 19.5 PJ and 12 PJ of cellulosic bioethanol for the GHGA and GHGB scenarios in 2030, respectively. However, these amounts increase by almost 2 and 8 times in 2050 compared to 2030, respectively. Bioenergy production is more diversified in GHG reduction scenarios by producing FT diesel and electricity as a co-product in the GHGB in 2030. The amount of FT diesel increases in the following years for GHG reduction scenarios and reached 21 PJ and 32 PJ in 2050 for the GHGA and GHGB, respectively.



Figure 2.9 Bioenergy production from forest-based technologies in Quebec

Forest slash and spent liquor are the primary feedstock to produce bioenergy from forest-based technologies (Table 2.5). However, feedstock consumption becomes more diversified in GHG reduction scenarios to meet biomass demand. Gasification to cellulosic bioethanol conversion technology demonstrates that forest-based feedstock could be converted to bioethanol in a cost-

competitive way. NATEM relies on this technology to consume forest slash in the BAU+BIOF and GHG reduction scenarios in 2025. This technology produces more biofuel in the following milestone years than in 2025 by consuming other biomass types in all three scenarios. As a result, cellulosic bioethanol production increases and reaches its maximum amount in the GHGB scenario (107 PJ; see Figure 2.9).

The model switches to Fischer-Tropsch catalytic conversion technology to provide required FT diesel for agriculture, commercial, industrial, residential, and transportation sectors in the GHGA (by 2050) and GHGB (by 2030) scenarios. As in (Swanson *et al.*, 2010), the model relies on FT catalytic conversion technology with high-temperature gasification instead of low-temperature gasification because of higher fuel yield. Furthermore, industrial and district boilers are used over time in all scenarios to meet heat requirements in the mentioned sectors. The rest of the modeled forest-based technologies are not part of the solution mainly because of a high marginal investment cost or a high emission factor for their bioenergy consumption.

Technology	oi ceenario Seedstock	BAU+BIOF	GHGA	GHGB		BAU+BIOF	GHGA	GHGB	BAU+BIOF GHGA	GHGB	Jenergy
	/Year		2025			203	30		20:	50	Bia
Boiler. district. wood. 10MW	Spent liquor	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	3.36	3.36	5.10	23.0	23.1	Heat, district
Boiler. industry. wood. 10MW	Spent liquor	1.07	4.06	4.07	4.40	7.34	9.52	25.9	25.2	25.1	Heat, industry
Gasification to ethanol 61.8	Chips								100.1	35.0	Cellulosic bio-
MMGPY / mixed alcohol 76.2	Forest industry residues					29.3				38.1	ethanol
	Hog fuel						23.5			30.5	
	Slash	26.8	27.4	25.2	56.7	11.9	2.2	52.6	39.7	121.7	
	Chips									65.1	FT diesel, electricity

Table 2.5 Forest-based biomass consumption by specific technologies

Fischer-Tropsch. Slash catalytic. hydroprocessing. high temperature. flow gasifier.41.7 MGPY 1.21

42.4

^{a, b} (Moret *et al.*, 2017)

^c (Wright et Brown, 2019; Phillips *et al.*, 2007)

^d(Swanson *et al.*, 2010)

2.3.6 Mitigation costs

Figure 2.10 shows the marginal abatement cost for the reduction scenarios. Until 2030, marginal abatement costs remain moderate (\$62 and \$116 per ton CO₂-eq in GHGA and GHGB, respectively). Afterwards, costs increase significantly to reach by 2050 \$615 and \$1326, respectively. These are significantly high carbon prices, to be paid by a small number of economic agents (since the energy system is by 2050 extensively decarbonized). However, TIMES is only a partial equilibrium model (looking at energy markets) (Bahn, 2018). It cannot handle the full economic effect of these high prices, beyond the assumed price elasticity of demand for energy services. To do so, one would rather need to use, e.g., a general equilibrium model, which is beyond the scope of this paper.



Figure 2.10 Marginal abatement cost for one ton of CO₂-eq in Quebec

2.3.7 Sensitivity analysis

Three scenarios with a feedstock price decrease (GHGB-X%) and three other scenarios with a feedstock price increase (GHGB+X%) are considered to assess the effect of feedstock price fluctuations on bioenergy production. Figure 2.11 shows the feedstock price effect on bioenergy production in the stringent GHG reduction scenario of GHGB in 2050. Total bioenergy increases by around 12% to 20%, with a cost decrease of the forest-based feedstock of 20% to 35% (GHGB-20%, GHGB-35%), respectively. A feedstock price reduction of 50% yields a similar increase of 20%. The main reason for this is the limited availability of forestbased feedstocks. Besides, the amount of cellulosic bioethanol, and bio-based heat and electricity are all increased in the GHGB-X% scenarios compared to the base case (GHGB). Conversely, the amount of bioenergy production decreases by 0.5% when raising feedstock price by 20% (GHGB+20%). Whereas it is reduced by about 7% to 10% when increasing feedstock price by 35% to 50% (GHGB+35%, GHGB+50%), respectively. The solution is thus more sensitive to a price decrease than an increase. Overall, bioenergy production is not sensitive to feedstock's price increase of 20% (or less), as it remains a competitive option to abate GHG emissions. Afterwards, the amount of bioenergy does reduce with growing feedstock price as it loses its competitiveness.



GHGB scenario in 2050 in Quebec

2.4 Discussion

It has been assumed that getting more feedstocks is achievable at a higher price, which can affect the forest-industry market. However, this study does not consider forest stands, and NATEM-Quebec does not consider biomass competition between industrial usage and bioenergy production. Based on (Ghafghazi *et al.*, 2017), the only feedstock that can have competition for board production in Canada is forest industry residues. This latter paper points out that surplus mill residues in Canada, and particularly in the eastern provinces, are limited. Besides, increasing future demand for feedstocks above expected sustainable supply can lead to indirect land-use change and raise the competition with alternative biomass applications with superior carbon sequestration profiles (Allen *et al.*, 2016). To increase feedstock availability at least cost, the harvest rate of residues and salvage trees could be increased and slash burning could be completely prohibited (Smyth *et al.*, 2014). Also, surplus forest growth (low-quality roundwood) is achievable as a potential source of feedstock, which can, in turn, strengthen the forest value chain (Durocher *et al.*, 2019).

Biogenic CO₂ emissions from biomass consumption have been treated as carbon neutral. However, bioenergy systems can lead to positive, neutral or negative effects on biogenic carbon stocks, contingent upon the bioenergy system's characteristics, soil and climate factors, vegetation cover, and land-use history (Berndes *et al.*, 2016). The authors acknowledge this limitation of the current study and plan to address it in a forthcoming research project.

Compared with first-generation biofuels that are mainly produced from agriculture crops and considered a threat to food security, second-generation biofuels that are generally derived from lignocellulosic feedstock are more available, low-priced, and sustainable. New conversion technologies allow a high conversion efficiency of these residues. (Phillips et al., 2007) and (Wright et Brown, 2019) have shown that forest-based feedstock could be converted to bioethanol in a cost-competitive way using gasification to cellulosic bioethanol conversion technology. Fischer-Tropsch catalytic conversion technology with high-temperature gasification (Swanson et al., 2010) consumes lignocellulosic-based sources to produce liquid fuels (FT diesel). FT diesel has a similar quality to those derived from petroleum and can be utilized as liquid transportation fuels in different sectors. Industrial and district boilers (Moret et al., 2017) have been utilized over time to meet low emission heat requirements in the industrial and commercial sectors, respectively. Choosing a suitable conversion process mainly depends on the type of available biomass, characteristics of the final bioenergy, and existing infrastructure. For instance, advanced alcohols are suitable for drop-in fuels in current spark ignition gas engines. Moreover, these biofuels are compatible with the current fuel distribution system too. Any bioenergy pathway should be evaluated given its regional energy context because each region has unique energy systems and socio-economic conditions.

The goal of achieving an 80% GHG emission reduction in Quebec has been considered in previous studies (Astudillo, 2019 ; Vaillancourt *et al.*, 2017 ; Vaillancourt, Bahn et Levasseur, 2019). They have stated that an 80% GHG emission reduction target is not achievable with the current technologies considered in NATEM without any change in the (useful) demand for energy services such as passenger-kilometers and ton-kilometers traveled. In our study, the

80% reduction target is achieved though improving energy efficiency using technological alternatives, decarbonization of electricity generation, massive electrification, and large-scale deployment of bioenergy. Investing in negative emission technologies should also be part of the solution and will be considered in a forthcoming study.

Declining demand for traditional forest products across many countries such as the US, Canada, and Nordic countries leads to developing new products such as forest-based bioenergy. The GHG emission reduction potential of forest-based bioenergy provides further incentives. As discussed earlier, it is a storable energy solution, compatible with the existing fossil infrastructure, and does not threaten food security. Such second-generation biofuels are thus more socially acceptable (Hurmekoski *et al.*, 2018 ; Jåstad *et al.*, 2019 ; Xu *et al.*, 2018 ; Longstaff *et al.*, 2015 ; Allen *et al.*, 2016 ; Van Walsum et Wheeler, 2013). According to this study, forest-based bioenergy is an indispensable resource for transitioning to a low carbon economy. This conclusion should apply as well to countries with an important forest-based bioenergy, based on the concept of a reference energy system that details energy commodities and technologies, can be easily adapted to other regional context by updating resource prices and eventually technology-related costs. In particular, one could envision to adapt the modeling presented in Figure 2.1 in any of the 70 countries using a TIMES approach. As a reminder, detailed techno-economic data is given in APPENDIX I (Part A).

2.5 Conclusion

The objective of this study was to measure the long-term role of forest-based bioenergy technologies using a bottom-up energy model (NATEM-Quebec). For this purpose, a comprehensive overview of bioenergy conversion processes has been accomplished, and the required data has been collected in the context of Quebec, a Canadian province. Using NATEM-Quebec, four scenarios have been evaluated: two business-as-usual scenarios (BAU, BAU+BIOF), and two GHG emission reduction scenarios (GHGA, GHGB).

This study shows that transportation is the primary contributor to GHG emissions over the time horizon in all scenarios, except for GHGB in 2050. The industrial sector is the main emitter by 2050 in GHGB, indicating the difficulties to decarbonize heavy industry. Furthermore, an extensive electrification is required to reach the GHG reduction targets. The bioenergy share is expected to increase considerably in the transportation and industrial sectors, cutting down on the need to reduce GHG emissions. Forest-based bioenergies such as cellulosic bioethanol, biobased heat, FT diesel and electricity as a co-product can effectively support this energy transition.

Quebec's government envisions a 50% increase in bioenergy production by 2030 relative to the 2013 level (Government of Québec, 2020). However, NATEM computes a bioenergy expansion of 75% for the GHGA and 114% for the GHGB scenarios in 2030 compared to the BAU scenario in 2013. Therefore, a greater penetration of bioenergy could be envisaged by Quebec's government in its 2030 plan for a green economy. This study reveals that forestbased bioenergy should be an important component of the decarbonization strategy of Quebec. Other world regions with a declining trend for traditional forest products should also consider such a strategy. Future research should address the limitations of this present study, such as additional feedstock availability and treating biogenic CO₂ emissions as carbon neutral that may bias the results.

CHAPTER 3

IMPACT OF BIOGENIC CARBON NEUTRALITY ASSUMPTION FOR ACHIEVING A NET-ZERO EMISSION TARGET: INSIGHTS FROM A TECHNO-ECONOMIC ANALYSIS

Hamed Kouchaki-Penchah ^a, Olivier Bahn ^b, Kathleen Vaillancourt ^c, Lucas Moreau ^d, Evelyne Thiffault ^d, Annie Levasseur ^a

 ^a École de Technologie Supérieure, Department of Construction Engineering, 1100 Notre-Dame West, Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3C 1K3
^b GERAD and Department of Decision Sciences, HEC Montréal, Montreal, Quebec, Canada
^c ESMIA Consultants, Blainville, Quebec, Canada
^d Département des sciences du bois et de la forêt, Université Laval, Québec, Canada

Paper published in Environmental Science & Technology, in June 2023

Abstract

Global pathways limiting warming to 2°C or below require deep carbon dioxide removal through a large-scale transformation of the land surface, an increase in forest cover, and the deployment of negative emission technologies (NETs). Government initiatives endorse bioenergy as an alternative carbon-neutral energy source for fossil fuels. However, this carbon neutral assumption is increasingly being questioned, with several studies indicating that it may result in accounting errors and biased decision-making. To address this growing issue, we use a carbon budget model combined with an energy system model. We show that including forest sequestration in the energy system model alleviates the decarbonization effort. We discuss how a forest management strategy with high sequestration capacity reduces the need for expensive negative emission technologies. This study indicates the necessity of establishing the most promising forest management strategy before investing in bioenergy with carbon capture and storage (BECCS). Finally, we describe how a carbon neutrality assumption may lead to biased decision-making because it allows the model to use more biomass without being constrained

by biogenic CO2 emissions. The risk of biased decision-making is higher for regions that have lower forest coverage since available forest sequestration cannot sink biogenic emissions in the short-term, and importing bioenergy could worsen the situation.

Keywords: Negative emissions technologies; terrestrial sequestration; biogenic carbon; energy system decarbonization; TIMES model

3.1 Introduction

The current nationally determined contributions (NDCs) until 2030 make it impossible to limit warming to 1.5°C with no or limited overshoot, and make it more difficult to limit warming to 2°C after 2030 (Riahi et al., 2022). Climate change mitigation pathways that limit warming to 2°C or below require deep carbon dioxide removal through a large-scale transformation of the land surface, an increase in forest cover, and the deployment of negative emission technologies (NETs) (Riahi et al., 2022; Lecocq et al., 2022). Four NETs are ready for large-scale deployment, namely, afforestation/reforestation, changes in forest management, uptake and storage by agricultural soils, and bioenergy with carbon capture and storage (BECCS). These NETs incur low to moderate costs (\$100/t CO₂ or less) and have significant potential for safe scale-up from present implementation (NASEM, 2019). A low cost is defined as a range between 0-20 \$/t CO₂, while a moderate cost is defined as a range between 20-100 \$/t CO₂ (NASEM, 2019). Although, these costs for BECCS may be higher due to uncertainty regarding the parasitic energy load of CCS systems (Woolf, Lehmann et Lee, 2016; Fajardy et Mac Dowell, 2017). Direct air capture (DAC) is another emerging NET option, although its costs are still prohibitively high (NASEM, 2019; Babiker et al., 2022). Carbon storage through the increased usage and preservation of harvested wood products (HWP) is also an available nearterm approach for removing CO₂ (Churkina et al., 2020; Pomponi et al., 2020; Mishra et al., 2022; NASEM, 2019).

Carbon dioxide removal (CDR) can be accomplished through forestry practices such as intensifying afforestation/reforestation, and improving forest management strategies (NASEM, 2019). The major limitation of CDR through in forest carbon storage is the demand for wood that limits possible reductions in harvest rate, and the inability to fully implement forest management practices (NASEM, 2019). A forest managed for wood production may store less carbon than a forest that is left unharvested. However, disturbances may reduce the amount of carbon stored in unharvested boreal forests. Demand for wood can also support CDR via in-forest carbon storage as landowners maypre invest more in forest management (Favero, Baker, et al., 2023; Wade et al., 2022; Daigneault et al., 2022; Abt, Galik et Baker, 2022). While CO₂ sequestered by forestry practices can be stored for decades, the associated sinks will gradually become saturated (Riahi et al., 2022; Lecocq et al., 2022). BECCS plays an essential role in most climate change mitigation pathways limiting global temperature to 2°C or below (Hanssen et al., 2020). However, the deployment of BECCS must incorporate the numerous strategies in which forests and forest-related sectors contribute to CDR because there could be trade-offs between carbon sequestration, storage, and biomass production, as well as between short-term and long-term GHG reduction targets (Berndes et al., 2016). According to ref. (Hanssen et al., 2020), the IPCC's projected CO₂ sequestration through BECCS is achievable biophysically, although, given its extensive land requirements, a much more limited and earlier deployment was recommended.

Carbon that is taken up, sequestered, or released by biomass is known as biogenic carbon (Berndes *et al.*, 2016). Biogenic CO₂ emissions from bioenergy sources, according to the IPCC (Eggleston *et al.*, 2006), should not be included in the energy sector of national greenhouse gas inventories since all biogenic emissions and uptakes are accounted for in the Agriculture, Forestry, and Other Land-Use (AFOLU) sector. Accordingly, government initiatives endorse bioenergy as an alternative carbon-neutral energy source for fossil fuels (Liu *et al.*, 2017). This could lead to accounting errors in jurisdictions where carbon flows from the AFOLU sector are not included in GHG emissions inventories. Governments also rely on energy system models to explore potential decarbonization pathways. Biogenic CO₂ is assumed neutral in

many studies, including our latest one (Kouchaki-Penchah *et al.*, 2022) in which a technoeconomic model of the energy system is used to show that forest-based bioenergy is a feasible decarbonization pathway for regions, such as Canada, with a declining trend for traditional forest products. The carbon neutrality assumption might be acceptable when the rotation length of biomass is short such as annual crops. The assumption, however, may not remain true when the sequestration period is lengthy, as in the case of forest trees (Cherubini *et al.*, 2011; Guest *et al.*, 2013). Bioenergy systems can lead to positive, neutral, or negative effects on biogenic carbon stocks (Berndes *et al.*, 2016). The carbon-neutrality assumption is increasingly being questioned, with several studies indicating that it may result in accounting errors and biased decision-making (Berndes *et al.*, 2016; Liu *et al.*, 2017; Albers *et al.*, 2019).

Many studies (Head *et al.*, 2019; Smyth *et al.*, 2014; Smyth *et al.*, 2017; Werner *et al.*, 2010; Cintas et al., 2017; Gustavsson et al., 2017; Lamers et al., 2014; Moreau et al., 2022; Landry et al., 2021; Babí Almenar et al., 2023) have evaluated the role of forest management or bioenergy in climate change mitigation using modeling frameworks that simulate the dynamics of forest carbon stocks. However, these studies cannot assess the most cost-effective pathways to reduce GHG emissions. Several research efforts (Börjesson et al., 2014; Dodder et al., 2015; König, 2011; Panos et Kannan, 2016; Zhao et al., 2015; Jåstad et al., 2021; Hugues, Assoumou et Maizi, 2016; Levasseur et al., 2017; Vaillancourt, Bahn et Levasseur, 2019) have employed energy system models to examine the role of bioenergy while taking into account market competition among different pathways (see Kouchaki-Penchah et al. (2022)), but they usually disregard the dynamics of soil organic carbon and land use (Frank et al., 2015) and follow a carbon neutrality assumption. Several studies (Baker et al., 2019; Kim et al., 2018; Favero, Daigneault, et al., 2023; Favero, Baker, et al., 2023; Favero, Daigneault et Sohngen, 2020) have utilized the global timber model, a partial equilibrium model designed to optimize overall welfare in timber markets, to analyze the connection between long-term changes in biomass demand and carbon sequestration. Funk et al. (2022) used a combination of GLOBIOM, a bottom-up partial equilibrium model for the agriculture, forestry, and bioenergy sectors, and carbon flux data from the NASA Carbon Monitoring System to

investigate the magnitude and risks of unaccounted emissions. The study particularly focused on the demand for wood pellets under various levels of climate mitigation targets across major trading regions. The authors of the study discovered that bioenergy production could be advanced beyond the optimal level for the climate or the health of forests due to potential increases in unaccounted emissions from the harvest of biomass feedstocks, which are enabled by accounting rule artifacts. TIMES-MIRET, a partial-equilibrium model, has been used in combination with a dynamic biogenic carbon modeling tool to conduct a consequential life cycle assessment (LCA) of policy-driven transportation strategies for France (Albers *et al.*, 2019). In this case, the dynamic biogenic carbon modeling tool was used separately to calculate the biogenic carbon inventory of the biomass resources with long rotation lengths that had previously been fed into TIMES-MIRET. TIMES model has also been used combined with an environmentally extended input-output model to estimate indirect CO₂ emissions (Daly *et al.*, 2015), as well as LCA to fully assess the environmental impact of the energy system (Fernández Astudillo *et al.*, 2019).

Our work builds upon the full integration of the Carbon Budget Model of the Canadian Forest Sector (CBM-CFS3) (W.A. Kurz *et al.*, 2009), an aspatial, stand- and landscape-level modeling framework, and the North American TIMES Energy Model (NATEM) (Vaillancourt *et al.*, 2017), a bottom-up techno-economic model of the energy system, to overcome the limitations of the other approaches. We use the output of CBM-CFS3 to model forest management approaches that would lead to different biomass availability for bioenergy and net forest carbon stocks and emissions, to see if and how this biomass would be used within the energy system over the considered time horizon. In addition, we provide a detailed modeling of different forest-based bioenergy and BECCS pathways. In this manuscript, we consider the specific situation of the province of Quebec (Canada). GHG emissions and uptakes associated with different forest management and BECCS approaches from CBM-CFS3 are integrated into NATEM-Quebec to evaluate potential decarbonization pathways by 2050. It is the first time that biogenic CO₂ flows are being modeled in an energy system model like TIMES.

3.2 Methodological approach

3.2.1 Forest modeling framework

The forest analysis was carried out using the CBM-CFS3 model (W.A. Kurz et al., 2009) based on Moreau et al. (2023). It simulates the effects of land-use change and serves as a means to account for land-use change impacts under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) and Kyoto Protocol requirements and the according to IPCC's relevant guidelines. The CBM-CFS3 is a yield data-driven model that explicitly simulates the dynamics of forest carbon stocks and stock changes in above- and belowground biomass and dead organic matter pools. It also can simulate disturbances such as forest management operations, land-use change, wildfires, and insect outbreaks (see W. A. Kurz et al. (2009) for a detailed description). Ecosystems outside Canada (Duffy et al., 2021) can also benefit from the CBM-CFS3 by adjusting the default Canadian ecological parameters and data in the database powering the model. Provincial forest data for the Quebec region were acquired from the National Inventory Report (NIR) of Canada (Environment and Climate Change Canada, 2021). Detailed data on fire and spruce budworm (SBW), as natural disturbances prior to 2018, were implemented within the simulation. However, a mean value based on data from the previous decades was used for the 2019-2050 time horizon, owing to the inability to predict fire and SBW outbreaks; the approach is described in ref. Moreau et al. (2022).

3.2.2 TIMES modeling approach

The TIMES model is an evolution of the MARKAL model developed within the IEA ETSAP program that combines MARKAL and EFOM approaches (R Loulou, Goldstein, Kanudia, Lettila, et al., 2016). A bottom-up model uses a disaggregated approach to represent the energy system of a given jurisdiction, and is well suited to describe systems with emerging energy sources (Bahn, 2018). A detailed reference energy system (RES) is defined to describe

different energy carriers and technologies from primary energy production to final energy consumption. Demands for energy services are exogenously implemented to deploy a wide range of end-use technologies that use different types of final energy (Bahn et Vaillancourt, 2020). TIMES is cast as a linear programming model. It minimizes the loss of total surplus by concurrently making technology investment and operation, primary energy supply, and energy trade choices for each region (R Loulou, Goldstein, Kanudia, Lettila, et al., 2016), to satisfy final energy demands. Decision variables (energy technologies and commodities) denote choices to be made endogenously. Constraints here are the physical and logical interactions that must be addressed in order to accurately depict the entire energy sector (R Loulou, Goldstein, Kanudia, Lettila, et al., 2016). Nationally determined contributions and GHG emission reduction targets can also be implemented as policy constraints. See R Loulou, Goldstein, Kanudia et Leh, (2016) for a complete documentation of TIMES.

3.2.3 NATEM model

The North American TIMES Energy Model (NATEM) follows a TIMES approach to model the Canadian energy sector. NATEM includes 70 end-use demands for energy services in different agriculture, commercial, industrial, residential, and transportation sectors (see Vaillancourt et al. (2017)). A thorough representation of Quebec's energy system has been derived from NATEM in order to build a harmonized model with CBM-CFS3. The spatial scale of this sub-model, which we call NATEM-Quebec, covers the whole province, with data disaggregated by sub-regions. NATEM-Quebec is calibrated to a 2016 base year, with a 2060 time horizon divided into 9 periods and 16 annual time slices. A global yearly discount rate of 5% is applied (Vaillancourt, Bahn et Levasseur, 2019), and all costs are based on 2016 Canadian dollars (CAD). NATEM-Quebec comprises over 4000 different energy technologies, 800 commodities, and 700 user constraints. The VEDA2.0 model management system (KanORS-EMR, 2023), which provides input to the TIMES code, reads data and assumptions included in NATEM-Quebec. The TIMES code runs in the GAMS (GAMS, 2023) environment, resulting in an LP problem with over 300,000 equations and approximately

400,000 variables. The CPLEX solver is used to optimize this LP problem (KanORS-EMR, 2023).

3.2.4 Integration approach

Three forest management strategies were chosen for this study: FM1 depicts a business-asusual scenario, whereas FM2 and FM3 represent intensification and conservation scenarios, respectively. Conservation and intensification approaches were adopted based on an increasing or decreasing harvest volume gradient compared to a business-as-usual strategy. The FM1 strategy includes NIR-2018 dataset (Environment and Climate Change Canada, 2021) assumptions for Quebec, with minor modifications, to show the current provincial forest management strategy. FM2 delivers the maximum feedstocks, and the lowest forest carbon stock or carbon sequestration, whereas FM3 produces less biomass and higher carbon sequestration by reducing the harvest. In comparison to the business-as-usual strategy, the FM2 or residues strategy covers additional reforestation of 15,000 ha/year, up to 16 Mm³/year of extra harvest, a further commercial thinning of 10%, and an increased residues harvest of 1.2 Mtma/year. The FM3 strategy, with a smaller harvest, reduces the harvest volume to up to 10 Mm³/year through extracting less wood from the same area without changing rotation and reforestation as compared to business-as-usual (Moreau et al., 2023). The selected forest management strategies do not include any measures beyond reforestation to improve productivity in forest ecosystems. However, ref (Ménard, Thiffault, Kurz, et al., 2022; Ménard, Thiffault, Boulanger, et al., 2022) outline additional approaches for enhancing forest growth in Quebec. An intensification strategy can include increased clearcut harvesting and increased procurement of low-quality trees that are part of the allowable annual cut but have been left standing because their fiber does not meet the requirements of sawmills and pulp mills (Durocher et al., 2019). Accordingly, FM2 adheres to the provincial annual allowable cut, which is the maximum volume of industrial roundwood that can be sustainably harvested each year. The literature (Kurz et al., 2013; Paradis, Thiffault et Achim, 2019; Senez-Gagnon et al., 2018) has extensively demonstrated that clearcutting causes a phase of net emissions to

the atmosphere in boreal and northern temperate stands in the years following harvesting since the emissions resulting from decomposition are considerably higher than the annual sequestration driven by photosynthesis, a pattern that can persist for 10 to 30 years.



Figure 3.1 (a) Defined supply chain in NATEM, (b) reference energy system of forestbased bioenergy technologies with and without CCS (BIOF)

Carbon stocks in tC from the CBM-CFS3 model are converted into t wood using a generic value of 50% for wood carbon content (Wenzl, 1970). The biomass is distributed following the forest product supply chain shown in Figure 3.1(a) to meet the demands for primary and secondary industries, as well as bioenergy production. CBM-CFS3 results detailing the amount of carbon transferred to harvested wood products and bioenergy are input to the NATEM-Quebec model to investigate biomass usage in the energy system throughout the time horizon. A supply curve with relative availability and costs for each feedstock has been defined in NATEM-Quebec.

In this research, biogenic emissions of forest-based biomass along with extraction, transport, and manufacturing missions are modeled in NATEM for the first time. Other forms of biomass, such as annual crops and short rotation energy crops, are still assumed to be carbon neutral. This means that biogenic CO₂ released by combustion is considered absorbed from the atmosphere shortly before harvest. Biogenic carbon flows associated with these biomass sources could be added in the future to assess the climate mitigation potential of NETs related to the storage of carbon in agricultural soils (Agostini, Giuntoli et Boulamanti, 2014). Decomposition emissions occur in future years based on W.A. Kurz et al. (2009). These emissions happen when harvesting residues or low-quality roundwood are left in the forest (at no cost).

Techno-economic data for 94 forest-based bioenergy technologies with and without CCS from various literature sources are modeled in NATEM (BIOF). Figure 3.1(b) depicts the BIOF reference energy system used in NATEM. These technologies mainly use biochemical conversion processes such as fermentation, or thermochemical conversion processes such as gasification or pyrolysis methods. The present research also takes into account densification as a mechanical conversion process, as well as various forms of combined heat and power (CHP), boiler, electrolysis, and methane reforming as secondary conversion processes. Available bioenergies include cellulosic ethanol, butanol, methanol, and cellulosic liquified

petroleum gas, as well as pyrolysis oil, bio-crude oil, renewable diesel, FT diesel, wood pellet, syngas, hydrogen, bioheat, and electricity.

For bioenergy technologies without CCS, technologies from our previous study were used, and related costs updated (Kouchaki-Penchah *et al.*, 2022). For BECCS, post-combustion CCS (Berghout *et al.*, 2015) was coupled with bioenergy technologies from our previous study (Kouchaki-Penchah *et al.*, 2022) by adding required energy, extra investment costs, and fixed and variable operating costs of CCS to each of the technologies. In addition, three bioenergy technologies using pre-combustion CCS (Tock, 2013) were modeled. A CO₂ capture ratio of 90% was considered for Post-combustion CCS (Berghout *et al.*, 2015). Three CO₂ capture ratios were considered for pre-combustion CCS: 47%, 65%, and 67% (Tock, 2013). Even though recent studies (Cormos, 2023 ; Poluzzi, Guandalini et Romano, 2022) suggest higher capture efficiency of up to 98%, more conservative capture efficiencies were used to ensure comparability with other research studies. Complete techno-economic data may be found in the Supplementary_Information_BIOF.xlsx file. (Kouchaki-Penchah *et al.*, 2022) also describes bioenergy conversion pathways.

Previously, NATEM completely ignored biogenic CO_2 emissions as they were considered to be neutral. BECCS could capture CO_2 , and this "Captured CO_2 " was seen as a negative amount in total GHG emission calculations. In the present study, forest-based BECCS are no longer regarded as negative emission technologies as biogenic CO_2 from forest management, biomass combustion and decomposition are already accounted for. In this case, CCS allows avoiding a biogenic CO_2 emission instead of capturing CO_2 from the atmosphere.

This study takes into account two sets of scenarios. The first set evaluates the integration of alternative forest management strategies and biogenic carbon into NATEM, and the second examines the contribution of bioenergy and BECCS in attaining net-zero emissions by 2050. Scenario REF_CN presents a business-as-usual scenario without a net-zero emission target, forest management, biogenic carbon and forest-based BECCS. Scenario GHG CN adds GHG

emission reduction targets of 37.5% by 2030 (1990 level) and net-zero by 2050 to the REF_CN scenario. Accordingly, other scenarios were built by including/excluding forest management, biogenic carbon and forest-based BECCS (Table 3.1) to these two reference scenarios. Scenarios identified with "FM-CN" adopt a forest management strategy, but do not account for biogenic CO₂ emissions. In these cases, biomass availability for bioenergy depends on the forest management strategy, but the biogenic carbon balance is considered neutral. Scenarios identified with "NO-BIOF" exclude forest-based bioenergy and BECCS (in APPENDIX II (part A)) while accounting for biogenic CO₂ emissions.

Scenario	Forest management	Biogenic carbon	Carbon neutral	Forest-based BECCS	Net-zero emission by 2050
REF_CN			*		
REF_FM1	*	*		*	
REF_FM1_NO_BIOF	*	*			
REF_FM1_CN	*		*	*	
REF_FM2	*	*		*	
REF_FM2_NO_BIOF	*	*			
REF_FM2_CN	*		*	*	
REF_FM3	*	*		*	
REF_FM3_NO_BIOF	*	*			
REF_FM3_CN	*		*	*	
GHG_CN			*		*
GHG_FM1	*	*		*	*
GHG_FM1_NO_BIOF	*	*			*
GHG_FM1_CN	*		*	*	*
GHG_FM2	*	*		*	*
GHG_FM2_NO_BIOF	*	*			*
GHG_FM2_CN	*		*	*	*
GHG_FM3	*	*		*	*
GHG_FM3_NO_BIOF	*	*			*
GHG_FM3_CN	*		*	*	*

Table 3.1 Considered scenarios

3.3 Result analysis

3.3.1 Forest carbon management effects on GHG emission trajectories

Carbon neutral scenarios have higher net GHG emissions in the first years than scenarios considering biogenic carbon (Figure 3.2(a, b, c)) as the former ignore forest sequestration. Taking forest sequestration into account increases the model's ability to decarbonize the system. For example, in 2040, REF FM1 has a total GHG emission of 60 Mt CO₂-eq, while it is close to 70 Mt CO₂-eq for REF FM1 CN. In our view, this should not be interpreted as postponing decarbonization. It should rather be seen as an opportunity to flatten the GHG trajectories. REF FM2 shows higher GHG emissions than its carbon neutral counterpart (REF FM2 CN) after 2040 (Figure 3.2(b)) because available forest sequestration cannot entirely offset biogenic CO₂ emissions. Carbon stock decreases with intensification because logging creates a carbon debt, where emissions exceed sequestration. The dead organic matter in the ecosystem is being decomposed, and the photosynthesis from tree regeneration is not large enough to compensate. For example, it can take up to 30 years to achieve net ecosystem sequestration after a clear-cut in the boreal forest. Therefore, at the provincial level, an increase in logging operations can result in emissions for a couple of decades, as suggested by ref. (Moreau et al., 2023). This occurs later for FM1 and FM3 because of their higher sequestration capacities. Choosing a suitable forest management strategy with high sequestration capability provides an opportunity to alleviate the decarbonization effort. For instance, REF FM3 shows the lowest GHG emissions in 2050 (64.7 Mt CO₂-eq; Figure 3.2(c)) among reference scenarios, including a forest management strategy. This is because FM3 has the highest sequestration capability, reducing pressure on the energy system to achieve a net-zero emission by 2050 (GHG FM3). Including biogenic emissions allows the model to use available forest sequestration for difficult-to-decarbonize sectors such as the heavy industry in GHG scenarios in 2050 (see Figure A-II 1 in APPENDIX II). Therefore, it alleviates the reduction effort and provides policymakers with the flexibility to allocate negative emissions obtained from forest sequestration (e.g., through a system of carbon offsets)




Figure 3.2 Total net GHG emissions in Quebec, (a) FM1 (BAU),
(b) FM2 (intensification), (c) FM3 (conservation), (d) total GHG emissions by sector in Quebec under a carbon neutrality assumption

After 2030 (Figure 3.2(d)), GHG scenarios assuming biogenic carbon neutrality (GHG_CN, GHG_FM1_CN, and GHG_FM2_CN) rely on capturing and sequestering CO₂ from biomass consumption through BECCS, which is seen as a negative amount in GHG calculations. To achieve net-zero emissions in 2050, the need for DAC is inevitable and depends on available forest sequestration. For instance, in 2050, GHG_FM2_CN relies less on DAC (less than 1 Mt CO₂-eq) than other scenarios. This does not mean that the FM2 forest management strategy offers the best pathway in terms of lower investments in DAC since including biogenic emissions and uptakes (GHG_FM2) increases the need for DAC (18 Mt CO₂-eq). Therefore, disregarding biogenic carbon leads to biased decision-making. GHG_FM3 shows the lowest need for DAC (2 Mt CO₂-eq) among scenarios that consider biogenic CO₂ due to higher forest sequestration. In our view, this makes FM3 the most promising forest management strategy to achieve net-zero emissions by 2050, considering that DAC is facing practical barriers to a pace

of scale up. Figure A-II 2 and Figure A-II 3 in APPENDIX II illustrate total GHG emissions in Quebec by sector for the first and second sets of scenarios, respectively.

3.3.2 Implication for renewable energies and hydrogen

Figure 3.3(a) shows primary energy from hydroelectricity, biomass and other renewables (e.g., wind and solar). In 2050, other renewables account for more than 20% of total primary energy production in all GHG scenarios considering biogenic CO₂ emissions and uptakes. Also, the biomass share of total primary energy production is 12% and 11% for GHG_FM1 and GHG_FM3, respectively. Due to the high availability of feedstocks, this rises to 15% for GHG_FM2. The assumption of carbon neutrality increases biomass production between 34% to 45% for each GHG scenario with a forest management strategy depending on the available biomass. As a reminder, in carbon-neutral scenarios, there are no biogenic CO₂ emissions, and even using biomass may result in negative emissions (BECCS). Except for GHG_FM3_CN, which confronts a scarcity of biomass supply, biomass is anticipated to grow in the carbon neutral GHG reduction scenario compared to the REF_CN scenario in 2050.



Figure 3.3 Energy production and consumption in Quebec, (a) primary energy production, (b) final energy consumption

Other energy sources such as crude oil, coal and natural gas are imported into Quebec. In 2050, total primary energy consumption reduces in GHG_FMx scenarios compared to respective REF_FMx scenarios (Figure A-II 4 in APPENDIX II). When compared to the corresponding reference scenarios, the portion of fossil fuel-based energy sources in GHG scenarios decreases. However, the decrease pace differs for each GHG scenario, resulting in a diverse rate of increase for renewable and bioenergy consumption. GHG_FM2, for example, has the highest increase in biomass and bioenergy consumption, leading to a lower reduction in total primary energy consumption than other GHG_FMx scenarios.

In 2050 (Figure 3.3(b)), total energy consumption in REF and GHG scenarios are around 2,080 EJ and 1,600 EJ, respectively. Bioenergy, coal and waste fuel, natural gas, and oil product usage in GHG scenarios decrease while the consumption of electricity and hydrogen form carbon-free sources increases compared to relative REF scenarios. The reduction in final energy consumption is due to the adoption of alternative and more efficient technologies that utilize electricity or hydrogen as energy sources. Hydrogen production and consumption are also illustrated in Figure A-II 5.

3.3.3 The carbon neutrality assumption leads to biased decision-making

Figure 3.4(a) displays total biomass output per forest management strategy between 2030 and 2050. The quantity of biomass produced in scenarios that use the same forest management strategy is the same, but the amount of unused residues or biomass left in the forest to decompose varies as a function of the constraints and assumptions used (Figure 3.4(b)). Decomposition emissions occur in future years as a result of residues left in the forest. Unused residues do not appear in scenarios following a carbon neutrality assumption because there is no penalty (biogenic emissions) for consuming the biomass. In 2030, GHG_FM2 and GHG_FM2_NO_BIOF are the only scenarios with unused residues. Because of the abundant available feedstock in FM2 compared to other forest management strategies, reference

scenarios of FM2 leave extra residues in the forest in 2040. In addition to previous scenarios, unused residues occur in GHG_FM1_NO_BIOF in 2050. The biomass is distributed in accordance with the supply chain (Figure 3.1(a)) to meet the needs of primary and secondary industries, as well as bioenergy production.

The main difference between assuming or not assuming carbon neutrality is that emissions are higher in the short term without carbon neutrality. In 2050 (Figure 3.4(c)), taking biogenic emissions into account results in a reduction of around 25%, 34%, and 24% of bioenergy usage for GHG scenarios with FM1, FM2, and FM3, respectively. Except for biodiesel and black liquor, most bioenergies experience a reduction to meet the demand in the industrial sector. Solid biomass provides the required heat and electricity in industrial, commercial, and residential sectors or as a feedstock to produce hydrogen. In 2050, only GHG_FMx_CN scenarios use syngas. In GHG_FM1_CN, syngas consumption hits a peak of 3.7 PJ. The carbon neutrality assumption enables the model to use more biomass or bioenergy without being constrained by biogenic CO₂ emissions and as available sequestration in future years cannot balance biogenic CO₂ emissions, leading to biased decision-making.



Figure 3.4 Alternative forest management strategies, (a) available feedstock in each forest management strategy, (b) unused forest residues and decomposition emissions, (c) impact of forest management strategies and carbon neutrality on bioenergy consumption

3.3.4 Importance of forest management strategy over BECCS

Figure A-II 7 in APPENDIX II shows different technologies (BIOF) and bioenergy mixes for each scenario. Including biogenic carbon affects the solution through choosing alternative BECCS and bioenergies (a detailed description is given in SI). For instance, syngas production through gasification is only activated in scenarios assuming carbon neutrality, and the amount of syngas produced varies depending on GHG emissions and uptakes associated with different forest management strategies.

Excluding BIOF (new forest-based bioenergy and BECCS) from scenarios reduces bioenergy consumption (see Figure A-II 8). In 2050, a reduction of around 8%, 20%, and less than 1% of bioenergy usage are projected for GHG scenarios with FM1, FM2, and FM3, respectively. Major reductions occur in wood pellet, solid wood and black liquor consumption. Bioenergy usage reduction for GHG_FM3_NO_BIOF is insignificant because the GHG_FM3 scenario does not use wood pellets as a source of energy in 2050. By discarding BIOF, the need for biomass reduces and the mass of unused residues increases (Figure 3.4(b); particularly for GHG_FM2_NO_BIOF in 2050). Of note though, the magnitude of the reduction can be different depending on the available biomass. Therefore, it is necessary to establish the most promising forest management strategy before investing in BECCS.

3.3.5 Forest sequestration decreases marginal abatement costs

Including biogenic carbon leads to a lower GHG abatement cost before 2040 for GHG_FM2 and before 2045 for GHG_FM1 and GHG_FM3 scenarios compared to GHG_FMx_CN scenarios (Figure 3.5(a)). This is due to the fact that biogenic CO₂ emissions for biomass and biofuel usage are taken into account, as well as to decreased forest sequestration capacity after

2045 (Figure 3.2(d)). In 2040, FM2 offers the lowest sequestration capacity and cannot offset biogenic CO₂ emissions in GHG_FM2 versus FM1 and FM3 forest management strategies in GHG_FM1 and GHG_FM3, respectively. When biogenic emissions are ignored, the marginal abatement cost of GHG_FMx_CN scenarios follows nearly identical trends. However, abundant available feedstocks in FM2, which can generate negative emissions via BECCS, result in lower marginal costs for GHG_FM2_CN than other carbon-neutral GHG scenarios. GHG_FM3 has slightly higher GHG mitigation costs than GHG_FM1 and GHG_FM2, due to a shortage of biomass supply and the need to import biomass at a high price.

Total bioenergy import (Figure 3.5(b)) decreases when considering biogenic carbon (GHG FMx), while bioenergy export (Figure 3.5(c)) increases. Solid biomass is imported to cover the gap in each forest management strategy. Imported solid biomass, renewable diesel, and ethanol are expected to drop in 2050 GHG scenarios that take biogenic carbon into account. Biojet and biomethane become part of biofuels to be exported in 2050 GHG scenarios considering biogenic carbon. Wood pellet exports increase as well in comparison to GHG scenarios assuming carbon neutrality. Importing bioenergy involves no production emissions, which may be seen as burden shifting, and is the primary rationale for not activating some technologies capable of supplying these portions of bioenergy. It might also be attributed to a low import price. Therefore, a sensitivity analysis was performed on the import price of biofuel. Because all three GHG scenarios with a forest management strategy show a similar trade profile in 2050, GHG FM3 in 2050 was chosen for this sensitivity analysis. A 50% increase in import/export prices yields the same bioenergy consumption profile, while a 50% reduction results in importing bioethanol (8565 TJ) and the same bioenergy consumption profile. Even though bioethanol is only used in the transportation sector in GHG FM3, additional imported bioethanol is used for agriculture, commercial, and industrial purposes if the import price is reduced. The bioenergy trade profile is therefore not sensitive to an import/export price increase of 50% or less since it remains a competitive option, but a 50% price reduction would lead to higher bioethanol imports, which constitutes a potential burden shifting as the model does not account for imported fuel process emissions.



Figure 3.5 (a) Marginal mitigation costs (CAD per tCO₂-eq) for different scenarios, (b) bioenergy import and (c) bioenergy export in Quebec

3.4 Discussion

This study shows that the assumption of carbon neutrality could lead to biased decision-making when analyzing global and national roadmaps to net-zero CO₂ emissions by 2050. We used the province of Quebec as a case study to demonstrate how the assumption of carbon neutrality leads to a biased decision. After 100 years, around 60% of the carbon emitted from the combustion of residual biomass is removed from the atmosphere and returned to the biosphere (Adetona et Layzell, 2023). Assuming carbon neutrality in GHG calculations by ignoring biogenic CO₂ emissions can lead to underestimation of the true emissions impact. This is because it could take more than 100 years for the emitted carbon to be fully removed from the atmosphere. Hence, if biogenic CO2 emissions are included in GHG calculations, the emissions impact of biomass consumption is higher in the short term compared to when they are ignored. However, over the long term, both approaches result in equal emissions impact. Regions with lower forest coverage or sequestration potential risk more biased decisions since available forest sequestration cannot sink biogenic emissions in the short term. They will not produce forest bioenergy because they do not have available resources, but they could rely on imports. Importing bioenergy from regions that do not account for carbon loss associated with biomass harvest may exacerbate the situation for these regions by increasing biogenic emissions without the ability to sink them in the short term. In 2021, 44 countries submitted their national inventory reports (NIRs) to the UNFCCC (UNFCCC, 2021). These reports are usually generated using a carbon budget model. TIMES is used by over 80 institutions in 63 countries (Bahn et Vaillancourt, 2020; IEA-ETSAP, 2023). The proposed integrated approach could be adopted in any of the countries using a TIMES approach together with a carbon budget model. Additionally, the detailed approach used for modeling forest-based bioenergy and BECCS may be easily extended to different regional contexts by updating related costs.

Choosing climate targets of 37.5% by 2030 and net-zero by 2050 based on the 1990 level (with biogenic carbon neutrality) for scenarios considering biogenic carbon (GHG_FMx, GHG_FMx_NO_BIOF) might be debatable. Biogenic carbon must be included when computing 1990 GHG emission levels by adding biogenic CO₂ emissions of bioenergy consumption and forest net emission. To address this issue, we added forest sequestration from each forest management strategy at the start of the time horizon and biogenic emissions from the related reference scenario to the 1990 GHG emission level.

A circular economy is envisioned for HWPs usage in the future. It implies that at the end of their lifetime, HWPs are transformed to another product (no biogenic emission) or energy (biogenic emission) rather than ending up in a landfill. To consider HWPs decomposition emissions over time, one would need to use a modeling framework for HWPs, which is beyond the scope of this paper. This study does not take into account either the substitution effect of using HWPs instead of non-wood materials such as cement and steel. Future research could include HWPs and substituted materials in the model.

One can question Quebec's high forest sequestration compared to Canada's projected LULUCF of -11 Mt CO₂-eq in 2030 (Environment and Climate Change Canada, 2022). This is because forest sequestration in our study does not consider biomass combustion emissions. It shows forest net emissions, extraction, transport, and manufacturing emissions, and residue decomposition. NATEM accounts for biomass combustion emissions by using biomass as a source of energy. Almost half of the produced HWPs returns to the model to be used as a source of energy and the other half is assumed to be sequestered permanently. Furthermore, while some regions of Canada have a high capacity for carbon sequestration, others are net emitters (Smyth *et al.*, 2017). This research only considers forest sequestration as a component of LULUCF, and excludes cropland, grassland, wetlands, and settlements, which are beyond the scope of this study. Other LULUCF as potential CDR strategies could be added to the energy system model.

CDR strategies through measures in agriculture, forestry and other land use could be sustained for decades, but not for very long because these sinks will eventually saturate (Riahi et al., 2022; Lecocq et al., 2022). This is observed in this analysis, as forest sequestration decreases at the end of the time horizon. The current setup of NATEM-Quebec does incentivize to delay biogenic emissions after 2050, and therefore, any results may turn out to be suboptimal as soon as post-2050 targets are defined. We acknowledge this as a limitation of this study, which will be addressed in a forthcoming study. The data from the previous decades used to calculate the disturbance rate in Canadian forests might not accurately represent the future disturbance rate as recent years have shown a significant increase (NRCan, 2022). Further research is recommended to examine increased levels of disturbances, particularly in a changing climate projected to significantly impact forest disturbance patterns (Seidl et al., 2017). The current setup of NATEM-Quebec allows leaving additional residues in the forest without considering the potential for increased fire risk. We acknowledge this limitation of the developed integrated approach, which will be addressed in a forthcoming study by incorporating feedback from NATEM-Quebec into the CBM-CFS3 model. Besides a business-as-usual forest management scenario, only two strategies were selected for this study to reflect intensification and conservation. Since different forest management strategies lead to different outcomes, as observed in this article, other forest management strategies and terrestrial sequestration approaches could be integrated into the energy system model to obtain a more comprehensive result. Integrated assessment models (IAMs) could also help to identify efficient pathways for future work, as they model cost-effective strategies for achieving specific climate targets while taking into account intersectoral competition for biomass and land carbon balances related to land use and biomass provision.

3.5 Conclusion

Taking forest sequestration into account can help alleviate the decarbonization effort by flattening GHG trajectories and allowing policymakers to use available forest sequestration for difficult-to-decarbonize sectors. We recommend including biogenic CO₂ emissions in NDC

since excluding them affects the solution. It can also affect the solution through choosing alternative BECCS. It is necessary to identify the most promising forest management strategy before investing in BECCS because the model employs various methods of biomass utilization based on available biomass and the sequestration potential. When available, forest sequestration cannot offset biogenic CO₂ emissions, and GHG abatement costs increase exponentially. Including biogenic emissions reduces biomass and bioenergy usage in GHG scenarios. Therefore, assuming biogenic carbon neutrality may result in biased decisionmaking because it allows the model to use more biomass without being constrained by biogenic CO₂ emissions. We may not be able to invest in BECCS, DAC or other negative emission technologies in the short-term, but we can shift to forest management strategies that carry a lower cost than other NETs to make it easier to limit warming to 2°C after 2030 and achieve net-zero emissions by 2050. The goal of net-zero emissions by 2050 can be achieved by improving energy efficiency using technological alternatives, decarbonization of electricity generation, massive electrification, and deployment of negative emission technologies such as forest management strategies with high forest sequestration. We believe more stringent emission reduction targets could be adopted before 2030. Hence, we recommend that the Canadian forest sector be fully integrated into NATEM in order to allow a successful planning of the next steps for clean air and a strong economy. It is also recommended that countries with a significant forest industry include a detailed forest sector in a bottom-up energy model.

CHAPTER 4

THE ROLE OF HYDROGEN IN A NET-ZERO EMISSION ECONOMY UNDER ALTERNATIVE POLICY SCENARIOS

Hamed Kouchaki-Penchah^a, Olivier Bahn^b, Hamed Bashiri^c, Serge Bedard^c, Etienne Bernier^c, Thomas Elliot^a, Abdelaziz Hammache^c, Kathleen Vaillancourt^d, Annie Levasseur^a

 ^a École de Technologie Supérieure, Department of Construction Engineering, 1100 Notre-Dame West, Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3C 1K3
 ^b GERAD and Department of Decision Sciences, HEC Montréal, Montreal, Quebec, Canada
 ^c Industrial Systems Optimization group, CanmetENERGY- Varennes, Natural Resources Canada (NRCan), Varennes, Quebec, Canada
 ^d ESMIA Consultants, Blainville, Quebec, Canada

Paper published in International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, in July 2023

Abstract

Low emission and green hydrogen as a carbon-free energy carrier has attracted worldwide attention in decarbonizing the energy system and meeting the Paris agreement target of limiting warming to 2°C or below. This study investigates the contribution of different hydrogen pathways to the energy transition and sheds light on adopting different decarbonization scenarios for Quebec, Canada, while including biogenic emissions from forest-based biomass consumption. We assess various alternative policy scenarios using a TIMES model for North America (NATEM), a bottom-up techno-economic approach. This study examines the role of various hydrogen pathways in Quebec's energy transition by considering different net-zero policy scenarios and an additional set of "green" scenarios, which prohibit the use of fossil fuel-based hydrogen. The results show that varying the penetration of hydrogen provides a key trade-off between reliance on direct air capture, reliance on carbon storage, reliance on wind and solar buildout, the inter-sector allocation of residual emissions, and the overall cost of achieving emission targets. In particular, the use of hydrogen in the industrial sector, a sector

known to be difficult to decarbonize, reduces industrial emissions and reliance on direct air capture (DAC). Clustering industrial plants to use captured CO₂ as a feedstock for synthetic fuel production may not reduce industrial GHG emissions by 2050, but it offers the opportunity to use captured CO₂ instead of sequestering it in deep saline aquifers. Even though increasing industrial green hydrogen penetration increases marginal GHG abatement costs in the green net-zero scenario by 2050, it further minimizes industrial GHG emissions and the need for DAC among all net-zero scenarios by 2050. Hydrogen plays a significant role in achieving ambitious net-zero emission target, especially where electrification is not feasible, or electricity storage is required.

Keywords: Net-zero emission; energy system decarbonization; TIMES model; hydrogen

4.1 Introduction

Hydrogen is increasingly being considered in different countries' roadmaps to meet the Paris agreement's target of limiting warming to 2°C or less. These include the United States (FCHEA, 2021), the United Kingdom (Department for Business E& IS, 2021), the European Union (European Commission, 2020), Japan (METI, 2019), Australia (COAG Energy Council, 2019), and Canada (NRCan, 2020). Global hydrogen production in 2021 reached 94 million tonnes, primarily through natural gas reforming without carbon capture, utilization, and storage (CCUS), releasing more than 900 Mt CO₂ into the atmosphere (IEA, 2022). Less than 1% of this hydrogen was produced using fossil fuels with CCUS or electricity and the rest was produced via coal gasification, oil, and as a by-product of naphtha reforming at refineries.

The hydrogen produced by natural gas reforming is known as grey hydrogen. Combining this process with CCUS results in lower process emissions and is called blue hydrogen. Green hydrogen is produced using renewable electricity in electrolyzers (Razi et Dincer, 2022). Gasification of biomass could also be considered as another method for producing green hydrogen. Combining biomass gasification with CCS (BECCS) results in negative emissions

(if the biomass source is carbon neutral) (NASEM, 2019; Capurso *et al.*, 2022). Blue and green hydrogen have attracted attention, primarily because of the ability to minimize reliance on fossil fuels, improve energy security, and decarbonize the energy system (IEA, 2022). Biomass-based hydrogen generation, however, faces technological and economic challenges stemming from low efficiency and impurity issues (Hamedani Rajabi *et al.*, 2016).

Several studies have assessed the role of hydrogen in climate change mitigation. Bauer et al. (2022) assessed the climate impact of blue hydrogen using a process simulation coupled with a life cycle assessment. Results showed that blue hydrogen could have a range of climate impacts depending on the rate of CH₄ emissions in natural gas production, the ratio of CO₂ captured during hydrogen production, and the metric used to quantify global warming. Combining a high CO₂ capture ratio with a low CH₄ emission rate could make blue hydrogen suitable for economies moving toward zero emissions, while showing climate change impacts comparable to the upper range of electrolysis using renewable electricity. Hermesmann and Müller (2022) also analyzed environmental impacts of different hydrogen production processes using a life cycle approach. They showed that upstream flows such as power generation and natural gas production greatly influence the environmental impacts of hydrogen production technologies. However, these studies lack techno-economic modeling, preventing a clear understanding of potential penetration of hydrogen in the energy system.

Net zero studies based on Energy-Environment-Economy (E3) models provide additional insight on which combinations of end-use technologies provide economically optimal paths towards full decarbonization, including hydrogen technologies but also competing energy efficiency, bioenergy, carbon capture and direct electrification technologies. Many research projects look at hydrogen more specifically, using E3 models in the TIMES (Loulou, Lehtilä, *et al.*, 2016) family and following a carbon neutrality assumption. For instance, Blanco et al. (2018) used the JRC-EU-TIMES model to assess the role of hydrogen and synthetic liquid fuels in the European GHG reduction strategy. The results show that factors with the largest impact are the GHG reduction target, biomass, and geologic CO₂ sequestration availabilities.

Espegren et al., (2021) assessed the role of hydrogen in Norway's energy transition using three analytical perspectives, including an energy systems perspective with a TIMES model. Renewable energy and hydrogen were identified as essential components in decarbonizing Norwegian transportation and industrial sectors. Yang et al. (2022) used a TIMES-based energy system optimization model (China-MAPLE) to investigate the role of hydrogen in difficult-to-decarbonize sectors of heavy industries and heavy-duty transportation in China. According to the findings, clean hydrogen can be used as an energy carrier and feedstock in decarbonizing heavy industry, as well as a fuel for up to half of the Chinese transportation sector. Using TIAM-ECN, a TIMES-based model, van der Zwaan et al. (2021) investigated the export of electricity and hydrogen from North Africa to Europe. They found solar power could be produced in significant quantities of renewable electricityin North Africa and to be economically transmitted to Europe, or it could be converted to hydrogen via electrolysis and transported to the Eurozone via pipeline. In the Net-Zero America study (Larson et al., 2021), which relies on the EnergyPATHWAYS and RIO models, hydrogen plays a significant role in seasonally balancing the grid by the late 2040s, through intermittent electrolysis, intermittent hydrogen steam boilers (alternating with electrical ones), and hydrogen use in natural gas power plants, across all net zero scenarios. The largest part of hydrogen, however, is produced via biomass gasification with CO₂ capture and storage (BECCS) in most net zero scenarios. Electrofuel production is a major consumer of hydrogen only in scenarios restricting direct electrification or CO₂ storage. The International Energy Agency Net Zero by 2050 Roadmap (IEA, 2021), using the WEM and ETP models, finds comparable uses of hydrogen, with more emphasis on direct use of hydrogen and ammonia as transportation fuels, while biomass is directed more towards solid fuel applications. BECCS is entirely absent as a source of hydrogen; it is not specified whether this is because the technology is absent from the model, because the optimizer has chosen not to use it, or because the different geographical and policy aspects of the model penalize it. In another example, a study done for Quebec (Dunsky et ESMIA, 2021), using a variant of the model used in the present study (NATEM), concludes in a somewhat limited use of hydrogen in the context of the hydroelectricity-rich province. It is produced entirely using BECCS, serves primarily the industrial and transportation sectors, and

is presented more as an economic source of negative emissions than as an important replacement fuel. Interestingly, two scenarios that respectively allow and deny negative emissions, but are otherwise nearly identical in their input assumptions, show a major shift as to whether biomass should optimally be allocated to produce hydrogen or liquid fuels. Overall, there is a significant disagreement between modelling-based studies about the extent to which hydrogen is necessary or useful to fully decarbonize at the lowest possible cost, and about the relevance of negative emissions provided by BECCS in that context. The development of E3 models is ongoing, which contributes to an improved understanding of the efficient allocation of scarce renewable resources such as forest residue.

The relevant literature has been extensively researched, and numerous papers, such as those mentioned above, have investigated the role of hydrogen towards a net-zero economy using E3 models and TIMES in particular. However, this is the first regional (Quebec, Canada) techno-economic study of different hydrogen pathways that considers GHG emissions and uptakes associated with forest management and BECCS, as well as biogenic CO₂ flows. This allows to obtain more explicit results on the contribution of different emerging hydrogen technologies, in particular biomass-based (green) hydrogen, as the assumption of carbon neutrality for forest biomass could lead to accounting errors and biased decision-making, for example by over-allocating forest residue to BECCS hydrogen production, when it could instead be optimal to leave them in the forest (Kouchaki-Penchah, Bahn, Vaillancourt, *et al.*, 2023 ; Berndes *et al.*, 2016).

This paper is structured as follows. The undertaken modelling approach is presented in section 2, along with the available hydrogen pathways and alternative policy scenarios. Section 3 reveals the key findings while providing further details in the supplementary information. Section 4 discusses the outcomes of this study, and Section 5 provides a summary and conclusion.

4.2 Methodological approach

4.2.1 TIMES modeling approach

The TIMES model is an upgraded version of the MARKAL model combined with the EFOM method, which was developed under the IEA ETSAP program (Loulou, Goldstein, Kanudia, Lettila et Remme, 2016). This type of bottom-up model is useful for representing energy systems in a specific region and is particularly effective for depicting systems that are using new or emerging energy sources (Bahn, 2018). In this model, a detailed reference energy system (RES) is established to illustrate various energy carriers and technologies that span from primary energy production to final energy consumption. The demands for energy services are externally introduced to facilitate the use of a diverse range of end-use technologies that rely on different forms of final energy (Bahn et Vaillancourt, 2020). The TIMES model is designed as a linear programming model that simultaneously determines technology investment and operation, primary energy supply, and energy trade decisions for each region, while minimizing total surplus loss and meeting final energy demands (Loulou, Goldstein, Kanudia, Lettila et Remme, 2016). The model's decision variables represent choices that must be made endogenously, such as the selection of specific energy technologies and commodities. Model constraints capture the physical and logical interactions that must be considered to accurately model the entire energy sector (Loulou, Goldstein, Kanudia, Lettila et Remme, 2016). For a complete documentation of the TIMES model, please refer to (Loulou, Goldstein, Kanudia, Lettila et Uwe Remme, 2016).

4.2.2 NATEM model

The North American TIMES Energy Model (NATEM) models the Canadian energy sector using a TIMES approach. NATEM encompasses 70 different end-use demands for energy services across various sectors, such as agriculture, commercial, industrial, residential, and transportation (Vaillancourt *et al.*, 2017). For this study, a comprehensive depiction of Quebec's energy system has been derived from NATEM. The sub-model, known as NATEM-Quebec, covers the entire province and utilizes data that is disaggregated by sub-regions. NATEM-Quebec is calibrated to a 2016 base year and has a time horizon of 2060, which is divided into 9 periods and 16 annual time slices. All costs are expressed in 2016 Canadian dollars and a global yearly discount rate of 5% is applied (Vaillancourt, Bahn et Levasseur, 2019). More than 4000 different energy technologies, 800 commodities, and 700 user constraints are included in NATEM-Quebec. This version of the model also includes different forest-based bioenergy pathways and accounts for forest carbon sequestration and biogenic emissions associated with forest biomass and bioenergy consumption, see (Kouchaki-Penchah, Bahn, Vaillancourt, *et al.*, 2023 ; Kouchaki-Penchah *et al.*, 2022). The VEDA2.0 model management system (KanORS-EMR, 2022) obtains input from NATEM-Quebec, which contains data and assumptions. Subsequently, the TIMES code is executed in the GAMS environment (GAMS, 2023), generating a linear programming problem comprising of over 300,000 equations and approximately 400,000 variables. The linear programme is optimized using the CPLEX solver (KanORS-EMR, 2022).

4.2.3 Hydrogen production pathways

NATEM includes a variety of hydrogen and ammonia production technologies, with and without CCS, as well as a detailed distribution network, storage technologies, and a wide range of options for use in each sector of the energy system.

4.2.3.1 Steam reforming (SR)

Steam reforming of hydrocarbons stands as the leading industrial process for hydrogen and synthesis gases production. The prevalent used raw materials are natural gas and lighter hydrocarbons, methanol, and other oxygenated hydrocarbons. In this process, synthetic gas that contains mainly carbon monoxide and hydrogen is first produced. Subsequently, via the water–gas shift reaction, carbon monoxide is converted to carbon dioxide and additional

hydrogen. For instance, overall, each molecule of methane is converted to a molecule of carbon dioxide and 4 molecules of hydrogen by 2 molecules of water (steam). This reaction is highly endothermic, and a large amount of high-temperature (800-1000 °C) heat is required (Farnell, 2016). Conventional industrial reformers consist of numerous fixed-bed tubes that contain nickel catalyst particles and are housed within gas-fired furnaces. However, these industrial fixed-bed steam reformers exhibit various disadvantages that significantly impact their operation and performance. These drawbacks include thermodynamic equilibrium limitations, carbon formation on the catalyst, a large temperature gradient, and low heat transfer rates, which seriously affect their operation and performance. Fluidized bed reactors present viable alternatives for conducting reforming reactions. By utilizing a solid catalyst as a heat carrier within the fluidized bed reformer, a more uniform temperature distribution can be achieved, effectively addressing the issue of hot spots commonly observed in fixed bed reactors. Fluidized bed reactors offer significant advantages such as enhanced heat transfer, improved catalyst bed uniformity, and elimination of diffusion limitations within the catalyst. Additionally, these reactors enable the continuous introduction of fresh catalyst into the reformer and facilitate the catalyst regeneration process (Bashiri et al., 2014). Hydrogen purification in hydrogen plants is achieved using the pressure swing adsorption system. This system has the capability to generate hydrogen with a purity of up to 99.999%, while achieving a recovery of 70-95% (Megia et al., 2021).

4.2.3.2 Partial oxidation (POx)

POx involves the combustion of a hydrocarbon fuel such as natural gas with a limited supply of oxygen to produce a syngas mixture, consisting of carbon monoxide, hydrogen, and other trace gases. The syngas mixture produced by POx typically has a higher concentration of carbon monoxide that can be further processed to produce more hydrogen gas through a variety of methods, such as water-gas shift reactions. POx process is typically operated a about 950 °C for methane and light hydrocarbon in the presence of catalyst and about 1300 °C for methane and heavy oil and coal without using any catalyst which can lead to more efficient conversion

of the feedstock to hydrogen gas (Steinberg et Cheng, 1989). Although it is an expensive process, mainly due to the desulphurization and oxygen recirculation step, it remains the most promising technology for producing hydrogen from heavier fossil hydrocarbon such as heavy oil residues and coal.

4.2.3.3 Auto thermal reforming (ATR)

ATR combines the processes of POx and steam reforming in a single reactor, using a controlled mixture of oxygen, steam, and hydrocarbon fuel to produce a syngas mixture. More precisely, the heat required by steam reforming comes from the partial oxidation of the hydrocarbon fuel in the ATR process. While ATR requires a higher amount of oxygen supply than POx, in order to maintain the desired reaction conditions, it typically operates at lower temperatures and pressures than POx. The ATR process is yet to become commercially available on a large scale (Ji et Wang, 2021).

4.2.3.4 Pyrolysis

Pyrolysis involves the thermal or thermocatalytic decomposition of a wide range of feedstocks such as liquid hydrocarbons under specific conditions and in an oxygen-free environment to produce hydrogen . Pyrolysis often does not require CO₂ removal steps; therefore, its capital cost can be lower compared to SMR and POx technologies leading to a lower hydrogen production cost. The low partial pressure of hydrogen in the gas mixture produced is a significant drawback of this technology, as it poses a challenge to the purification steps (Muradov, 2001).

4.2.3.5 Gasification

Gasification is a promising technology for the utilization of various feedstocks, particularly biomass, to produce energy and added-value products such as hydrogen (Bashiri, Ashrafi et

Navarri, 2021). Biomass gasification is a thermochemical process that converts biomass into a gaseous fuel called syngas, using a gasification medium such as air, oxygen, and/or steam. The process occurs at temperatures ranging from 500 to 1400 °C and operating pressures that can range from atmospheric to 33 bar, depending on the plant scale and final application of the produced syngas. The types of reactors used for biomass gasification are classified according to the flow and velocity of the gasifying agent, with fixed bed, fluidized bed, and indirect gasifiers being the most common. The syngas produced by biomass gasification contains a mixture of primary components, including carbon monoxide (CO), hydrogen (H₂), carbon dixide (CO₂), methane (CH₄) and water vapor (H₂O), as well as secondary components such as tar (aromatic hydrocarbon species), particulate matter, sulphur compounds, hydrochloric acid, ammonia, hydrogen cyanide, isocyanic acid, nitrogenous compounds, and alkali metal species. The characteristics of the feedstock, the design of the gasifier, the choice of gasifying agents, and the specific operating conditions of the gasification process collectively determine the composition of the resulting syngas, including the presence and levels of impurities. To separate hydrogen in high concentration from other components in the syngas mixture, the produced syngas must undergo multiple conversion and purification steps. The purification of syngas presents a major challenge for the commercial-scale implementation of the gasification process, mainly due to the high capital and operating costs involved (Bashiri et al., 2018; Nikolaidis et Poullikkas, 2017).

4.2.3.6 Water electrolysis

Hydrogen production by electrolysis of water, which requires electrical energy, is a wellestablished endothermic process. Although it is currently used for small-scale industrial hydrogen production, it has great potential for future large-scale hydrogen production, given the increasing availability of renewable energy sources (IRENA, 2023). The process of water electrolysis relies on an electrolyzer, which can be categorized into different types based on the electrolytes employed. The most common types of electrolyzers used for water electrolysis are alkaline electrolysis (AEL), polymer electrolyte membrane (PEM) electrolysis, alkaline anion exchange membrane (AEM) electrolysis, and solid oxide electrolysis (SOEL) (Nazir *et al.*, 2020).

AEL and PEM electrolysis are typically carried out at temperatures ranging from 50 to 90 °C (Carmo *et al.*, 2013). These two electrolysis technologies are well-established and widely implemented in commercial hydrogen production plants. Compared to AEL, PEM electrolysis has several advantages such as a more compact system design and higher current density. While PEM electrolysis is more energy efficient than AEL, it requires the use of noble metal electrodes such as iridium, ruthenium, and platinum, whereas AEL can utilize less expensive nickel-based or iron-based electrodes. AEM electrolysis employs a low-concentration alkaline solution or water as its electrolyte, in contrast to the high-concentration KOH utilized in AEL. Although still in its early stages of development, AEM shares a similar principle to PEM electrolysis, with the main difference being the charge carriers. Additionally, the lower equipment cost of AEM may contribute to its potential for higher commercial value.

SOEL operates at a higher temperature range of 500 to 1000 °C and utilizes both electricity and heat to drive the water decomposition reaction, resulting in higher energy efficiency compared to AEL and PEM electrolysis. While SOEL is not yet reached commercial availability for hydrogen production, its inverse process capability (solid oxide fuel cells) and the projected low cost (by 2050) indicate promising prospects for its future potential (Ji et Wang, 2021).

4.2.4 Alternative policy scenarios

This study considers six main scenarios to examine the role of different hydrogen pathways in Quebec's energy transition. Because the question of whether natural gas is a useful transitional energy (and hydrogen) source is often debated, an additional set of so-called "green" scenarios is based on the main scenarios but prohibits any use of fossil fuel-based hydrogen after 2025.

- 1. a reference scenario (REF), with existing governmental policies and no net-zero emissions target;
- a GHG reduction scenario (NZ_2050), with reduction targets of 37.5% by 2030 (from 1990 levels) and net-zero by 2050;
- 3. a GHG reduction scenario (NZ_2050_IND) similar to NZ_2050 but including a moderate industrial hydrogen penetration of 25% in 2025 and more substantial penetration of 70% in 2050 to highlight the potential role of hydrogen in decarbonizing industry. The term "penetration of industrial hydrogen" refers to the proportion of steam generated using hydrogen, expressed as a ratio of the total amount of steam generated by the industry. The industrial sector is often recognized as a hard-to-decarbonize sector, as highlighted in our previous study (Kouchaki-Penchah et al., 2023);
- 4. a GHG reduction scenario (NZ_2050_CCU) similar to NZ_2050 but including a policy of expanding industrial CCU by disabling the aquifer sequestration option for captured industrial CO₂ emissions through CCS. This scenario assesses the potential role of CCU technologies, which use hydrogen as a feedstock, in decarbonizing the industrial sector, as opposed to technologies that would use hydrogen as a heat carrier;
- a GHG reduction scenario (NZ_2040) with reduction targets of 37.5% by 2030 (from 1990 levels) and net-zero by 2040, to see the effect of this stringent target on the energy system and hydrogen technologies;

- a GHG reduction scenario (NZ_2060) with reduction targets of 37.5% by 2030 (from 1990 levels) and net-zero by 2060, to see the effect of postponing the net-zero GHG reduction target on the energy system and hydrogen technologies.
- 7. NZ_2050_green
- 8. NZ_2050_IND_green
- 9. NZ_2050_CCU_green
- 10. NZ_2040_green
- 11. NZ_2060_green

Demand for energy services is projected to 2050 from 2016 in all scenarios using socioeconomic assumptions (GDP, GDP per capita, population growth) from the Trottier Energy Futures Project (TEFP, 2016). In addition, all these scenarios take into account current government energy and climate policies (Government of Canada, 2010; Government of Quebec, 2012; Ministère des Transports du Québec, 2015; NHTSA, 2011). Biogenic CO₂ emissions were included in the scenarios considered, as the assumption of biogenic carbon neutrality could lead to biased decision-making (Kouchaki-Penchah, Bahn, Vaillancourt, *et al.*, 2023). The merit order of hydrogen technologies was constructed using the model results by calculating the unit variable costs of the technologies and ranking them accordingly. The unit variable costs describe the total variable costs in time T for each hydrogen technology per hydrogen output of the technology. Total variable costs were calculated by summing up the purchase costs of all inputs and emissions, the activity costs, and the flow costs. 4.3 Result analysis

4.3.1 GHG emissions

Total GHG emissions of the net-zero and reference case scenarios are depicted in Figure 4.1. The NZ_2040 scenario is forced to get to net zero emissions in 2040, while the NZ_2050 and NZ_2060 scenarios are emitting about 22 Mt CO₂-eq and 26 Mt CO₂-eq in 2040, respectively. In 2040, 15.8 Mt CO₂-eq of the reduction of GHGs in NZ_2040 compared to NZ_2050 are achieved by GHG reductions in different sectors, particularly the transport and industrial sectors, while the remaining 6.2 Mt CO₂-eq is achieved using DAC (Figure 4.2). In 2050, NZ_2050 requires 7.9 Mt CO₂-eq to be removed by DAC, while NZ_2050_IND, NZ_2050_CCU, NZ_2040, and NZ_2060 require 5.5, 7.3, 6.4, and 2 Mt CO₂-eq respectively. Thus, adding a model constraint to increase hydrogen uptake tends to decrease DAC dependency. Similarly, CCU expansion in NZ_2050_CCU scenario, a higher GHG reduction target in NZ_2040 scenario, and postponing GHG reduction target in NZ_2050. Increasing industrial hydrogen penetration leads to lower industrial GHG emissions. CCU expansion also results in higher hydrogen consumption and accordingly lower GHG emissions.



Figure 4.1 Total net GHG emissions of all scenarios

In 2050, total net industrial GHG emissions of NZ_2050 are about 5 Mt CO₂-eq, whereas they are around 3.1 Mt CO₂-eq for NZ_2050_IND and 5.85 Mt CO₂-eq for NZ_2050_CCU (Fig 2). The use of hydrogen as a carbon-free energy carrier helped to reduce GHG emissions from the industrial sector in NZ_2050_IND, while a policy of expanding CCUs in NZ_2050_CCU kept industrial GHG emissions relatively high, so that available industrial CO₂ could be converted into synthetic fuels, which could then be used as alternative energy sources in the subsequent transport and industrial sectors. Although the industrial emissions decrease in NZ_2050_CCU compared to NZ_2050 in years after net-zero target.



Figure 4.2 GHG emissions by sector for all scenarios

4.3.2 Primary energy production and final energy consumption

Primary energy production in Quebec from hydroelectricity, biomass, and other renewables (wind, solar) is depicted in Figure 4.3(a). The province also imports other forms of primary energy, such as crude oil and natural gas. In net-zero scenarios, total primary production (without imports) increases over time compared to the reference case, due to surging mitigation costs resulting from underlying constraints. In net-zero scenarios, the share of wind and solar is projected to increase significantly from 4% in 2025 to more than 30%, while the biomass share is expected to decline from 15% in 2025 to less than 10% by 2060, depending on the defined constraints. Fuel imports (not shown) decrease significantly in all NZ scenarios, as more renewables become available to meet the net zero target.

When compared to the REF scenario, final energy consumption decreases faster in scenarios with a stringent constraint (e.g., NZ_2040) than in scenarios with a less stringent target (e.g., NZ_2060) (Figure 4.3(b)). The reduction in final energy consumption is due to the adoption of alternative and more efficient technologies that utilize electricity or hydrogen as energy sources. In NZ_2050, the consumption of electricity, hydrogen, and non-energy products increases compared to REF in 2050, while the consumption of high GHG intensity energy sources decreases considerably. Synthetic fuels are relied upon in NZ_2050_CCU only, accounting for 3% of total energy consumption in 2050 and 2% in 2060, indicating it is the least cost available option to reuse captured industrial CO₂ when sequestration is unavailable. NZ_2050_CCU has the highest energy consumption in net-zero scenarios, with higher consumption of synthetic fuels, electricity, and hydrogen compared to other scenarios.

Total bioenergy consumption in the net-zero scenarios (Figure A-III 1) is lower than in the REF scenarios, due to the decrease in forest sequestration over time, so that biogenic emissions from the combustion of forest-based biomass and bioenergy cannot be offset by available forest sequestration, or the model prioritizes the use of available forest sequestration to temporarily absorb non-biogenic emissions (mainly in difficult to decarbonize sectors). Among net-zero

scenarios in 2040, scenario NZ_2040 has the highest total bioenergy consumption (247 PJ) with a higher usage of solid biomass, and wood pellets. The NZ_2050_CCU scenario has the highest bioenergy consumption in 2050 compared to the other net-zero scenarios. This is attributed to the higher consumption of solid biomass and biomethane, which would be used to produce biobased electricity, heat and hydrogen. Except for NZ_2060, which undergoes a 13% increase, the total bioenergy consumption of net-zero scenarios decreases in 2060 compared to 2050. Overall, biomass and bioenergy contribute to achieving the GHG reduction target, particularly in target years with net-zero emissions (e.g., 2040 in NZ_2040) by primarily providing negative emissions using non-forest-based biomass in BECCS and, as a result, lowering GHG abatement costs.





Figure 4.3 (a) Primary energy production in Quebec and (b) final energy consumption (HHV) in Quebec

In the net-zero scenarios, total electricity production increases substantially (by up to 20% in NZ_2050_CCU) in 2050 compared to the REF scenario (Figure A-III 2). The share of wind and solar is behind the increase in net-zero scenarios (up to 148% in NZ_2050_CCU) compared to the reference scenario. In 2050, by increasing the penetration of hydrogen (all net-zero scenarios), electricity (NZ_2040 and NZ_2060) and synthetic fuels (NZ_2050_CCU) in the industrial sector of the net-zero scenarios compared to REF scenario, other energy sources are reduced (Figure A-III 3). Industrial electricity consumption increases over time, representing between 4% and 7% in the net-zero scenarios compared to the REF scenario. Similarly, hydrogen consumption increases in the net-zero scenarios in 2060, reaching 174 PJ in the NZ_2050_CCU.

4.3.3 Hydrogen profile in the energy system

Figure 4.4 shows hydrogen production and consumption for all scenarios. Even though the REF scenario shows about 30 PJ of hydrogen production using primarily natural gas without CCS before 2040 (Figure 4.4(a)), most of the hydrogen produced is exported and not consumed within the energy system (Figure 4.4(b)). Natural gas-based hydrogen production in the REF scenario reduces over time and, by the end of the time horizon, is limited to biomethane and agricultural residues-based hydrogen. The model uses most of the hydrogen produced in the net-zero scenarios for export before 2040, except for NZ 2050 IND because of a minimum industrial hydrogen penetration constraint. In 2040, the hydrogen demand increases in net-zero scenarios (except NZ 2060) for industrial and transport sectors and is primarily met by natural gas with CCS-based hydrogen (blue hydrogen). A stringent GHG reduction constraint in the NZ 2040 scenario leads to the use of municipal waste with CCS-based hydrogen, which produces negative emissions and thus helps to rapidly decarbonize the system in 2040. On the other hand, in 2040, hydrogen production in NZ 2060 is around 6% of that in NZ 2050 because of postponing net-zero target. Hydrogen production in NZ 2060 decreases in 2040 compared to previous periods as GHG mitigation costs increase (Figure 4.7) and non-green based hydrogen becomes unfavorable.



Figure 4.4 (a) Hydrogen production, and (b) hydrogen consumption for all scenarios

Regardless of chosen policy constraints, the amount of hydrogen produced and consumed in net-zero scenarios increases significantly in 2050 and 2060 when compared to previous

periods, reaching more than 174 PJ in 2060 for NZ 2050 CCU. This shows the potential importance of hydrogen in decarbonizing the energy system. The hydrogen produced is mainly used for the industrial sector. In NZ 2050, the transport sector consumes 13% and 6% of the produced hydrogen in 2050 and 2060, respectively. NZ 2040 scenario uses 12% and 6% of produced hydrogen for the transport sector in 2050 and 2060, respectively. However, the share of hydrogen consumption in the transport sector increases from 5% in 2050 to 10% in 2060 for NZ 2060. More than 30% of produced hydrogen in 2050 of NZ 2050 CCU is used as feedstock for the consecutive synthesis processes. The model must decide whether to use or sequester the captured CO₂ from the industrial process (Figure A-III 5). However, since aquifer sequestration for onsite captured industrial emissions of NZ 2050 CCU has been disabled, CCU technologies could use the captured CO₂, which primarily use hydrogen as feedstock to produce synthetic fuels (c.f. DAC and allocation of negative emissions obtained from forest sequestration are other options for capturing and eventually sequestering industrial emissions, available in Figure A-III 5). Accordingly, the model can endogenously allocate available hydrogen to different sectors. In NZ 2050 CCU in 2050 and 2060, respectively, 62% and 69% of the hydrogen is still consumed in the industrial sector, indicating the need for hydrogen in the industrial sector's decarbonization in the absence of aquifer sequestration.

The penetration of industrial hydrogen of steam demand under different policy scenarios is shown in Figure 4.5. For NZ_2050, it is 27% in 2050, meaning that 27% of the total industrial steam would be supplied by hydrogen. NZ_2050_IND is required to have at least 70% penetration in 2050, whereas NZ_2050_CCU has 71% penetration in 2050, rising to 74% in 2060. The penetration ratio is 28% in 2050 and about 32% in 2060 for NZ_2040 and NZ_2060 scenarios respectively.



Figure 4.5 Industrial hydrogen penetration (% of steam) under different policy scenarios

4.3.4 Hydrogen technology mix

Figure 4.6 shows the merit order of hydrogen production technologies for each scenario and time period based on unit variable costs. These technologies were selected endogenously by NATEM from a pool of different available hydrogen technologies and defined constraints. The term "existing" refers to an already producing technology. In all scenarios except NZ_2040, existing electrolysis (ELC/PEM/RAG/DCN) technologies have the lowest unit variable cost (\$3.5/GJ), making it the first hydrogen technology to be utilized (3 TJ to 46 TJ of hydrogen production). The biomass gasification (BIO/GASIF/CEN/STD) technology ranks second in the REF scenario in 2040, followed by standard SMR (NGA/BIOMTN/SMR/CEN/STD) and existing decentralized resources (NGA/DCN). A negative unit variable cost indicates that gains


are higher than costs with BECCS, which is achieved by producing negative emissions (which could even be seen as the main product, while hydrogen is the by-product).

Figure 4.6 Merit order of hydrogen technologies, (a) REF, (b) NZ_2050, (c) NZ_2050_IND, (d) NZ_2050_CCU, (e) NZ_2040, and (f) NZ_2060

In 2040, municipal waste gasification (MUN/GASIF/CEN/CCS) represents the lowest unit variable cost (-\$80/GJ) in NZ_2040, followed by biomethane ATR with CCS (NGA/BIOMTN/ATR/CEN/CCS), and biomethane SMR (NGA/BIOMTN/SMR/DCN/IND

and NGA/BIOMTN/SMR/CEN/STD). This is because the model needs negative emissions from hydrogen production with BECCS to satisfy the stringent GHG reduction target (high GHG abatement cost, see Figure 4.7) envisioned in NZ_2040. After BECCS and existing technologies, blue hydrogen (NGA/BIOMTN/ATR/CEN/CCS) is the most widely used hydrogen producer technology. In scenarios with a high hydrogen production requirement, large-scale electrolysis (ELC/SOE/CEN/STD) only activates after implementing a green (no-fossil-fuels) policy (Figure A-III 8, NZ_2050_IND_green and NZ_2050_CCU_green), as it comes after (unlimited) natural gas in the merit order.

4.3.5 GHG abatement costs

Setting a strict 2040 GHG reduction target for NZ_2040 leads to a significant increase in marginal GHG reduction costs in 2040 (\$1150 per tCO₂-eq), while reducing abatement costs in 2050 (\$760 per tCO₂-eq) compared to NZ_2050 (Figure 4.7). Postponing the net-zero emissions target to 2060 (NZ_2060) results in lower mitigation costs before 2055 and higher costs after 2055 compared to NZ_2050 and NZ_2060. The application of a minimum 70% hydrogen penetration in the industrial sector steam for the NZ_2050_IND scenario and a CCU expansion constraint for the NZ_2050_CCU scenario results in higher mitigation costs in 2050 than the NZ_2050 scenario, as might be expected.



Figure 4.7 GHG mitigation costs (CAD per tCO₂-eq)

4.3.6 Green hydrogen policy

Hydrogen production decreases significantly when a green hydrogen policy is included for all scenarios except NZ 2050 IND green (Figure A-III 7(a)), for which a minimum of 70% hydrogen is required for the industrial sector. Electrolysis using solid oxide electrolyzer cell (ELC/SOE/CEN/STD) is activated in NZ 2050 IND green after 2025 or in NZ 2050 CCU green after 2050 (Figure A-III 8) when the cost of GHG abatement reaches its maximum and a carbon-free energy carrier such as hydrogen could help to achieve the net zero emission target. After 2025, SMR technologies continue to produce hydrogen as they can use syngas or biomethane as a feedstock. The share of hydrogen usage (Figure A-III 7(b)) in the transport sector decreases in net-zero scenarios with a green hydrogen policy compared to the same scenario without green hydrogen constraints because the model must meet a minimum industrial hydrogen penetration of 70% after 2050 in NZ 2050 IND green and provide required hydrogen as feedstock for converting available industrial CO₂ to synthetic fuels or slag block in NZ 2050 CCU green. (The by-product of the steel making process, known as steel slag, contains high levels of calcium and silica, which make it a viable substitute binder to produce construction blocks. The total CO₂ emitted per block is reportedly -0.23 kg for the slag-bonded concrete block, while it is 1.56 kg for the cement block (Mahoutian and Shao, 2016)).

A green hydrogen policy reduces reliance on DAC, when compared to the same scenario without the green hydrogen constraint, with the exception of the NZ_2050_CCU scenario (Figure A-III 9). For example, in 2050, the NZ_2050_green scenario requires 6% less CO₂ removal with DAC than the NZ_2050 scenario. In 2060, the reliance on DAC in the green hydrogen scenarios decreases by up to 8% in the NZ_2050 green scenario compared with to the NZ_2050_green scenario. The reliance on DAC in the NZ_2050_CCU_green scenario, on the other hand, increases over time relative to the NZ_2050_CCU scenario because the model

requires the sequestration of additional industrial CO₂ emissions that cannot be economically converted to synthetic fuels or slag blocks. The green hydrogen policy also reduces the penetration rate of industrial hydrogen, except where constrained (Figure 4.5, NZ_2050_IND_green).

4.3.7 Carbon capture and usage

Carbon capture and usage (CCU) technologies and available carbon sequestration in NATEM-Quebec are shown in Figure A-III 5. The blocking of deep saline aquifers for industrial CO₂ emissions in NZ_2050_CCU and NZ_2050_CCU_green could either direct industrial emissions towards sequestration by forestry or offer the possibility of utilizing captured CO₂ (from industry or from DAC) through available CCU technologies. Although this substantially increases GHG abatement costs (Figure 4.7), CCU technologies use around 3.2 MtCO₂ to produce mainly synthetic jet fuel based on the Fischer-Tropsch conversion process (Figure 4.3(b) and Figure A-III 10) compared to 12.5 MtCO₂ going to industrial CCS in NZ_2050.

4.4 Discussion

The penetration of industrial hydrogen is about 27% of steam demand to reach net-zero emission by 2050 (NZ_2050). Forcing a 70% penetration of industrial hydrogen (NZ_2050_IND) while facilitating the decarbonization of the industrial sector, reduces the need for carbon removal through DAC in 2050. This results in additional GHG abatement costs of 220 CAD/tCO₂-eq in 2050, but GHG abatement costs drop to the NZ_2050 scenario level after 2050. Incentivizing CCU (NZ_2050_CCU) leads to an industrial hydrogen penetration of 71% and synthetic fuels production in 2050. This would not result in industrial GHG reduction, but it slightly reduces transportation emissions and the need for DAC compared to NZ_2050. CCU expansion increases GHG abatement costs by 560 CAD/tCO₂-eq in 2050 and impedes cutting down GHG abatement costs after 2050. Hydrogen is mostly consumed in the industrial sector's not NZ_2050 CCU, indicating the importance of hydrogen in the industrial sector's

decarbonization if CO₂ storage in deep saline aquifers is not allowed. Accelerating the net-zero emission target (NZ_2040) requires a higher penetration of industrial hydrogen between 2040 and 2050 compared to NZ_2050. Net-zero by 2040 also results in 50% and 13% reductions in industrial GHG emissions in 2040 and 2050, respectively, compared to NZ_2050. GHG abatement costs of NZ_2040 increase in 2040 and then decrease in comparison to NZ_2050. Postponing the net-zero target (NZ_2060) reduces industrial hydrogen penetration before 2050, after which it reaches the same level as NZ_2050 in 2050. This also postpones the need for GHG reduction and DAC in 2050. GHG abatement costs gradually increase in NZ_2060, reaching a peak of 680 CAD/tCO₂-eq in 2060. A policy only allowing green hydrogen drastically reduces hydrogen penetration, unless hydrogen use is also mandated. In net-zero green scenarios, industrial GHG emissions and the need for DAC decrease slightly, and GHG abatement costs increase as expected. NZ_2050_CCU_green, however, follows the same amount of industrial GHG emissions and the need for DAC as NZ_2050_CCU in 2050.

In this study, the model allowed unlimited use of CCS technologies in the industrial sector, which may be unrealistic in the short term. Consequently, this analysis shows comparatively reduced GHG mitigation costs than our earlier research, which was more restrictive in its CCS options (Kouchaki-Penchah, Bahn, Vaillancourt, *et al.*, 2023).

There is an important trade-off between trying to minimize fossil fuels usage and DAC on one side, and on the other side, trying to minimize abatement costs. High reliance on hydrogen technologies is expensive because it allocates investment to low-density technologies (wind and solar) that require more resources (metals etc.) and undoubtedly have environmental impacts of their own. Thus, Net Zero policies based on high reliance on hydrogen technologies carry some risk of being counterproductive, relative to policies that allow more reliance on CCS and DAC, although the latter also have risks linked to CO₂ transportation and storage.

Another significant aspect to consider is the trade-off between forest residue as a potential carbon sink on its own, and forest residue as a source of negative-emissions hydrogen. On the one hand, in-forest sequestration offers cost-effective carbon storage but may pose a fire hazard (or otherwise decompose) after 2050. On the other hand, BECCS provides a low-cost source of hydrogen relative to electrolysis, with potentially longer-duration carbon storage as CO₂,

but it also carries certain risks. Thus, determining which option is superior remains unclear, even from a strictly environmental standpoint.

The current setup of NATEM-Quebec defines CAPEX in immaterial terms without providing feedback to the industries within the model (cement, steel, mining) that would be heavily solicited for the expansion of new energy infrastructure in all scenarios. We acknowledge this limitation in our study, which could be addressed in future studies. As discussed in our previous study (Kouchaki-Penchah, Bahn, Vaillancourt, *et al.*, 2023), import prices in the version of the NATEM model that was used do not rigorously reflect the corresponding GHG mitigation costs, potentially leading to burden shifting, as the model does not account for process emissions from imported fuels.

Besides the techno-economic considerations of hydrogen as a decarbonization strategy, there are other social and ecological factors to consider (Simoens, Fuenfschilling et Leipold, 2022; Correa Hackenhaar *et al.*, 2022). As net zero strategies grapple with technological advances (such as hydrogen fuel, CCU, CCS, etc.) and their deployment through vast and complex global supply chains, the social and ecological questions must also be addressed to avoid unintended weak sustainability outcomes for future generations (Seto et al., 2016; Unruh, 2002). Incorporating the socio-ecological elements into techno-economic analyses is a necessary next step (Babí Almenar et al., 2023). Doing so will address the gap between resolving mid-point impacts in the energy sector and end-point damage at the societal level. Future work on the role of hydrogen must consider the way in which decarbonization strategies applied to industrial silos may have unintended environmental consequences, which may not necessarily create a more sustainable future. Achieving this calls for an integrated modeling approach, convening a suite of affected sectors and impact categories such as land use change, water and resource depletion (Elliot et al., 2022). Moreover, understanding how these strategies are woven into long-term, robust, strong sustainability policies requires inter-, trans-, and cross-disciplinary engagement with actors beyond the techno-economic sphere.

4.5 Conclusion

This study shows how alternative policies could affect the energy transition toward a net-zero economy, focusing on the role of hydrogen, using a version of the NATEM model for Quebec that includes biogenic carbon accounting. Increasing the penetration of hydrogen as a source of industrial steam results in reducing GHG emissions from the industrial sector, whereas a CCU expansion policy keeps industrial emissions relatively high so that available industrial CO₂ could be converted to synthetic fuels and used in subsequent transportation and industrial processes. CCU expansion policy also leads to the highest energy consumption in net-zero scenarios, with higher consumption of synthetic fuels, electricity, and hydrogen compared to other scenarios. The share of other renewables such as wind and solar of total primary energy production increases over time horizon in net-zero scenarios, showing the need to invest in additional renewable electricity in Quebec. Biomass and bioenergy also play an essential role in achieving net-zero targets through providing negative emissions using non-forest-based biomass in BECCS, while forest-based biomass provides in-forest sequestration preferentially (the decomposition emissions are sufficiently delayed beyond the modeling time horizon in the biogenic carbon accounting framework). Although the demand for blue hydrogen increases over time in net-zero scenarios, an ambitious GHG reduction target leads to an increase in the use of BECCS (green hydrogen using waste), which can produce negative emissions and rapidly decarbonize the system.

The use of hydrogen in the industrial sector, known as difficult to decarbonize, reduces industrial emissions and reliance on direct air capture. Clustering industrial plants to use captured CO₂ as a feedstock for synthetic fuel production may not reduce industrial GHG emissions, but it does provide an opportunity to use captured CO₂ instead of sequestering it in deep saline aquifers. However, it may further postpone industrial decarbonization. Even though increasing the penetration of industrial green hydrogen increases GHG abatement costs compared to NZ_2050, it minimizes industrial GHG emissions and the need for DAC among all net-zero scenarios by 2050. Thus, hydrogen provides a key trade-off between reliance on direct air capture, reliance on carbon storage, reliance on wind and solar buildout, the inter-

sector allocation of residual emissions, and the overall cost of achieving emission targets. Netzero emissions can be achieved by increasing energy efficiency through technological alternatives, decarbonizing electricity generation, imposing electrification, deploying negative emission technologies, and increasing hydrogen penetration. Hydrogen plays an important role in achieving ambitious net-zero emission targets by reducing industrial GHG emissions, minimizing reliance on DAC, and enabling alternative pathways for decarbonization, especially in situations where electrification is not feasible or expensive electricity storage becomes necessary. Further research should address questions related to sensitivity analysis, such as the optimal allocation of bioenergy and the hydrogen merit order, which highly depend on input parameters for hydrogen technologies, as well as competing end-uses like direct electrification in industry and alternative bioenergy pathways.

CHAPTER 5

A BROADER DISCUSSION

The transition towards decarbonization has become a global imperative, and the role of the forest sector in this process has gained significant attention. In Quebec, the forest sector holds significant importance, and as a substantial portion of forests being publicly owned, the government plays an important role in formulating strategies to effectively manage these forests for climate change mitigation purposes. This thesis proposes an innovative integrated framework to analyze the potential contribution of the forest sector in facilitating decarbonization pathways, focusing on the case of Quebec. By addressing three key research questions, namely the contribution of forest-based bioenergy, the impact of assuming biogenic carbon neutrality, and the role of biomass-based hydrogen, this study seeks to shed light on the complex dynamics and opportunities within the forest sector.

Following a carbon neutrality assumption, forest-based bioenergy has emerged as a promising avenue for achieving deep decarbonization in Quebec. Previous studies have emphasized the potential of second-generation biofuels derived from lignocellulosic feedstock, which offer improved availability, affordability, and sustainability compared to first-generation biofuels. This study integrates a range of different primary and secondary forest-based bioenergy conversion technologies in NATEM-Quebec. The findings indicate that conversion processes such as gasification and Fischer-Tropsch catalytic conversion exhibit cost-competitive production of bioethanol and liquid transportation fuels. Moreover, forest-based bioenergy aligns with the principles of a circular economy, allowing for the utilization of low-quality roundwood and surplus forest growth as feedstock. This not only enhances the efficiency of the forest value chain but also addresses the declining demand for traditional forest products, providing further incentives for the adoption of forest-based bioenergy. However, it is crucial to consider potential limitations and trade-offs associated with forest-based bioenergy. A comprehensive evaluation is necessary to accurately assess the competition for biomass resources between industrial usage and bioenergy production, particularly concerning forest

industry residues. To address this, it is essential to incorporate non-energetic wood products and competing materials into the model along with their trading profiles, effectively accounting for this competition. By considering a broader range of factors, such as the utilization of biomass for non-energy purposes and alternative materials, a more comprehensive understanding of the dynamics and trade-offs involved in biomass allocation can be achieved. Indirect land-use change and the impact on carbon sequestration profiles should be taken into account when increasing feedstock availability. While the emphasis in recent studies, including the second chapter of this thesis, has predominantly been on GHG emissions, it is crucial to acknowledge that environmental impact categories encompass a wider range of burdens that can have both positive and negative effects. Bioenergy systems, as outlined by Creutzig et al. (2015), directly impact local and global climates through various factors. These include the emission of GHGs from fossil fuels used in biomass production and conversion, as well as from biomass combustion. Land disturbances contribute to CO₂ exchanges between the atmosphere and ecosystems. Non-CO2 GHGs, such as black carbon and chemically active gases, result from biomass combustion and land management practices. Moreover, modifications to the land surface, affecting properties like albedo and surface roughness, lead to climate forcing. Adopting a life cycle approach is crucial to comprehensively assess the GHG emissions and uptake associated with bioenergy and BECCS technologies and accurately determine their overall contribution to mitigating climate change (NASEM, 2019).

Chapter 3 assessed the implications of the assumption of biogenic carbon neutrality on decarbonization pathways. The assumption of biogenic carbon neutrality has been a subject of debate and raises questions regarding its impact on decarbonization pathways. While bioenergy systems have often been treated as carbon neutral, it is essential to recognize that the carbon balance is contingent upon various factors, including the characteristics of the bioenergy system, soil and climate conditions, vegetation cover, and land-use history. The accuracy of assumptions regarding biogenic carbon neutrality is crucial for making informed decisions and avoiding biased conclusions. By not assuming carbon neutrality, the short-term emissions associated with bioenergy production may appear higher, especially in regions with

lower forest coverage or sequestration potential. Importing bioenergies without sufficient carbon sink capacity can further increase biogenic emissions, potentially exacerbating the situation. To ensure unbiased decision-making, it is necessary to incorporate all biogenic carbon flows (emissions and uptakes) into global and national roadmaps towards net-zero CO₂ emissions. This requires a comprehensive assessment of the carbon sequestration potential of forests, the lifespan of harvested wood products, and the overall carbon balance associated with forest management practices. The present study enabled the inclusion of LULUCF, specifically addressing forest carbon stocks and changes in biomass and dead organic matter pools over time based on selected forest management strategies, as well as accounting for natural disturbances like wildfires and SBW infestations by integrating CBM-CFS3 and NATEM-Quebec models. However, it is important to note that this study did not encompass croplands, grasslands, wetlands, and settlements. Including other LULUCF strategies as potential CDR methods could be incorporated into the energy system model. The developed approach takes into account forest net emissions, GHG emissions from harvesting, transportation, and manufacturing, as well as emissions from residue decomposition and biomass combustion. Nevertheless, this study did not consider other environmental impacts such as short-lived climate forcers (e.g., black carbon and nitrogen monoxide), or the climateforcing effects resulting from changes in the land surface's biophysical properties (e.g., alterations in albedo). In this study, the decomposition emissions of HWPs were not taken into account. To accurately consider these emissions, HWP carbon models would need to be employed. Nonetheless, the study envisions a circular economy for HWPs usage in the future, whereby HWPs are transformed into another product (resulting in no biogenic emissions) or utilized for energy purposes (resulting in biogenic emissions) at the end of their lifespan, rather than being disposed of in landfills. The integrated approach developed in this study does not consider the potential substitution effect resulting from the use of HWPs instead of non-wood materials such as cement and steel. Future research could enhance the model by incorporating HWPs and substituted materials, thereby capturing the broader impacts and benefits of utilizing HWPs within the context of CDR.

CDR strategies through measures in agriculture, forestry and other land use could be sustained for decades, but not for very long because these sinks will eventually saturate (Riahi et al., 2022; Lecocq et al., 2022). Recent years have witnessed a significant increase in forest disturbances (NRCan, 2022), casting doubt on the accuracy of using data from previous decades to calculate future disturbance rates in Canadian forests. Future research should examine the rising levels of disturbances, particularly considering the impact of a changing climate on forest disturbance patterns (Seidl et al., 2017). The current setup of NATEM-Quebec allows leaving additional residues in the forest without considering the potential for increased fire risk. This limitation of the developed integrated approach could be addressed by incorporating feedback from NATEM-Quebec into the CBM-CFS3 model. In addition to the mentioned limitations, there are significant uncertainties surrounding indirect emissions, potential impacts on food security (first-generation biofuels), effects on biodiversity and land conservation, competition for water resources, and social equity and acceptance concerns (Sanchez et Kammen, 2016). These aspects should be carefully examined in future studies to gain a comprehensive understanding of the broader implications associated with bioenergy technologies. Integrated assessment models (IAMs) could also help to identify efficient pathways for future work, as they model cost-effective strategies for achieving specific climate targets while taking into account intersectoral competition for biomass and land carbon balances related to land use and biomass provision.

Biomass-derived hydrogen shows great potential as a substantial element in Quebec's shift towards sustainable energy. The penetration of industrial hydrogen is projected to play a substantial role in achieving net-zero emissions by 2050. Biomass gasification with CCS, coupled with hydrogen production, can provide a renewable and negative emission alternative to fossil fuels. By using biomass feedstock, such as municipal waste, agricultural residues and dedicated energy crops, hydrogen can be produced and provide negative CO₂ emissions, contributing to the decarbonization of various sectors, including transportation and industry. Policymakers can effectively advance the goal of net-zero emissions by leveraging the benefits of hydrogen, such as reducing industrial GHG emissions, reducing reliance on DAC, and enabling alternative decarbonization pathways. However, the trade-off between minimizing fossil fuel usage and deploying DAC technology, on the one hand, and minimizing abatement costs, on the other hand, presents a challenge for Net Zero policies. Reliance on hydrogen technologies, which often require investments in low-density renewable sources like wind and solar, can be expensive and have their own environmental impacts. Hence net-zero policies based on high reliance on hydrogen technologies carry some risk of being counterproductive, relative to policies that allow more reliance on CCS and DAC, although the latter also have risks linked to CO₂ transportation and storage. Another important aspect to consider is the trade-off between using forest residue as a carbon sink or as a source of negative-emissions hydrogen. In-forest sequestration offers cost-effective carbon storage, but it may pose risks such as fire hazards or decomposition after 2050. On the other hand, BECCS can provide lowcost hydrogen and potentially longer-duration carbon storage, but it also carries certain risks. Determining the superior option remains unclear, even from an environmental perspective. Therefore, it is essential to carefully evaluate the benefits and drawbacks of different strategies, considering not only their techno-economic aspects but also their social, ecological, and safety implications.

In CHAPTER 4, the model allowed unlimited use of CCS technologies in the industrial sector, which may be unrealistic in the short term. Consequently, this analysis shows comparatively reduced GHG mitigation costs than the earlier study (section 3.3.5 in CHAPTER 3), which was more restrictive in its CCS options. Besides, as highlighted in the CHAPTER 3, import prices in NATEM do not adequately consider the costs associated with GHG mitigation. This limitation can potentially result in burden shifting, as the model does not take into account the process emissions stemming from imported fuels. Furthermore, the current setup of the model used in this study defines CAPEX in immaterial terms without providing feedback to the industries within the model. The expansion of new energy infrastructure could heavily solicit the material industries.

In the pursuit of net zero strategies, it is crucial to address the challenges posed by technological advancements and their implementation within global supply chains. While hydrogen, CCU, CCS, and other technologies hold promise, it is essential to consider the social and ecological aspects to avoid unintentional weak sustainability outcomes for future generations (Seto *et al.*, 2016; Unruh, 2002; Correa Hackenhaar *et al.*, 2022; Simoens, Fuenfschilling et Leipold, 2022). This necessitates incorporating socio-ecological elements into techno-economic analyses, bridging the gap between resolving impacts in the energy sector and understanding their societal-level consequences.

CONCLUSION

This thesis proposes an integrated framework to help decision makers analyze the contribution of the forest to deep decarbonization pathways. The integrated approach eliminates the carbon neutrality assumption in previous literature since assuming carbon neutrality for forest biomass can result in accounting errors and biased decision-making. Following the developed approach, this research conducts a comprehensive techno-economic study of different hydrogen pathways that consider the GHG emissions and uptakes associated with forest management, BECCS, and biogenic CO₂ flows.

The long-term role of forest-based bioenergy technologies was measured using a bottom-up energy model and following a carbon neutrality assumption. After a comprehensive overview of bioenergy conversion processes, a detailed inventory of techno-economic data was provided and implemented in the energy system model. This study identifies the transportation sector as the primary contributor to GHG emissions over the time horizon. Besides, decarbonizing heavy industry is the most challenging task in achieving GHG reduction targets in Quebec. Extensive electrification is required to reach the GHG reduction targets. The bioenergy share is expected to increase considerably in the transportation and industrial sectors, cutting down on the need to reduce GHG emissions. Forest-based bioenergies such as cellulosic bioethanol, biobased heat, FT diesel, and electricity as a co-product can effectively support this energy transition. The Quebec government could envision a greater penetration of bioenergy in its 2030 plan for a green economy. This study reveals that forest-based bioenergy should be an important component of the decarbonization strategy of Quebec. Other world regions with a declining trend for traditional forest products should also consider such a strategy.

The second objective of this dissertation involved integrating biogenic CO₂ flows into the energy system model to address the carbon neutrality assumption commonly found in previous literature. The output of the CBM-CFS3 model was used to model different forest management

approaches for the province of Quebec in Canada that would lead to different biomass availability for bioenergy and forest net emissions, in order to see if and how this biomass would be used within the energy system over the time horizon. This study highlighted that taking forest sequestration into account can help alleviate the decarbonization effort by flattening GHG trajectories and allowing policymakers to use available forest sequestration for difficult-to-decarbonize sectors. Including biogenic CO₂ emissions in NDCs is recommended since excluding them affects the solution. It can also affect the solution by choosing alternative BECCS. It is necessary to identify the most promising forest management strategy before investing in BECCS because the model employs various methods of biomass utilization based on available biomass and the sequestration potential. When available forest sequestration cannot offset biogenic CO₂ emissions, GHG abatement costs increase exponentially. Including biogenic emissions reduces biomass and bioenergy usage in GHG scenarios. Therefore, assuming biogenic carbon neutrality may result in biased decision-making because it allows the model to use more biomass without being constrained by biogenic CO₂ emissions. Investing in BECCS, DAC, or other negative emission technologies faces multiple barriers in the short term, but shifting to forest management strategies that carry a lower cost than other NETs could potentially make it easier to limit warming to 2°C after 2030 and achieve net-zero emissions by 2050. The goal of net-zero emissions for Quebec by 2050 can be achieved by improving energy efficiency using technological alternatives, decarbonizing electricity generation, massive electrification, and deploying negative emission technologies such as forest management strategies with high forest sequestration. More stringent emission reduction targets could be adopted before 2030. It is also recommended that the Canadian forest sector be fully integrated into an energy system model to successfully plan the following steps for clean air and a strong economy. The proposed integrated approach can be adopted in any country using a TIMES approach in conjunction with a carbon budget model. Furthermore, the detailed approach employed for modeling forest-based bioenergy and BECCS can be easily extended to various regional contexts by updating associated costs.

The third objective of this dissertation involved demonstrating how alternative policies could affect the energy transition by focusing on the role of biomass-based hydrogen and following the developed integrated approach. Subject to the constraints chosen in this research, hydrogen is essential in achieving the target of net-zero emissions, regardless of the chosen strategy. The use of hydrogen in the industrial sector, a sector known to be difficult to decarbonize, alleviates the effort to reduce emissions and reduces reliance on direct air capture. Clustering industrial plants to use captured CO_2 as a feedstock for synthetic fuel production may not reduce industrial GHG emissions, but it offers the opportunity to use captured CO₂ instead of sequestering it in deep saline aquifers. However, it may further postpone the decarbonization of the industry, as the demand for CO₂ for synthetic fuel production requires the use of GHGintensive energy sources. Net-zero emission scenarios were also analyzed in the absence of fossil fuel-based hydrogen. Even though increasing industrial green hydrogen penetration increases GHG abatement costs, it minimizes industrial GHG emissions and the need for DAC among all net-zero scenarios by 2050. Green hydrogen, in addition to blue hydrogen, can play a crucial role in achieving ambitious net-zero emission targets. Where electrification is not feasible, or energy storage is required, electrolysis could be adopted more widely.

The forest sector holds significant potential in facilitating decarbonization pathways, with forest-based bioenergy and sequestration potential playing a pivotal role. Forest-based bioenergy offers a renewable and sustainable alternative to fossil fuels while promoting the efficient utilization of forest resources. However, careful evaluation of feedstock availability, carbon sequestration dynamics, and competition for biomass is essential to ensure a balanced approach. The assumption of biogenic carbon neutrality should be critically assessed, taking into account regional characteristics and carbon balance considerations. Biomass-based hydrogen, although promising, requires careful consideration of cost and resource requirements, ensuring a comprehensive evaluation of alternative decarbonization strategies. By harnessing the potential of the forest sector, Quebec can take significant strides towards achieving its decarbonization goals, contributing to a sustainable and low-carbon future.

APPENDIX I

SUPPORTING INFORMATION THE CONTRIBUTION OF FOREST-BASED BIOENERGY IN ACHIEVING DEEP DECARBONIZATION: INSIGHTS FOR QUEBEC (CANADA) USING A TIMES APPROACH

Part A

A comprehensive set of techno-economic data of primary and secondary forest-based bioenergy technologies is tabulated in Table A-I 1 and Table A-I 2, respectively.

Table A-I 1 Techno-economic data of	primary forest-based	bioenergy technologies
rable A-r r reenno-economic data or	primary iorest-based	biochergy teenhologies

Technology	Conversion process	Forest industry residues	Hogfuel	Chips	Firewood	Slash	Pulp and paper waste	Spent liquor	Energy input	Bioenergy	EFF (Out/Input)	CEFF (Input fuel/Out)	Investment cost	Fixed operating cost	Variable operating cost	Cost unit	Life Time	Availability factor	Reference
Biomass HTL. Upgrading system 69.9 MGGEPY	Hydrothermal liquefaction	*	*	*	*	*			Electricity, Natural gas	Hydrocarbons	0.66	0.12	56.3	5.4	4.1	mCAD/PJ	20	0.91	(Zhu et al., 2014)
Co-Gasification. Methanol grade AA. Black liquor. Crude glycerol	Co-Gasification						:	*	Electricity	Biomethanol	0.79	1.27	133.6	1.6	5.9	mCAD/PJ	20	0.97	(Carvalho et al., 2018)
Fast pyrolysis and hydroprocessing 35 MGPY	Fast pyrolysis	*	*	*	*	*			Electricity, Natural gas	Gasoline(bio), Biodiesel	0.55	0.27	58.5	4.2	3.7	mCAD/PJ	30	0.91	(Li et al., 2017 ; Wright et Brown, 2019)
Fermentation. Butanol Production	Fermentation					*	ŧ		Heat, Natural gas	Butanol(bio), Heat	0.92	1.22	326.9	19.0	9.4	mCAD/GW	30	0.96	(Levasseur et al., 2017)
Fermentation. Ethanol. Enzyme. Dilute- acid 53.4MGPY	Fermentation	*	*	*	*	*				Cellulosic bioethanol, Electricity	0.37		87.5	4.8	12.6	mCAD/PJ	20	0.91	(Li et al., 2018 ; Kazi et al., 2010)
Fermentation. Ethanol. Enzyme. NREL 61MGPY	Fermentation	*	*	*	*	*				Cellulosic bioethanol	0.43		86.1	4.9	5.6	mCAD/PJ	20	0.91	(Li et al., 2018 ; Humbird et al., 2011)
Fischer-Tropsch. Catalytic. Hydroprocessing. High temperature. Flow gasifier 41.7MGPY	Gasification/Fis cher-Tropsch	*	*	*	*	*				FT diesel, Electricity	0.53		119.7	2.8	2.4	mCAD/PJ	20	0.91	(Swanson et al., 2010)
Fischer-Tropsch. Catalytic. Hydroprocessing. Low temperature. Fluidized bed gasifie 32.3MGPY	Gasification/Fis cher-Tropsch	*	*	*	*	*				FT diesel, Electricity	0.43		122.2	2.9	3.2	mCAD/PJ	20	0.91	(Swanson et al., 2010)
Gasification facility. Gasifier + methanation. Wood	Gasification/me thanation	*	*	*	*	*				Syngas, Electricity	0.55		3539.	240.4	118.0	mCAD/GW	20	0.96	(Panos et Kannan, 2016)

Technology	Conversion process	Forest industry residues	Hogfuel	Chips	Slash	Pulp and paper waste	Spent liquor	Energy input	Bioenergy	EFF (Out/Input)	CEFF (Input fuel/Out)	Investment cost	Fixed operating cost	Variable operating cost	Cost unit	Life Time	Availability factor	Reference
Gasification facility. Gasifier + methanation. Wood. Electrolyser	Gasification/me thanation	*	*	* :	* *			Electricity	Syngas	0.54	0.85	4317.	957.4	167.5	mCAD/GW	20	0.96	(Panos et Kannan, 2016
Gasification.Wood.20MW	Gasification	*	*	* :	* *				Syngas, Electricity, Heat	0.86		2725.	812.8	125.9	mCAD/GW	25	0.85	(Moret et al., 2017)
Gasification to ethanol 61.8 MMGPY/mixed alcohol 76.2 MMGPY	Gasification/mi xed alcohol	*	*	* :	* *				Cellulosic bioethanol	0.47		43.1	4.9		mCAD/PJ	20	0.96	(Phillips et al., 2007 ; Wright et Brown, 2019
Gasification. Bio. CCS. Hydrogen	Gasification/Hy drogen	*	*	* :	* *				Hydrogen	0.43		2921.	354.3	172.1	mCAD/GW	25	0.86	(Moret et al., 2017 ; Tock, 2013)
Gasification. Methanol synthesis, Methanol to Gasoline (MTG) 49.6 MGPY	Gasification/me thanol synthesis	*	*	* :	* *				Gasoline(bio), LPG(bio)	0.43		36.8	4.4	1.9	mCAD/PJ	20	0.96	(Phillips et al., 2011)
Liquefaction. Fermentation. Ethanol. Solvent. 1,4-Dioxane 39.4MGPY	Liquefaction & Fermentation	*	*	* :	* *			Electricity, Natural ga	, Cellulosic s bioethanol	0.21	0.51	131.7	9.6	11.0	mCAD/PJ	30	0.91	(Li et al., 2018)
Liquefaction. Fermentation. Ethanol. Solvent. Acetone 34.8MGPY	Liquefaction & Fermentation	*	*	* :	* *			Electricity, Natural ga	, Cellulosic s bioethanol	0.17	1.44	142.2	12.3	14.1	mCAD/PJ	30	0.91	(Li et al., 2018)
Liquefaction. Fermentation. Ethanol. Solvent. GVL 50.6MGPY	Liquefaction & Fermentation	*	*	* :	* *				Cellulosic bioethanol	0.28		102.2	5.3	6.1	mCAD/PJ	30	0.91	(Li et al., 2018 ; Han et al., 2015)
Liquefaction. Fermentation. Ethanol. Solvent. THF 53.3MGPY	Liquefaction & Fermentation	*	*	* :	* *			Electricity, Natural ga	, Cellulosic s bioethanol	0.25	1.09	96.2	6.9	7.9	mCAD/PJ	30	0.91	(Li et al., 2018)

Table A-I 1 Continued.

									Table A	A-I 1 Continued	l.								
Technology	Conversion process	Forest industry residues	Hogfuel	Chips	Firewood	Slash	Pulp and paper waste	Spent liquor	Energy input	Bioenergy	EFF (Out/Input)	CEFF (Input fuel/Out)	Investment cost	Fixed operating cost	Variable operating cost	Cost unit	Life Time	Availability factor	Reference
Pellet. Production. Forest residue. Regular 190kt	Pelletizing	*		*	*	*			Electricity, Natural gas	Pellets	0.72	0.04	13.3	0.6	2.2	mCAD/PJ	30	0.85	(Shahrukh et al., 2016)
Pellet. Production. Forest residue. Steam pretreated 290kt	Pelletizing	*		*	*	*			Electricity, Natural gas	Pellets	0.51	0.04	24.6	0.6	2.7	mCAD/PJ	30	0.85	(Shahrukh et al., 2016)
Pyrolysis. Wood 10MW	Pyrolysis	*	*	*	*	*				Pyrolysis oil	0.68		1518	.318.2	57.7	mCAD/GW	25	0.85	(Moret et al., 2017)
CHP ORC system. Wet/dry wood 2.08MWe	CHP/ORC/Wet dry	/*	*	*	*	*	*	*		Electricity, Heat	0.85		2095	.155.7	176.4	mCAD/GW	25	0.91	(Moret et al., 2016)
CHP. biomass combustion. ORC 2.5MW	CHP/ORC	*	*	*	*	*	*	*		Electricity, Heat	0.89		656.0	5.5	17.4	mCAD/GW	20	0.91	(Rentizelas et al., 2009)
CHP. biomass gasification. IC engine 3MW	CHP/Gasificati n/IC engine	o *	*	*	*	*	*	*		Electricity, Heat	0.81		1155	.616.6	52.7	mCAD/GW	20	0.91	(Rentizelas et al., 2009)
CHP. District. Wood 20MWth	CHP/District	*	*	*	*	*	*			Heat, Electricity	0.71		933.1	9.8	25.1	mCAD/GW	25	0.85	(Moret et al., 2017)
CHP. Industry. Wood 20MWth	CHP/Industry	*	*	*	*	*	*	*		Heat, Electricity	0.71		933.1	9.8	25.1	mCAD/GW	25	0.85	(Moret et al., 2017)
Boiler. Decentralized. Wood. 0.1MW	Boiler/Decentra lized	ı *	*	*	*	*	*			Heat	0.85		535.1	5.2	13.5	mCAD/GW	17	0.29	(Moret et al., 2017)

						Table	A-I I Continu	ied.								
Technology	Conversion process	Hogfuel Forest industry residues	siasn Firewood Chips	Pulp and paper waste	Spent liquor	Energy input	Bioenergy	EFF (Out/Input)	CEFF (Input fuel/Out)	Investment cost	Fixed operating cost	Variable operating cost	Cost unit	Life Time	Availability factor	Reference
Boiler. District. Wood.10MW	Boiler/District	* *	* * *	*	*		Heat	0.864		133.2	0.7	1.9	mCAD/GW	17	0.9	(Moret et al., 2017)
Boiler. Industry. Wood.10MW	Boiler/Industry	* *	* * *	*	*		Heat	0.927		133.2	0.7	1.9	mCAD/GW	17	0.9	(Moret et al., 2017)
Boilers. Industrial. Wood	Boilers/Industri al	* *	* * *	*	*		Heat	0.59		73.8	0.6	1.6	mCAD/GW	15	0.9	(Panos et Kannan, 2016)
Boilers. Residential. Wood. High	Boilers/Residen tial		* * *				Heat	0.72		1628.0	1.9	4.9	mCAD/GW	15	0.9	(Panos et Kannan, 2016)
Boilers. Residential. Wood. Low	Boilers/Residen tial		* * *				Heat	0.72		505.6	0.6	1.6	mCAD/GW	15	0.9	(Panos et Kannan, 2016)
Boilers. Services. Wood	Boilers/Services	* *	* * *	*	*		Heat	0.72		171.9	0.9	2.3	mCAD/GW	15	0.9	(Panos et Kannan, 2016)

Table A-I 1 Continued.

Technology	Conversion process	Feedstock	Energy input	Bioenergy	EFF (Out/Input)	CEFF (Input fuel/Out)	Investment cost	Fixed operating cost	Variable operating cost	Cost unit	Life Time	Availability factor	Reference
CH4 reforming. CCS. Hydrogen	CH4 reforming/Hydrogen	Syngas		Hydrogen	0.73		788.55	17.89	56.64	mCAD/GW	25	0.86	(Moret et al., 2017 ; Tock, 2013)
Electrolysis. Hydrogen	Electrolysis/Hydrogen	Syngas	Electricity	Hydrogen	0.85	1.18	356.36	8.55	27.08	mCAD/GW	15	0.90	(Moret et al., 2017 ; Gassner et Maréchal,
CHP. Combined-Cycle Gas Turbine CCGT. SNG 34-55MWe	CHP/CCGT	Syngas		Electricity, Heat	0.88		897.65	15.91	50.39	mCAD/GW	25	0.91	(Moret et al., 2016)
CHP. Oil/Bio-Oil 0.2-2MWe	CHP/BioOil	Pyrolysis oil		Electricity, Heat	0.82		568.29	15.76	49.94	mCAD/GW	20	0.91	(Moret et al., 2016)
Boilers. Industrial. Oil	Boilers/Industrial	Pyrolysis oil		Heat	0.77		33.37	0.30	0.78	mCAD/GW	15	0.90	(Panos et Kannan, 2016)
Boilers. Industrial. Pellet	Boilers/Industrial	Pellets		Heat	0.74		75.84	0.61	1.56	mCAD/GW	15	0.90	(Panos et Kannan, 2016)
Boilers. Residential. Oil. High	Boilers/Residential	Pyrolysis oil		Heat	0.83		1365.13	1.62	4.16	mCAD/GW	15	0.90	(Panos et Kannan, 2016)
Boilers. Residential. Oil. Low	Boilers/Residential	Pyrolysis oil		Heat	0.83		414.59	0.51	1.30	mCAD/GW	15	0.90	(Panos et Kannan, 2016)
Boilers. Residential. Pellet. High	Boilers/Residential	Pellets		Heat	0.90		2386.45	7.18	18.45	mCAD/GW	15	0.90	(Panos et Kannan, 2016)
Boilers. Residential. Pellet. Low	Boilers/Residential	Pellets		Heat	0.90		637.06	1.92	4.94	mCAD/GW	15	0.90	(Panos et Kannan, 2016)
Boilers. Services. Oil	Boilers/Services	Pyrolysis oil		Heat	0.83		110.22	0.61	1.56	mCAD/GW	15	0.90	(Panos et Kannan, 2016)
Boilers. Services. Pellet	Boilers/Services	Pellets		Heat	0.90		232.58	1.42	3.64	mCAD/GW	15	0.90	(Panos et Kannan, 2016)

Table A-I 2 The techno-economic data of secondary forest-based bioenergy technologies.

Part B

Hydrothermal liquefaction (HTL) produces a liquid fuel known as biocrude, comparable to crude oil. It can be upgraded to the whole distillate range of petroleum-derived fuel products (conventional hydrocarbon fuel) via hydrotreating and hydrocracking. The upgraded hydrocarbon fuel is stabilized through cooling and distillation to generate gasoline, diesel, and heavy oil fractions following their boiling point ranges (Elliott *et al.*, 2015 ; Zhu *et al.*, 2014). Bio-methanol, also known as methyl alcohol or wood alcohol usable either as a blend in fuel in internal combustion engines or in fuel cell vehicles. Methanol is considered as a functional product in the chemical industry as a starting point for many chemicals. Lignocellulosic-based bio-methanol could be a feasible way to address several of the problems related to the current use of petroleum-derived fuels, such as energy security and GHG emissions (Hamelinck et Faaij, 2002). Additionally, bio-methanol production via synthesis gas from biomass is similar to coal-based methanol. Crude bio-methanol produced by removing the last distillation step (instead of grade AA methanol) is suitable for marine diesel fuel (Carvalho *et al.*, 2018).

Ethanol and butanol as fermentation products are compatible with spark-ignited engines. Ethanol derived from starch or sugar is identified as "first-generation" biofuel, and ethanol generated from lignocellulose is known as "second-generation" biofuel (Van Walsum et Wheeler, 2013). Today, bioethanol is recognized as one of the leading gasoline additives and an octane booster. First-generation bioethanol production is a well-known commercialized process. Whereas, lignocellulosic bioethanol attracts global attention because of reducing environmental burdens, high feedstock availability, feedstock capability to compete with the crude oil price, and potential to enhance food security (Li *et al.*, 2018). An essential preference for fermentation's alcohol is that they are directly applicable as fuel without upgrading. For instance, ethanol is blended into gasoline at up to 10 % in North America. The flex-fuel vehicles that are available now can work with ethanol blended into gasoline that may not

jeopardize food security. It has low energy efficiency (HHV: 29.7 MJ/kg) and is not currently cost-effective. Contrary to ethanol, a non-fungible fuel, butanol (HHV: 36.0 MJ/kg) can blend with gasoline in any percentage. Upgrading the fermentation process output through catalytic hydrolysis and injecting hydrogen would make advanced biofuels known as hydrocarbons (HC's). The optimal HC's could be used as "drop-in" fuel, although conversion cost is currently very high as the technology is under development (Van Walsum et Wheeler, 2013 ; Guo, Song et Buhain, 2015). Butanol is known as an "advanced" biofuel because it can be mixed at any ratio with gasoline. However, it is not considered a "drop-in" fuel since butanol energy density is lower than gasoline (Van Walsum et Wheeler, 2013). Biological conversion of hemicelluloses in existing Kraft pulp mills, which produce dissolving pulp, can result in butanol (bio) production. The biobutanol properties are similar to gasoline and better than bioethanol (higher energy content, less corrosive and volatile) (Levasseur *et al.*, 2017).

Fischer–Tropsch (FT) catalytic synthesis benefits from a long industrial experience. FT is compatible with current fuel infrastructure (Swanson *et al.*, 2010). FT-liquids are free of sulphur and contain very few aromatics compared to gasoline and diesel, which results in lower emission levels when applied in internal combustion engines (Tijmensen *et al.*, 2002).

Bio-oil derived through fast pyrolysis of lignocellulosic feedstock is the primary product for energy applications since it can substitute for crude oil in petroleum refineries. It is required to enhance the oil quality by decreasing oxygen and water content and rising energy density and shelf life. Upgrading pyrolysis oil to a usable transport fuel such as diesel, gasoline, and kerosene needs full deoxygenation and some conventional refining (Van Walsum et Wheeler, 2013; Li *et al.*, 2017).

The gasoline (bio) derived through the methanol-to-gasoline (MTG) process is similar to conventional gasoline. It is compatible with current infrastructure and automobiles, making it an advanced drop-in biofuel (Phillips *et al.*, 2011). Besides, liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) is a co-product of this conversion process.

Wood pellets are a densified form of biomass with less moisture content, higher energy equivalent, and more convenient transport and storage capabilities. Pellets emit a low amount of SO₂ and NO_x while having precise combustion (Guo, Song et Buhain, 2015; Shahrukh *et al.*, 2015).

Syngas's (SNG) energy density is about half of natural gas and is applicable in the steam cycles, gas engines, fuel cells, or turbines to generate power and heat. SNG plays an intermediate role in producing liquid fuels and other biochemicals, such as hydrogen, synthetic natural gas, naphtha, kerosene, diesel, methanol, dimethyl ether and ammonia. It can be converted into alcohols and/or hydrocarbons (HCs) employing fermentation or chemical catalytic methods (Ibarra-Gonzalez et Rong, 2018; Van Walsum et Wheeler, 2013).

Bio-based heat and electricity are generated by converting the chemical energy of biomass into heat/mechanical power/electricity by combustion, co-firing, combined heat and power (CHP) systems (McKendry, 2002).

APPENDIX II

SUPPORTING INFORMATION IMPACT OF THE BIOGENIC CARBON NEUTRALITY ASSUMPTION FOR ACHIEVING A NET-ZERO EMISSION TARGET: INSIGHTS FROM A TECHNO-ECONOMIC ANALYSIS

Part A

A comprehensive set of techno-economic data of the forest-based bioenergy technologies (BIOF) is presented in Table A-II 1.

Technology	Conversion process	Energy input	Bioenergy	EFF ¹	CEFF ²	² GHGs ³	Investment cost ⁴	Fixed operating cost ⁵	Variable operating cost ⁵	Life Time ⁶	Availa bility factor	Reference
BIOF.Butanol.Production.Fermentation. 25	Fermentation	Natural gas	Cellulosic butanol, Heat	0.43	0.18	99.98	12.86	0.75	0.37	30	0.96	(Levasseur et al., 2017)
BIOF.Butanol.Production.Fermentation. 25.CCS	Fermentation	Natural gas	Cellulosic butanol, Heat	0.28	0.59	10.00	22.65	1.33	0.58	30	0.96	(Levasseur et al., 2017 ; Berghout et al., 2015)
BIOF.Cellulosic ethanol.Liquefaction.Fermentation.Solve nt.THF.53.3MGPY	Liquefaction/fer mentation	Electricity, Natural gas	Cellulosic ethanol	0.24	1.42	101.87	119.31	8.57	9.81	30	0.91	(Li et al., 2018)
BIOF.Cellulosic ethanol.Liquefaction.Fermentation.Solve nt.THF.53.3MGPY.CCS	Liquefaction/fer mentation	Electricity, Natural gas	Cellulosic ethanol	0.22	1.83	10.19	129.25	9.16	10.03	30	0.91	(Li et al., 2018 ; Berghout et al., 2015)
BIOF.Cellulosic ethanol.Liquefaction.Fermentation.Solve nt.Acetone.34.8MGPY	Liquefaction/fer mentation	Electricity, Natural gas	Cellulosic ethanol	0.17	1.74	76.54	176.36	15.29	17.51	30	0.91	(Li et al., 2018)
BIOF.Cellulosic ethanol.Liquefaction.Fermentation.Solve nt.Acetone.34.8MGPY.CCS	Liquefaction/fer mentation	Electricity, Natural gas	Cellulosic ethanol	0.16	2.05	7.65	183.84	15.74	17.68	30	0.91	(Li et al., 2018 ; Berghout et al., 2015)
BIOF.Cellulosic ethanol.Liquefaction.Fermentation.Solve nt.1,4-Dioxane.39.4MGPY	Liquefaction/fer mentation	Electricity, Natural gas	Cellulosic ethanol	0.20	1.34	101.87	163.36	11.95	13.68	30	0.91	(Li et al., 2018)
BIOF.Cellulosic ethanol.Liquefaction.Fermentation.Solve nt.1,4-Dioxane.39.4MGPY.CCS	Liquefaction/fer mentation	Electricity, Natural gas	Cellulosic ethanol	0.19	1.75	10.19	173.30	12.54	13.90	30	0.91	(Li et al., 2018 ; Berghout et al., 2015)
BIOF.Cellulosic ethanol.Liquefaction.Fermentation.Solve nt.GVL.50.6MGPY	Liquefaction/fer		Cellulosic ethanol	0.35	0.00	111.98	126.78	6.56	7.51	30	0.91	(Li et al., 2018 ; Han et al., 2015)
BIOF.Cellulosic ethanol.Liquefaction.Fermentation.Solve nt.GVL.50.6MGPY.CCS	Liquefaction/fer mentation		Cellulosic ethanol	0.26	0.00	11.20	137.69	7.21	7.75	30	0.91	(Han et al., 2015 ; Li et al., 2018 ; Berghout et al., 2015)

Table A-II 1 Techno-economic data of the forest-based bioenergy technologies (BIOF).

Technology	Conversion process	Energy input	Bioenergy	EFF	CEFF	² GHGs	Investment cost ⁴	t Fixed operating cost ⁵	Variable operating cost ⁵	Life Time ⁶	Availa bility factor	n Reference
BIOF.Cellulosic ethanol.Fermentation.Ethanol.Enzyme.E ilute-acid.53.4MGPY	Fermentation		Cellulosic ethanol, electricity	0.37	0.00	111.98	108.55	5.99	15.58	20	0.91	(Kazi et al., 2010 ; Li et al., 2018)
BIOF.Cellulosic ethanol.Fermentation.Ethanol.Enzyme.E ilute-acid.53.4MGPY.CCS	Fermentation		Cellulosic ethanol, electricity	0.27	0.00	11.20	119.47	6.64	15.82	20	0.91	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Kazi et al., 2010 ; Li et al., 2018)
BIOF.Cellulosic ethanol.Fermentation.Enzyme.NREL.61 MGPY	Fermentation		Cellulosic ethanol	0.43	0.00	111.98	106.78	6.09	6.98	20	0.91	(Humbird et al., 2011 ; Li et al., 2018)
BIOF.Cellulosic ethanol.Fermentation.Enzyme.NREL.61 MGPY.CCS	Fermentation		Cellulosic ethanol	0.30	0.00	11.20	117.69	6.74	7.22	20	0.91	(Humbird et al., 2011 ; Li et al., 2018 ; Berghout et al., 2015)
BIOF.Bio oil.Renewable diesel.Fast pyrolysis and hydroprocessing 57.6 MGPY	Fast pyrolysis	Electricity, Natural gas	Bio crude oil, renewable	0.55	0.27	34.43	72.60	5.15	4.60	30	0.91	(Wright et Brown, 2019 ; Li et al., 2017)
BIOF.Bio oil.Renewable diesel.Fast pyrolysis and hydroprocessing 57.6 MGPY.CCS	Fast pyrolysis	Electricity, Natural gas	Bio crude oil, renewable	0.51	0.41	3.44	75.96	5.35	4.67	30	0.91	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Wright et Brown, 2019 Li et al., 2017)
BIOF.Butanol.HTL and upgrading system 69.9 MGGEPY	Hydrothermal liquefaction	Electricity, Natural gas	Cellulosic butanol	0.66	0.12	78.78	69.80	6.64	5.11	20	0.91	(Zhu et al., 2014)
BIOF.Butanol.HTL and upgrading system 69.9 MGGEPY.CCS	Hydrothermal liquefaction	Electricity, Natural gas	Cellulosic butanol	0.54	0.44	7.88	77.48	7.09	5.28	20	0.91	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Zhu et al., 2014)
BIOF.CHP.biomass combustion.ORC.2.5MW	CHP/ORC		Electricity, Heat	0.89	0.00	83.83	25.79	0.22	0.69	20	0.91	(Rentizelas et al., 2009)
BIOF.CHP.biomass combustion.ORC.2.5MW.CCS	CHP/ORC		Electricity, Heat	0.53	0.00	8.38	35.29	0.75	0.87	20	0.91	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Rentizelas et al., 2009)

Table A-II 1 Continued.

Table A-II 1 Continued.	

Technology	Conversion process	Energy input	Bioenergy	EFF ¹	CEFF	² GHGs	, Investment cost ⁴	Fixed operating cost ⁵	Variable operating cost ⁵	Life Time ⁶	Availa bility factor	Reference
BIOF.CHP.biomass gasification.IC engine.3MW	CHP/Gasificatio n/IC engine		Electricity, Heat	0.81	0.00	83.83	45.44	0.65	2.07	20	0.91	(Rentizelas et al., 2009)
BIOF.CHP.biomass gasification.IC engine.3MW.CCS	CHP/Gasificatio n/IC engine		Electricity, Heat	0.50	0.00	8.38	54.69	1.18	2.25	20	0.91	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Rentizelas et al., 2009)
BIOF.Cellulosic ethanol.Gassifcation.61.8 MMGPY/mixed alcohol 76.2 MMGPY	Gasification/mi xed alcohol		Cellulosic ethanol	0.47	0.00	231.69	53.41	6.05	0.00	20	0.96	(Wright et Brown, 2019 ; Phillips et al., 2007)
BIOF.Cellulosic ethanol.Gassifcation.61.8 MMGPY/mixed alcohol 76.2	Gasification/mi xed alcohol		Cellulosic ethanol	0.24	0.00	23.17	75.97	7.39	0.00	20	0.96	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Wright et Brown, 2019 ; Phillips et al., 2007)
BIOF.Bio oil.Gassification.Methanol synthesis, Methanol to Gasoline 49.6 MGPY	Gasification/me thanol synthesis		Bio cude oil, cellulosic	0.47	0.00	231.69	45.57	5.43	2.32	20	0.96	(Phillips et al., 2011)
BIOF.Bio oil.Gassification.Methanol synthesis, Methanol to Gasoline 49.6 MGPY.CCS	Gasification/me thanol synthesis		Bio cude oil, cellulosic	0.24	0.00	23.17	68.13	6.77	2.82	20	0.96	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Phillips et al., 2011)
BIOF.Pyrolysis oil.Pyrolysis.Wood.10MW	Pyrolysis		Pyrolysis oil	0.68	0.00	51.65	59.70	0.72	2.27	25	0.85	(Moret et al., 2017)
BIOF.Pyrolysis oil.Pyrolysis.Wood.10MW.CCS	Pyrolysis		Pyrolysis oil	0.52	0.00	5.17	65.07	1.03	2.38	25	0.85	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Moret et al., 2017)
BIOF.Syngas.Gasification.Wood.20MW	Gasification		Syngas	0.86	0.00	231.69	107.18	0.50	4.95	25	0.85	(Moret et al., 2017)
BIOF.Syngas.Gasification.Wood.20MW .CCS	Gasification		Syngas	0.30	0.00	23.17	129.87	1.85	5.45	25	0.85	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Moret et al., 2017)

Technology	Conversion process	Energy input	Bioenergy	EFF ¹	CEFF	² GHGs ³	Investment cost ⁴	Fixed operating cost ⁵	Variable operating cost ⁵	Life Time ⁶	Availa bility factor	Reference
BIOF.H2.Hydrogen.Electrolysis	Electrolysis/Hy drogen	Electricity	Hydrogen	0.85	1.18	49.35	14.01	0.34	1.06	15	0.90	(Moret et al., 2017 ; Gassner et Maréchal, 2008)
BIOF.H2.Hydrogen.CH4 reforming	CH4 reforming/Hydr ogen		Hydrogen	0.73	0.00	69.99	31.01	0.70	2.23	25	0.86	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Tock, 2013)
BIOF.H2.Hydrogen.CH4 reforming.CCS	CH4 reforming/Hydr ogen		Hydrogen	0.50	0.00	7.00	38.17	1.12	2.38	25	0.86	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Moret et al., 2017 ; Tock, 2013)
BIOF.CHP.Industry.Wood.20MWth	CHP/Industry		Electricity, Heat	0.71	0.00	83.83	36.69	0.38	0.99	25	0.85	(Moret et al., 2017)
BIOF.CHP.Industry.Wood.20MWth.CC S	CHP/Industry		Electricity, Heat	0.46	0.00	8.38	44.98	0.88	1.17	25	0.85	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Moret et al., 2017)
BIOF.CHP.District.Wood.20MWth	CHP/District		Electricity, Heat	0.71	0.00	83.83	36.69	0.38	0.99	25	0.85	(Moret et al., 2017)
BIOF.CHP.District.Wood.20MWth.CCS	CHP/District		Electricity, Heat	0.46	0.00	8.38	44.98	0.88	1.17	25	0.85	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Moret et al., 2017)
BIOF.CHP.Combined-Cycle Gas Turbine CCGT.Syngas.34-55MWe	CHP/CCGT		Electricity, Heat	0.88	0.00	49.35	35.30	0.63	1.98	25	0.91	(Moret et al., 2016)
BIOF.CHP.Combined-Cycle Gas Turbine CCGT.Syngas.34-55MWe.CCS	CHP/CCGT		Electricity, Heat	0.63	0.00	4.94	40.13	0.91	2.09	25	0.91	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Moret et al., 2016)
BIOF.CHP.Pyrolysis oil.0.2-2MWe	CHP/BioOil		Electricity, Heat	0.82	0.00	69.99	22.35	0.62	1.96	20	0.91	(Moret et al., 2016)

Table A-II 1 Continued.

Technology	Conversion process	Energy input	Bioenergy	EFF ¹	CEFF	² GHGs ³	Investment cost ⁴	Fixed operating cost ⁵	Variable operating cost ⁵	Life Time ⁶	Availa bility factor	Reference
BIOF.CHP.Pyrolysis oil.0.2-2MWe.CCS	S CHP/BioOil		Electricity, Heat	0.54	0.00	7.00	29.94	1.06	2.11	20	0.91	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Moret et al., 2016)
BIOF.CHP.ORC system.Wet.Dry.wood.2.08MWe	CHP/ORC/Wet/ dry		Electricity, Heat	0.85	0.00	83.83	82.38	2.19	6.94	25	0.91	(Moret et al., 2016)
BIOF.CHP.ORC system.Wet.Dry.wood.2.08MWe.CCS	CHP/ORC/Wet/ dry		Electricity, Heat	0.51	0.00	8.38	91.20	2.70	7.12	25	0.91	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Moret et al., 2016)
BIOF.Boiler.Industry.Wood.10MW	Boiler/Industry		Heat	0.93	0.00	83.83	5.24	0.03	0.08	17	0.90	(Moret et al., 2017)
BIOF.Boiler.Industry.Wood.10MW.CCS	S Boiler/Industry		Heat	0.54	0.00	8.38	13.73	0.53	0.26	17	0.90	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Moret et al., 2017)
BIOF.Boiler.District.Wood.10MW	Boiler/District		Heat	0.86	0.00	83.83	5.24	0.03	0.08	17	0.90	(Moret et al., 2017)
BIOF.Boiler.District.Wood.10MW.CCS	Boiler/District		Heat	0.52	0.00	8.38	13.73	0.53	0.26	17	0.90	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Moret et al., 2017)
BIOF.Boiler.Decentralized.Wood.0.1M W	Boiler/Decentra lized		Heat	0.85	0.00	83.83	21.04	0.21	0.53	17	0.29	(Moret et al., 2017)
BIOF.Boiler.Decentralized.Wood.0.1M W.CCS	Boiler/Decentra lized		Heat	0.51	0.00	8.38	1093.51	41.14	0.71	17	0.29	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Moret et al., 2017)
BIOF.Syngas.Gasification facility.gasifier+methanisation	Gasification/me thanation		Syngas, Electricity	0.55	0.00	231.69	139.16	1.59	4.64	20	0.96	(Panos et Kannan, 2016)

Table A-II 1 Continued.

Table A-II 1 Continued.

Technology	Conversion process	Energy input	Bioenergy	FFF	¹ CEFF	² GHGs ³	3 Investment cost ⁴	t Fixed operating cost⁵	Variable operating cost ⁵	Life Time ⁶	Availa bility factor	Reference
BIOF.Syngas.Gasification facility.gasifier+methanisation.CCS	Gasification/me thanation		Syngas, Electricity	0.25	0.00	23.17	161.76	2.94	5.14	20	0.96	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Panos et Kannan, 2016)
BIOF.Syngas.Gasification facility.gasifier+mechanization elctrolyser	Gasification/me thanation	Electricity	Syngas	0.54	0.85	138.46	169.78	2.26	6.59	20	0.96	(Panos et Kannan, 2016
BIOF.Syngas.Gasification facility.gasifier+methanisation.elctrolyse r.CCS	Gasification/me e thanation	Electricity	Syngas	0.27	0.95	13.85	183.31	3.06	6.89	20	0.96	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Panos et Kannan, 2016)
BIOF.Pellet.Densification.Forest residue.Regular.190kt	Densification	Electricity, Natural gas	Wood pellet	0.87	0.04	10.05	16.53	0.78	2.70	30	0.85	(Shahrukh et al., 2016)
BIOF.Pellet.Densification.Forest residue.Regular.190kt.CCS	Densification	Electricity, Natural gas	Wood pellet	0.84	0.09	1.01	17.53	0.84	2.72	30	0.85	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Shahrukh et al., 2016)
BIOF.Pellet.Densification.Forest residue.Steam pretreated.290kt	Densification	Electricity, Natural gas	Wood pellet	0.88	0.04	9.90	30.56	0.79	3.33	30	0.85	(Shahrukh et al., 2016)
BIOF.Pellet.Densification.Forest residue.Steam pretreated.290kt.CCS	Densification	Electricity, Natural gas	Wood pellet	0.85	0.08	0.99	31.54	0.85	3.35	30	0.85	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Shahrukh et al., 2016)
BIOF.FT Diesel.catalytic hydroprocessing.high temperature.flow gasifier.41.7MGPY	Gasification/Fis cher-Tropsch	5	FT diesel, Electricity	0.53	0.00	231.69	148.42	3.43	2.94	20	0.91	(Swanson et al., 2010)
BIOF.FT Diesel.catalytic hydroprocessing high temperature.flow gasifier.41.7MGPY.CCS	Gasification/Fis cher-Tropsch	5	FT diesel, Electricity	0.25	0.00	23.17	170.98	4.77	3.44	20	0.91	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Swanson et al., 2010)
BIOF.FT Diesel catalytic hydroprocessing low temperature fluidized bed gasific 32 3MGPY	Gasification/Fis cher-Tropsch	5	FT diesel, Electricity	0.43	0.00	231.69	151.58	3.65	3.96	20	0.91	(Swanson et al., 2010)

Technology	Conversion process	Energy input	Bioenergy	EFF ¹	CEFF ²	GHGs ³	Investment cost ⁴	Fixed operating cost ⁵	Variable operating cost ⁵	Life Time ⁶	Availa bility factor	Reference
BIOF.FT Diesel.catalytic hydroprocessing.low temperature. luidized bed gasifie.32.3MGPY.CCS	Gasification/Fis cher-Tropsch		FT diesel, Electricity	0.22	0.00	23.17	174.15	5.00	4.46	20	0.91	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Swanson et al., 2010)
BIOF.Boilers.Industrial.Oil	Boilers/Industri al		Heat	0.77	0.00	69.99	1.31	0.01	0.03	15	0.90	(Panos et Kannan, 2016)
BIOF.Boilers.Industrial.Oil.CCS	Boilers/Industri al		Heat	0.52	0.00	7.00	8.46	0.43	0.18	15	0.90	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Panos et Kannan, 2016)
BIOF.Boilers.Services.Oil	Boilers/Services		Heat	0.83	0.00	69.99	4.33	0.02	0.06	15	0.90	(Panos et Kannan, 2016)
BIOF.Boilers.Services.Oil.CCS	Boilers/Services		Heat	0.54	0.00	7.00	11.48	0.44	0.21	15	0.90	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Panos et Kannan, 2016)
BIOF.Boilers.Residential.Oil.Low	Boilers/Residen tial		Heat	0.83	0.00	69.99	16.30	0.02	0.05	15	0.90	(Panos et Kannan, 2016)
BIOF.Boilers.Residential.Oil.Low.CCS	Boilers/Residen tial		Heat	0.54	0.00	7.00	360.14	13.23	0.20	15	0.90	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Panos et Kannan, 2016)
BIOF.Boilers.Residential.Oil.High	Boilers/Residen tial		Heat	0.83	0.00	69.99	53.68	0.06	0.16	15	0.90	(Panos et Kannan, 2016)
BIOF.Boilers.Residential.Oil.High.CCS	Boilers/Residen tial		Heat	0.54	0.00	7.00	63.86	0.60	0.31	15	0.90	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Panos et Kannan, 2016)
BIOF.Boilers.Industrial.Pellet	Boilers/Industri al		Heat	0.74	0.00	87.80	2.98	0.02	0.06	15	0.90	(Panos et Kannan, 2016)

Table A-II 1 Continued.
Technology	Conversion process	Energy input	Bioenergy	EFF ¹	CEFF ²	² GHGs ³	Investment	Fixed operating cost ⁵	Variable operating cost ⁵	Life Time ⁶	Availa bility factor	Reference
BIOF.Boilers.Industrial.Pellet.CCS	Boilers/Industri al		Heat	0.46	0.00	8.78	11.86	0.55	0.25	15	0.90	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Panos et Kannan, 2016)
BIOF.Boilers.Services.Pellet	Boilers/Services		Heat	0.90	0.00	87.80	9.14	0.06	0.14	15	0.90	(Panos et Kannan, 2016)
BIOF.Boilers.Services.Pellet.CCS	Boilers/Services		Heat	0.52	0.00	8.78	18.02	0.58	0.33	15	0.90	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Panos et Kannan, 2016)
BIOF.Boilers.Residential.Pellet.Low	Boilers/Residen tial		Heat	0.90	0.00	87.80	25.05	0.08	0.19	15	0.90	(Panos et Kannan, 2016)
BIOF.Boilers.Residential.Pellet.Low.CC S	Boilers/Residen tial		Heat	0.52	0.00	8.78	370.62	13.39	0.38	15	0.90	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Panos et Kannan, 2016)
BIOF.Boilers.Residential.Pellet.High	Boilers/Residen tial		Heat	0.90	0.00	87.80	93.84	0.28	0.73	15	0.90	(Panos et Kannan, 2016)
BIOF.Boilers.Residential.Pellet.High.CC S	Boilers/Residen tial		Heat	0.52	0.00	8.78	105.75	0.92	0.91	15	0.90	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Panos et Kannan, 2016)
BIOF.Boilers.Industrial.Wood	Boilers/Industri al		Heat	0.59	0.00	83.83	2.90	0.02	0.06	15	0.90	(Panos et Kannan, 2016)
BIOF.Boilers.Industrial.Wood.CCS	Boilers/Industri al		Heat	0.41	0.00	8.38	11.40	0.52	0.24	15	0.90	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Panos et Kannan, 2016)
BIOF.Boilers.Services.Wood	Boilers/Services		Heat	0.72	0.00	83.83	6.76	0.04	0.09	15	0.90	(Panos et Kannan, 2016)

Table A-II 1 Continued.

Continued

Technology	Conversion process	Energy input	Bioenergy	EFF ¹	CEFF ²	GHGs ³	Investment cost ⁴	Fixed operating cost ⁵	Variable operating cost ⁵	Life Time ⁶	Availa bility factor	Reference
BIOF.Boilers.Services.Wood.CCS	Boilers/Services		Heat	0.46	0.00	8.38	15.25	0.53	0.27	15	0.90	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Panos et Kannan, 2016)
BIOF.Boilers.Residential.Wood.Low	Boilers/Residen tial		Heat	0.72	0.00	83.83	19.88	0.02	0.06	15	0.90	(Panos et Kannan, 2016)
BIOF.Boilers.Residential.Wood.Low.CC S	Boilers/Residen tial		Heat	0.46	0.00	8.38	365.07	13.32	0.24	15	0.90	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Panos et Kannan, 2016)
BIOF.Boilers.Residential.Wood.High	Boilers/Residen tial		Heat	0.72	0.00	83.83	64.01	0.08	0.19	15	0.90	(Panos et Kannan, 2016)
BIOF.Boilers.Residential.Wood.High.C CS	Boilers/Residen tial		Heat	0.46	0.00	8.38	75.54	0.69	0.37	15	0.90	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Panos et Kannan, 2016)
BIOF.Methanol.grade AA.CoGasification.black liquor.crude glycerol	Co-Gasification E	lectricity	Biomethan ol	0.66	0.19	99.98	165.61	1.97	7.29	20	0.97	(Carvalho et al., 2018)
BIOF.Methanol.grade AA.CoGasification.black liquor.crude glycerol.CCS	Co-Gasification E	lectricity	Biomethan ol	0.49	0.26	10.00	175.34	2.55	7.51	20	0.97	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Carvalho et al., 2018)
BIOF.Methanol.grade AA.CoGasification.black liquor	Co-Gasification E	lectricity	Biomethan ol	0.57	0.29	99.98	299.67	19.71	51.26	20	0.97	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Carvalho et al., 2018)
BIOF.Methanol.grade AA.CoGasification.black liquor.CCS	Co-Gasification E	lectricity	Biomethan ol	0.61	0.36	10.00	309.41	20.29	51.47	20	0.97	(Berghout et al., 2015 ; Carvalho et al., 2018)
BIOF.H2.Hydrogen.BM Eimp.Gassification	Gasification/Hy E drogen	lectricity	Hydrogen	0.61	0.06	138.46	53.03	6.26	19.20	25	0.86	(Tock, 2013)

Table A-II 1 Continued.

Continued

Table A-II 1 Continued.

Technology	Conversion process	Energy input	Bioenergy	EFF ¹	CEFF ²	² GHGs ³	Investment cost ⁴	Fixed operating cost ⁵	Variable operating cost ⁵	Life Time ⁶	Availa bility factor	Reference
BIOF.H2.Hydrogen.BM Self Gassification.MVR.PreCombustion	Gasification/H ydrogen		Hydrogen	0.43	0.00	149.00	129.82	10.06	25.04	25	0.86	(Tock, 2013)
BIOF.H2.Hydrogen.BM Eimp Gasification.MVR.PreCombustion CCS	Gasification/H ydrogen	Electricity	Hydrogen	0.60	0.28	90.00	81.93	6.26	27.90	25	0.86	(Tock, 2013)
BIOF.H2.Hydrogen.BM Eimp Gassification.PreCombustion CCS	Gasification/H ydrogen	Electricity	Hydrogen	0.47	0.23	90.00	93.74	7.61	30.51	25	0.86	(Tock, 2013)
¹ Output/Input ² Input fuel/Output ³ Kt CO ₂ -eq/PJ ⁴ MCAD2016/PJ ⁵ MCAD2016/PJ ⁶ Year												

Part B

The following document provides supportive information for the original article, including detailed figures and additional results.







Figure A-II 2 Total annual GHG emission and CDR by sector in Quebec – carbon neutrality scenarios

We have shown the impact of BIOF in Figure A-II 3. Reliance on DAC increases slightly in scenarios without BIOF (GHG_FM1_NO_BIOF, GHG_FM2_NO_BIOF), except for GHG_FM3_NO_BIOF, where it decreases. CHP.ORC.CCS technology is a predominant BIOF process used to address the demand for heat and electricity for DAC. Excluding CHP.ORC.CCS forced the model to rely on alternative technologies to generate the required energy for DAC, increasing total costs and GHG emissions. Whereas GHG_FM3 has a high sequestration capacity and does not require a significant amount of DAC to sequester CO₂ emissions. It is simply a matter of lowering total costs by using BIOF for GHG_FM3.



Figure A-II 3 Total annual GHG emission and CDR by sector in Quebec when excluding BIOF technologies



Figure A-II 4 Primary energy consumption in Quebec





GHG_FM3 uses no wood pellets while other GHG_FMx scenarios use nearly 10 PJ of wood pellets and GHG_FMx_CN scenarios use around 13 PJ of wood pellets.



Figure A-II 6 The effect of forest management strategies and carbon neutrality on bioenergy consumption

Syngas with electricity and heat as co-products from gasification conversion process with CCS are utilized in GHG_FMx_CN scenarios (Figure A-II 7). In 2050, syngas is used mainly in different industrial processes as an alternative fuel for natural gas. It is also used in the electricity and transportation sectors within the GHG_FM1_CN scenario (after 2045) to meet the demand with a carbon neutral bioenergy source. CHP/ORC technology with CCS produces the required heat and electricity for GHG scenarios of FM2 (high feedstock availability) from 2040 and other GHG scenarios from 2050. CHP/ORC technology with CCS provides the heat for DAC. Cellulosic ethanol from gasification technology is activated in all REF_FMx_CN scenarios, and the BECCS version of this technology provides cellulosic ethanol for GHG_FMx_CN scenarios. Cellulosic ethanol from fermentation technology with CCS also

produces the required bioenergy for GHG_FMx scenarios till 2040. Different commercial and industrial wood and pellet boilers are activated for scenarios depending on available feedstock and defined constraints. Generally, boilers without CCS provide the required heat for reference scenarios, whereas boilers with CCS are utilized for GHG scenarios to meet the GHG reduction targets.



Figure A-II 7 BIOF technologies



Figure A-II 8 The effect of BIOF on bioenergy consumption

APPENDIX III SUPPORTING INFORMATION THE ROLE OF HYDROGEN IN A NET-ZERO EMISSION ECONOMY UNDER ALTERNATIVE POLICY SCENARIOS

The following document provides supportive information for the CHAPTER 4 (Kouchaki-Penchah, Bahn, Bashiri, *et al.*, 2023).



Figure A-III 1 Bioenergy consumption under different policy constraints



Figure A-III 2 Electricity production under different policy constraints



Figure A-III 3 Final energy consumption of industrial sector under alternative policy constraints







Figure A-III 5 Simplified reference energy system (RES) of carbon capture and usage (CCU) technologies and available sequestration in NATEM-Quebec



Figure A-III 6 Net export in Quebec under alternative policy scenario



Figure A-III 7 (a) Hydrogen production and (b) hydrogen consumption profile under alternative policy scenarios



Figure A-III 8 Merit order of hydrogen technologies under a green hydrogen policy, (a) REF, (g) NZ_2050_green, (h) NZ_2050_IND_green, (i) NZ_2050_CCU_green, (j) NZ_2040_green, and (k) NZ_2060_green



Figure A-III 9 GHG emissions by sector of all scenarios



Figure A-III 10 Carbon capture and usage under alternative policy scenarios

LIST OF REFERENCES

- Abt, Robert, Christopher Galik et Justin Baker. 2022. « When burning wood to generate energy makes climate sense ». *Bulletin of the Atomic Scientists*, vol. 78, n° 3, p. 152-157. < https://doi.org/10.1080/00963402.2022.2062941>. Consulté le 12 avril 2023.
- Adetona, Adekunbi B. et David B. Layzell. 2023. « Diverting residual biomass to energy use: Quantifying the global warming potential of biogenic CO2 (GWPbCO2) ». GCB Bioenergy, vol. 15, n° 5, p. 697-709. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.13048>. Consulté le 3 avril 2023.
- Agostini, Alessandro, Jacopo Giuntoli et Aikaterini Boulamanti. 2014. « Carbon accounting of forest bioenergy: conclusions and recommendations from a critical literature review ». *Institute for Energy and Transport*. <https://doi.org/https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2788/2960>. Consulté le 11 juin 2023.
- Ahmad, Fiaz, Edson Luiz Silva et Maria Bernadete Amâncio Varesche. 2018. « Hydrothermal processing of biomass for anaerobic digestion–A review ». *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 98, p. 108-124.
- Albers, Ariane, Pierre Collet, Daphné Lorne, Anthony Benoist et Arnaud Hélias. 2019.
 « Coupling partial-equilibrium and dynamic biogenic carbon models to assess future transport scenarios in France ». *Applied Energy*, vol. 239, p. 316-330.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2019.01.186>. Consulté le 14 janvier 2021.
- Allen, B, K Paquel, C Bowyer, D Baldock, S Nanni et M Nesbit. 2016. « Ensuring the sustainability of bioenergy and minimising the risk of carbon debt ». http://minisites.ieep.eu/assets/2178/IEEP_2016_Carbon_sustainability_of_Bioenergy_Web.pdf>.
- Astudillo, Miguel F. 2019. « Evaluating environmental consequences of decarbonising energy services ». Université de Sherbrooke. http://hdl.handle.net/11143/15298>.
- Babí Almenar, Javier, Claudio Petucco, Guido Sonnemann, Davide Geneletti, Thomas Elliot et Benedetto Rugani. 2023. « Modelling the net environmental and economic impacts of urban nature-based solutions by combining ecosystem services, system dynamics and life cycle thinking: An application to urban forests ». *Ecosystem Services*, vol. 60, p. 101506.

<https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECOSER.2022.101506>. Consulté le 11 juin 2023.

- Babiker, Mustafa, Göran Berndes, Kornelis Blok, Brett Cohen, Annette Cowie, Oliver Geden, Veronika Ginzburg, Adrian Leip, Pete Smith et Masahiro Sugiyama. 2022. « Cross-sectoral perspectives ». In Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. UK and New York, NY, USA : Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009157926.005>.
- Bahn, O. 2018. « The Contribution of Mathematical Models to Climate Policy Design: a Researcher's Perspective ». *Environmental Modeling and Assessment*, vol. 23, nº 6, p. 691-701. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10666-018-9637-z>.
- Bahn, Olivier et Kathleen Vaillancourt. 2020. « Implications of EMF 34 scenarios on renewable deployment and carbon abatement in Canada: Insights from a regionalized energy model ». *Energy Policy*, vol. 142, p. 111518.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2020.111518>. Consulté le 18 novembre 2020.
- Bajpai, Pratima. 2015. Management of pulp and paper mill waste. 1-197 p. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-11788-1>.
- Baker, J. S., C. M. Wade, B. L. Sohngen, S. Ohrel et A. A. Fawcett. 2019. « Potential complementarity between forest carbon sequestration incentives and biomass energy expansion ». *Energy Policy*, vol. 126, p. 391-401. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENPOL.2018.10.009>. Consulté le 9 avril 2023.
- Bashiri, H., O. Ashrafi, A. Esmaeili, H. Sapoundjiev et P. Navarri. 2018. « A Novel Cost Management Strategy for SELEXOL Syngas Purification Process ». In *European Biomass Conference and Exhibition Proceedings*. (2018), p. 741-747. ETA-Florence Renewable Energies. https://doi.org/10.5071/26THEUBCE2018-2CV.4.9. Consulté le 4 juin 2023.
- Bashiri, Hamed, Omid Ashrafi et Philippe Navarri. 2021. « Energy-efficient process designs of integrated biomass-derived syngas purification processes via waste heat recovery and integration of ejector technology ». *International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control*, vol. 106, p. 103259. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJGGC.2021.103259>. Consulté le 4 juin 2023.
- Bashiri, Hamed, Rahmat Sotudeh-Gharebagh, Amin Sarvar-Amini, Ali Haghtalab et Navid Mostoufi. 2014. « Comparative simulation of a fluidised bed reformer

using industrial process simulators ». http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/14786451.2014.932280, vol. 35, n° 7, p. 664-674. <https://doi.org/10.1080/14786451.2014.932280>. Consulté le 4 juin 2023.

- Bauer, Christian, Karin Treyer, Cristina Antonini, Joule Bergerson, Matteo Gazzani, Emre Gencer, Jon Gibbins, Marco Mazzotti, Sean T. McCoy, Russell McKenna, Robert Pietzcker, Arvind P. Ravikumar, Matteo C. Romano, Falko Ueckerdt, Jaap Vente et Mijndert van der Spek. 2022. « On the climate impacts of blue hydrogen production ». Sustainable Energy & Fuels, vol. 6, nº 1, p. 66-75. <https://doi.org/10.1039/D1SE01508G>.
- Berghout, Niels, Takeshi Kuramochi, Machteld van den Broek et André Faaij. 2015.
 « Techno-economic performance and spatial footprint of infrastructure configurations for large scale CO2 capture in industrial zones. A case study for the Rotterdam Botlek area (part A) ». *International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control*, vol. 39, p. 256-284.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijggc.2015.05.019>. Consulté le 16 mai 2021.
- Berndes, Göran, Bob Abts, Antti Asikainen, Annette L. Cowie, Virginia Dale, Gustaf Egnell, Marcus Lindner, Luisa Marelli, David Paré, Kim Pingoud et Sonia Yeh. 2016. «Forest biomass, carbon neutrality and climate change mitigation ». From Science to Policy 3, n° October, p. 28. <http://www.efi.int/files/attachments/publications/efi fstp 3 2016.pdf>.
- Bernier, Pierre et David Paré. 2013. « Using ecosystem CO2 measurements to estimate the timing and magnitude of greenhouse gas mitigation potential of forest bioenergy ». GCB Bioenergy, vol. 5, n° 1, p. 67-72. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1757-1707.2012.01197.X>. Consulté le 9 mai 2022.
- Blanco, Herib, Jonatan J. Gómez Vilchez, Wouter Nijs, Christian Thiel et André Faaij. 2019. « Soft-linking of a behavioral model for transport with energy system cost optimization applied to hydrogen in EU ». *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 115, p. 109349. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RSER.2019.109349>. Consulté le 21 mars 2023.
- Blanco, Herib, Wouter Nijs, Johannes Ruf et André Faaij. 2018. « Potential for hydrogen and Power-to-Liquid in a low-carbon EU energy system using cost optimization ». *Applied Energy*, vol. 232, p. 617-639. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2018.09.216>. Consulté le 21 mars 2023.
- Börjesson, Martin, Erik O. Ahlgren, Robert Lundmark et Dimitris Athanassiadis. 2014. « Biofuel futures in road transport - A modeling analysis for Sweden ». *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, vol. 32, p.

239-252. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2014.08.002>. Consulté le 18 novembre 2020.

- Caillat, S. et E. Vakkilainen. 2013. « Large-scale biomass combustion plants: an overview ». *Biomass Combustion Science, Technology and Engineering*, p. 189-224. < https://doi.org/10.1533/9780857097439.3.189>. Consulté le 10 mai 2023.
- Cambero, Claudia et Taraneh Sowlati. 2016. « Incorporating social benefits in multiobjective optimization of forest-based bioenergy and biofuel supply chains ». *Applied Energy*, vol. 178, p. 721-735. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2016.06.079>
- Capurso, T., M. Stefanizzi, M. Torresi et S. M. Camporeale. 2022. « Perspective of the role of hydrogen in the 21st century energy transition ». *Energy Conversion and Management*, vol. 251, p. 114898. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENCONMAN.2021.114898 février 2023.
- Carmo, Marcelo, David L. Fritz, Jürgen Mergel et Detlef Stolten. 2013. « A comprehensive review on PEM water electrolysis ». *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, vol. 38, n° 12, p. 4901-4934. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJHYDENE.2013.01.151. Consulté le 18 juin 2023.
- Carrasco, Jose L., Sampath Gunukula, Akwasi A. Boateng, Charles A. Mullen, William J. DeSisto et M. Clayton Wheeler. 2017. « Pyrolysis of forest residues: An approach to techno-economics for bio-fuel production ». *Fuel*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2016.12.063>.
- Carvalho, Lara, Joakim Lundgren, Elisabeth Wetterlund, Jens Wolf et Erik Furusjö. 2018. « Methanol production via black liquor co-gasification with expanded raw material base – Techno-economic assessment ». *Applied Energy*, vol. 225, n° April, p. 570-584. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2018.04.052>.
- Cherubini, Francesco, Glen P. Peters, Terje Berntsen, Anders H. Strømman et Edgar Hertwich. 2011. « CO2 emissions from biomass combustion for bioenergy: atmospheric decay and contribution to global warming ». *GCB Bioenergy*, vol. 3, n° 5, p. 413-426. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1757-1707.2011.01102.X. Consulté le 9 mai 2022.
- Churkina, Galina, Alan Organschi, Christopher P.O. Reyer, Andrew Ruff, Kira Vinke, Zhu Liu, Barbara K. Reck, T. E. Graedel et Hans Joachim Schellnhuber. 2020. « Buildings as a global carbon sink ». *Nature Sustainability 2020 3:4*,

vol. 3, n° 4, p. 269-276. <https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-019-0462-4>. Consulté le 12 avril 2023.

- Cintas, Olivia, Göran Berndes, Julia Hansson, Bishnu Chandra Poudel, Johan Bergh, Pål Börjesson, Gustaf Egnell, Tomas Lundmark et Annika Nordin. 2017. « The potential role of forest management in Swedish scenarios towards climate neutrality by mid century ». *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 383, p. 73-84. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2016.07.015>.
- COAG Energy Council. 2019. Australia's National Hydrogen Strategy.
- Codina Gironès, Victor. 2018. « Scenario modelling and optimisation of renewable energy integration for the energy transition ». École polytechnique fédérale de Lausanne.
- Collins, Seán, John Paul Deane, Kris Poncelet, Evangelos Panos, Robert C. Pietzcker, Erik Delarue et Brian Pádraig Ó Gallachóir. 2017. « Integrating short term variations of the power system into integrated energy system models: A methodological review ». *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 76, nº July 2016, p. 839-856. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2017.03.090>.
- Cormos, Calin Cristian. 2023. « Green hydrogen production from decarbonized biomass gasification: An integrated techno-economic and environmental analysis ». *Energy*, vol. 270, p. 126926. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENERGY.2023.126926>. Consulté le 7 avril 2023.
- Correa Hackenhaar, Isadora, Javier Babí Almenar, Thomas Elliot et Benedetto Rugani. 2022. « A spatiotemporally differentiated product system modelling framework for consequential life cycle assessment ». Journal of Cleaner Production, vol. 333, p. 130127. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2021.130127>. Consulté le 6 juin 2023.
- Creutzig, Felix, N. H. Ravindranath, Göran Berndes, Simon Bolwig, Ryan Bright, Francesco Cherubini, Helena Chum, Esteve Corbera, Mark Delucchi, Andre Faaij, Joseph Fargione, Helmut Haberl, Garvin Heath, Oswaldo Lucon, Richard Plevin, Alexander Popp, Carmenza Robledo-Abad, Steven Rose, Pete Smith, Anders Stromman, Sangwon Suh et Omar Masera. 2015. « Bioenergy and climate change mitigation: An assessment ». *GCB Bioenergy*, vol. 7, nº 5, p. 916-944. https://doi.org/10.1111/GCBB.12205>. Consulté le 16 juin 2023.

- Daigneault, Adam, Justin S. Baker, Jinggang Guo, Pekka Lauri, Alice Favero, Nicklas Forsell, Craig Johnston, Sara B. Ohrel et Brent Sohngen. 2022. « How the future of the global forest sink depends on timber demand, forest management, and carbon policies ». *Global Environmental Change*, vol. 76, p. 102582. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.GLOENVCHA.2022.102582>. Consulté le 12 avril 2023.
- Daly, Hannah E., Kate Scott, Neil Strachan et John Barrett. 2015. «Indirect CO2 Emission Implications of Energy System Pathways: Linking IO and TIMES Models for the UK ». *Environmental Science & Technology*, vol. 49, nº 17, p. 10701-10709. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b01020>.
- Damman, Sigrid, Eli Sandberg, Eva Rosenberg, Paolo Pisciella et Ingeborg Graabak. 2021. « A hybrid perspective on energy transition pathways: Is hydrogen the key for Norway? » Energy Research & Social Science, vol. 78, p. 102116. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ERSS.2021.102116>. Consulté le 21 mars 2023.
- Department for Business E& IS. 2021. UK Hydrogen Strategy. <www.gov.uk/officialdocuments>. Consulté le 22 mars 2023.
- Dodder, Rebecca S., P. Ozge Kaplan, Amani Elobeid, Simla Tokgoz, Silvia Secchi et Lyubov A. Kurkalova. 2015. «Impact of energy prices and cellulosic biomass supply on agriculture, energy, and the environment: An integrated modeling approach ». *Energy Economics*, vol. 51, p. 77-87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eneco.2015.06.008>.
- Douard, Frdric. 2010. « Energy Production from Wood ». In *Renewable Energies*, p. 427-471. London, UK : ISTE. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470612002.ch12>. Consulté le 25 janvier 2021.
- Duffy, P., K. Black, D. Fahey, B. Hyde, A. Kehoe, J. Murphy, B. Quirke, A.M. Ryan et J. Ponzi. 2021. *Ireland's National Inventory Report*. Wexford, Ireland. https://unfccc.int/documents/271533>. Consulté le 12 mai 2022.
- Dunsky et ESMIA. 2021. Trajectoires de réduction d'émissions de GES du Québec Horizons 2030 et 2050 (Mise à jour 2021). https://www.flickr.com/photos/simonippon/3095102826/>. Consulté le 9 janvier 2022.
- Durocher, Claude, Evelyne Thiffault, Alexis Achim, David Auty et Julie Barrette. 2019. « Untapped volume of surplus forest growth as feedstock for bioenergy ». *Biomass and Bioenergy*, vol. 120, n° November 2018, p. 376-386. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2018.11.024>.

- Eggleston, H. S., Leandro Buendia, Kyoko Miwa, Todd Ngara et Tanabe Kiyoto. 2006. 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories. Hayama, Japan : IPCC National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Programme.
- Elliot, Thomas, Benjamin Goldstein, Erik Gómez-Baggethun, Vânia Proença et Benedetto Rugani. 2022. « Ecosystem service deficits of European cities ». Science of The Total Environment, vol. 837, p. 155875. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2022.155875>. Consulté le 1 avril 2023.
- Elliott, Douglas C., Patrick Biller, Andrew B. Ross, Andrew J. Schmidt et Susanne B. Jones. 2015. «Hydrothermal liquefaction of biomass: Developments from batch to continuous process ». *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 178, p. 147-156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.09.132>.
- Environment and Climate Change Canada. 2021. National inventory report 1990-2019: greanhouse gas sources and sinks in Canada. Canada's submission to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. Gatineau, Quebec. https://unfccc.int/documents/271493>. Consulté le 12 mai 2022.
- Environment and Climate Change Canada. 2022. « 2030 emission reduction plan Canada's next steps for clean air and a strong economy». <https://www.canada.ca/en/services/environment/weather/climatechange/cli mate-plan/climate-plan-overview/emissions-reduction-2030.html>. Consulté le 29 mars 2022.
- Espegren, Kari, Sigrid Damman, Paolo Pisciella, Ingeborg Graabak et Asgeir Tomasgard. 2021. « The role of hydrogen in the transition from a petroleum economy to a low-carbon society ». *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, vol. 46, n° 45, p. 23125-23138. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJHYDENE.2021.04.143. Consulté le 12 février 2023.
- European Commission. 2018. « A Clean Planet for all A European strategic long-term vision for a prosperous, modern, competitive and climate neutral economy ». ttps://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52018DC0773&from=EN. Consulté le 30 mars 2021.
- EuropeanCommission.2020.AEuropeanGreenDeal.<https://commission.europa.eu/strategy-and-policy/priorities-2019-
2024/european-green-deal_en>.Consulté le 22 mars 2023.

- Fajardy, Mathilde et Niall Mac Dowell. 2017. « Can BECCS deliver sustainable and resource efficient negative emissions? » Energy & Environmental Science, vol. 10, nº 6, p. 1389-1426. https://doi.org/10.1039/C7EE00465F>. Consulté le 10 avril 2023.
- Farnell, P. W. 2016. «Engineering Aspects of Hydrocarbon Steam Reforming Catalysts ». *Topics in Catalysis*, vol. 59, n° 8-9, p. 802-808. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11244-016-0555-5/FIGURES/9>. Consulté le 18 juin 2023.
- Favero, Alice, Justin Baker, Brent Sohngen et Adam Daigneault. 2023. « Economic factors influence net carbon emissions of forest bioenergy expansion ». *Communications Earth & Environment 2023 4:1*, vol. 4, n° 1, p. 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43247-023-00698-5>. Consulté le 5 avril 2023.
- Favero, Alice, Adam Daigneault et Brent Sohngen. 2020. « Forests: Carbon sequestration, biomass energy, or both? » Science Advances, vol. 6, nº 13. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIADV.AAY6792/SUPPL_FILE/AAY6792_SM. PDF>. Consulté le 9 avril 2023.
- Favero, Alice, Adam Daigneault, Brent Sohngen et Justin Baker. 2023. « A system-wide assessment of forest biomass production, markets, and carbon ». GCB Bioenergy, vol. 15, nº 2, p. 154-165. https://doi.org/10.1111/GCBB.13013>. Consulté le 9 avril 2023.
- FCHEA. 2021. Road Map to a US Hydrogen Economy. https://www.fchea.org/us-hydrogen-study. Consulté le 22 mars 2023.
- Fernández Astudillo, Miguel, Kathleen Vaillancourt, Pierre-Olivier Pineau et Ben Amor. 2019. « Human Health and Ecosystem Impacts of Deep Decarbonization of the Energy System ». *Environmental Science & Technology*, vol. 53, n° 23, p. 14054-14062. <<u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b04923</u>>. Consulté le 18 novembre 2020.
- FPAC. 2019. « Industry by the numbers ». < https://www.fpac.ca/canadian-forestryindustry/forest-products/>.
- Frank, Stefan, Erwin Schmid, Petr Havlík, Uwe A. Schneider, Hannes Böttcher, Juraj Balkovič et Michael Obersteiner. 2015. « The dynamic soil organic carbon mitigation potential of European cropland ». *Global Environmental Change*, vol. 35, p. 269-278. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.GLOENVCHA.2015.08.004>. Consulté le 10 mai 2022.

- Funk, Jason M., Nicklas Forsell, John S. Gunn et David N. Burns. 2022. « Assessing the potential for unaccounted emissions from bioenergy and the implications for forests: The United States and global ». *GCB Bioenergy*, vol. 14, n° 3, p. 322-345. https://doi.org/10.1111/GCBB.12912>. Consulté le 2 avril 2023.
- GAMS. 2023. « The general algebraic modeling system ». In *GAMS Development Corp.* https://www.gams.com/. Consulté le 26 février 2023.
- Gassner, M. et F. Maréchal. 2008. « Thermo-economic optimisation of the integration of electrolysis in synthetic natural gas production from wood ». *Energy*, vol. 33, n° 2, p. 189-198. < https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2007.09.010>.
- Ghafghazi, Saeed, Kyle Lochhead, Anne Helen Mathey, Nicklas Forsell, Sylvain Leduc, Warren Mabee et Gary Bull. 2017. «Estimating mill residue surplus in Canada: A spatial forest fiber cascade modeling approach ». Forest Products Journal, vol. 67, nº 3-4, p. 205-218. https://doi.org/10.13073/FPJ-D-16-00031>.
- Government of Canada. 2010. «Renewable Fuels Regulations». https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/regulations/SOR-2010-189/FullText.html. Consulté le 3 août 2023.
- Government of Canada. 2020. « Canadian Net-Zero Emissions Accountability Act ». https://www.canada.ca/en/services/environment/weather/climatechange/climate-plan/net-zero-emissions-2050/canadian-net-zero-emissions-accountability-act.html>. Consulté le 30 mars 2021.
- Government of Quebec. 2012. « 2013–2020 Climate Change Action Plan Phase 1 ». http://www.environnement.gouv.qc.ca/changements/plan_action/pacc2020 -en.pdf>.
- Government of Québec. 2020. « Plan pour une économie verte 2030, Politique-cadre d'électrification et de changements climatiques ». https://www.quebec.ca/gouv/politiques-orientations/plan-economie-verte/>. Consulté le 5 janvier 2021.
- Griscom, Bronson W., Justin Adams, Peter W. Ellis, Richard A. Houghton, Guy Lomax, Daniela A. Miteva, William H. Schlesinger, David Shoch, Juha v. Siikamäki, Pete Smith, Peter Woodbury, Chris Zganjar, Allen Blackman, João Campari, Richard T. Conant, Christopher Delgado, Patricia Elias, Trisha Gopalakrishna, Marisa R. Hamsik, Mario Herrero, Joseph Kiesecker, Emily Landis, Lars Laestadius, Sara M. Leavitt, Susan Minnemeyer, Stephen Polasky, Peter Potapov, Francis E. Putz, Jonathan Sanderman, Marcel Silvius, Eva Wollenberg et Joseph Fargione. 2017. « Natural climate solutions ».

Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, vol. 114, n° 44, p. 11645-11650. <https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1710465114/SUPPL_FILE/PNAS.1710465 114.SAPP.PDF>. Consulté le 4 mai 2022.

- Guest, Geoffrey, Ryan M. Bright, Francesco Cherubini et Anders H. Strømman. 2013.
 « Consistent quantification of climate impacts due to biogenic carbon storage across a range of bio-product systems ». *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*, vol. 43, p. 21-30. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EIAR.2013.05.002>. Consulté le 22 mars 2022.
- Guo, Mingxin, Weiping Song et Jeremy Buhain. 2015. « Bioenergy and biofuels: History, status, and perspective ». *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 42, p. 712-725. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2014.10.013>.
- Gustavsson, Leif, Sylvia Haus, Mattias Lundblad, Anders Lundström, Carina A. Ortiz, Roger Sathre, Nguyen le Truong et Per Erik Wikberg. 2017. « Climate change effects of forestry and substitution of carbon-intensive materials and fossil fuels ». *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 67, p. 612-624. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2016.09.056>.
- Hamedani Rajabi, Sara, Bocci Enrico, Villarini Mauro, Di Carlo Andrea et Naso Vincenzo. 2016. « Techno-economic Analysis of Hydrogen Production Using Biomass Gasification -A Small Scale Power Plant Study ». *Energy Procedia*, vol. 101, p. 806-813. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EGYPRO.2016.11.102>. Consulté le 13 avril 2023.
- Hamelinck, Carlo N et André P.C Faaij. 2002. «Future prospects for production of methanol and hydrogen from biomass ». *Journal of Power Sources*, vol. 111, nº 1, p. 1-22. <<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-7753(02)00220-3</u>>.
- Han, Jeehoon, Jeremy S. Luterbacher, David Martin Alonso, James A. Dumesic et Christos T. Maravelias. 2015. «A lignocellulosic ethanol strategy via nonenzymatic sugar production: Process synthesis and analysis». *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 182, p. 258-266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2015.01.135>.
- Hanssen, S. v., V. Daioglou, Z. J.N. Steinmann, J. C. Doelman, D. P. van Vuuren et M. A.J. Huijbregts. 2020. « The climate change mitigation potential of bioenergy with carbon capture and storage ». *Nature Climate Change*, vol. 10, n° 11, p. 1023-1029. < https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-020-0885-y>. Consulté le 14 février 2021.

- Head, Marieke, Pierre Bernier, Annie Levasseur, Robert Beauregard et Manuele Margni.
 2019. «Forestry carbon budget models to improve biogenic carbon accounting in life cycle assessment ». *Journal of Cleaner Production*, vol. 213, p. 289-299. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.12.122>. Consulté le 3 février 2021.
- Hermesmann, M. et T. E. Müller. 2022. «Green, Turquoise, Blue, or Grey? Environmentally friendly Hydrogen Production in Transforming Energy Systems ». Progress in Energy and Combustion Science, vol. 90, p. 100996. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PECS.2022.100996>. Consulté le 19 juin 2022.
- Hugues, Paul, Edi Assoumou et Nadia Maizi. 2016. «Assessing GHG mitigation and associated cost of French biofuel sector: Insights from a TIMES model ». *Energy*, vol. 113, p. 288-300. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2016.06.146>.
- Humbird, D, R Davis, L Tao, C Kinchin, D Hsu, A Aden, P Schoen, J Lukas, B Olthof, M Worley, D Sexton et D Dudgeon. 2011. « Process Design and Economics for Biochemical Conversion of Lignocellulosic Biomass to Ethanol: Dilute-Acid Pretreatment and Enzymatic Hydrolysis of Corn Stover ». *National Renewable Energy Laboratory*, n° May, p. 1-147. <http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy11osti/47764.pdf%5Cnpapers3://publication/u uid/A010A50F-E6E1-4445-88E3-B4DBDB2DF51C>.
- Hurmekoski, Elias, Ragnar Jonsson, Jaana Korhonen, Janne Jänis, Marko Mäkinen, Pekka Leskinen et Lauri Hetemäki. 2018. Diversification of the forest industries: Role of new wood-based products. Canadian Journal of Forest Research. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2018-0116>.
- Hydro Québec. 2015. « A renewable energy option ». https://www.hydroquebec.com/data/developpement-durable/pdf/file-biomass.pdf>.
- Ibarra-Gonzalez, Paola et Ben Guang Rong. 2018. « Systematic Synthesis and Evaluation of Thermochemical Conversion Processes for Lignocellulosic Biofuels Production: Total Process Evaluation and Integration ». *Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research*, vol. 57, n° 30, p. 9925-9942. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.iecr.7b05382>.
- IEA. 2021. Net Zero by 2050 A Roadmap for the Global Energy Sector. Paris. https://www.iea.org/reports/net-zero-by-2050>. Consulté le 11 avril 2022.
- IEA. 2022. *Global Hydrogen Review 2022*. Paris. https://www.iea.org/reports/global-hydrogen-review-2022. Consulté le 12 février 2023.

- IEA-ETSAP. 2023. « Technology Collaboration Programme of the International Energy Agency ». In *IEA*. < https://iea-etsap.org/>. Consulté le 3 avril 2023.
- IRENA. 2023. «Hydrogen». In *International Renewable Energy Agency*. <https://www.irena.org/Energy-Transition/Technology/Hydrogen>. Consulté le 18 juin 2023.
- Jåstad, Eirik Ogner, Torjus Folsland Bolkesjø, Erik Trømborg et Per Kristian Rørstad. 2019. «Large-scale forest-based biofuel production in the Nordic forest sector: Effects on the economics of forestry and forest industries ». Energy Conversion and Management, vol. 184, p. 374-388. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2019.01.065>.
- Jåstad, Eirik Ogner, Torjus Folsland Bolkesjø, Erik Trømborg et Per Kristian Rørstad. 2020. « The role of woody biomass for reduction of fossil GHG emissions in the future North European energy sector ». *Applied Energy*, vol. 274, p. 115360. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2020.115360>. Consulté le 25 novembre 2020.
- Jåstad, Eirik Ogner, Torjus Folsland Bolkesjø, Erik Trømborg et Per Kristian Rørstad. 2021. « Integration of forest and energy sector models – New insights in the bioenergy markets ». Energy Conversion and Management, vol. 227, p. 113626. <https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENCONMAN.2020.113626>. Consulté le 15 juillet 2021.
- Ji, Mengdi et Jianlong Wang. 2021. « Review and comparison of various hydrogen production methods based on costs and life cycle impact assessment indicators ». *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, vol. 46, n° 78, p. 38612-38635. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJHYDENE.2021.09.142>. Consulté le 4 juin 2023.
- Kahlert, Steffen et Hartmut Spliethoff. 2017. « Investigation of different operation strategies to provide balance energy with an industrial combined heat and power plant using dynamic simulation ». Journal of Engineering for Gas Turbines and Power, vol. 139, n° 1, p. 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1115/1.4034184>.

KanORS-EMR. 2022. « Veda 2.0 Release 227.1.1 ».

- KanORS-EMR. 2023. «VEDA2.0». In *KanORS-EMR*. <https://www.kanorsemr.org/software>. Consulté le 7 janvier 2022.
- Kautz, Martin et Ulf Hansen. 2007. « The externally-fired gas-turbine (EFGT-Cycle) for decentralized use of biomass ». *Applied Energy*, vol. 84, n° 7-8, p. 795-805. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2007.01.010>.

- Kazi, Feroz Kabir, Joshua A. Fortman, Robert P. Anex, David D. Hsu, Andy Aden, Abhijit Dutta et Geetha Kothandaraman. 2010. « Techno-economic comparison of process technologies for biochemical ethanol production from corn stover ». *Fuel*, vol. 89, n° SUPPL. 1, p. S20-S28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2010.01.001>.
- Kim, Moonil, W Lee, W Kurz, D Kwak, Scott Morken, C Smyth et Donghoon Ryu. 2017. « Estimating carbon dynamics in forest carbon pools under IPCC standards in South Korea using CBM-CFS3 ». *iForest-Biogeosciences and Forestry*, vol. 10, p. 83-92.
- Kim, Sei Jin, Justin S. Baker, Brent L. Sohngen et Michael Shell. 2018. « Cumulative global forest carbon implications of regional bioenergy expansion policies ». *Resource and Energy Economics*, vol. 53, p. 198-219. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RESENEECO.2018.04.003>. Consulté le 9 avril 2023.
- König, Andreas. 2011. « Cost efficient utilisation of biomass in the German energy system in the context of energy and environmental policies ». *Energy Policy*, vol. 39, n° 2, p. 628-636. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2010.10.035>.
- Kouchaki-Penchah, Hamed, Olivier Bahn, Hamed Bashiri, Serge Bedard, Etienne Bernier, Thomas Elliot, Abdelaziz Hammache, Kathleen Vaillancourt et Annie Levasseur. 2023. «The role of hydrogen in a net-zero emission economy under alternative policy scenarios». *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2023.07.196>.
- Kouchaki-Penchah, Hamed, Olivier Bahn, Kathleen Vaillancourt et Annie Levasseur.
 2022. « The contribution of forest-based bioenergy in achieving deep decarbonization: Insights for Quebec (Canada) using a TIMES approach ». *Energy Conversion and Management*, vol. 252, p. 115081.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENCONMAN.2021.115081
 Consulté le 4 décembre 2021.
- Kouchaki-Penchah, Hamed, Olivier Bahn, Kathleen Vaillancourt, Lucas Moreau, Evelyne Thiffault et Annie Levasseur. 2023. « Impact of Biogenic Carbon Neutrality Assumption for Achieving a Net-Zero Emission Target: Insights from a Techno-Economic Analysis ». *Environmental Science & Technology*, vol. 57, nº 29, p. 10615-10628. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.3c00644>.
- Kruse, Andrea. 2009. «Hydrothermal biomass gasification». Journal of Supercritical Fluids, vol. 47, n° 3, p. 391-399. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.supflu.2008.10.009>.

- Kurz, W. A., C. C. Dymond, T. M. White, G. Stinson, C. H. Shaw, G. J. Rampley, C. Smyth, B. N. Simpson, E. T. Neilson, J. A. Trofymow, J. Metsaranta et M. J. Apps. 2009. « CBM-CFS3: A model of carbon-dynamics in forestry and land-use change implementing IPCC standards ». *Ecological Modelling*, vol. 220, n° 4, p. 480-504. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2008.10.018>. Consulté le 20 juin 2021.
- Kurz, W. A., C. H. Shaw, C. Boisvenue, G. Stinson, J. Metsaranta, D. Leckie, A. Dyk, C. Smyth et E. T. Neilson. 2013. «Carbon in Canada's boreal forest-A synthesis ». *Environmental Reviews*, vol. 21, n° 4, p. 260-292. https://doi.org/10.1139/ER-2013-0041/ASSET/IMAGES/LARGE/ER-2013-0041F10.JPEG>. Consulté le 3 mai 2023.
- Kurz, W.A., C.C. Dymond, T.M. White, G. Stinson, C.H. Shaw, G.J. Rampley, C. Smyth, B.N. Simpson, E.T. Neilson, J.A. Trofymow, J. Metsaranta et M.J. Apps. 2009. « CBM-CFS3: A model of carbon-dynamics in forestry and land-use change implementing IPCC standards ». *Ecological Modelling*, vol. 220, n° 4, p. 480-504. < https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2008.10.018>. Consulté le 19 décembre 2021.
- Lamers, Patrick, Martin Junginger, Caren C. Dymond et André Faaij. 2014. « Damaged forests provide an opportunity to mitigate climate change ». *GCB Bioenergy*, vol. 6, n° 1, p. 44-60. <<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12055</u>>.
- Landry, Gabriel, Evelyne Thiffault, Dominic Cyr, Lucas Moreau, Yan Boulanger et Caren Dymond. 2021. « Mitigation Potential of Ecosystem-Based Forest Management under Climate Change: A Case Study in the Boreal-Temperate Forest Ecotone ». *Forests 2021, Vol. 12, Page 1667*, vol. 12, nº 12, p. 1667. https://doi.org/10.3390/F12121667>. Consulté le 4 avril 2022.
- Langlois-Bertrand, Simon, Kathleen Vaillancourt, Olivier Bahn, Louis Beaumier et Normand Mousseau. 2018. «Canadian Energy Outlook». http://iet.polymtl.ca/energy-outlook/>.
- Larson, E, C Greig, J Jenkins, E Mayfield, A Pascale, C Zhang, J Drossman, R Williams, S Pacala et R Socolow. 2021. Net-Zero America: Potential Pathways, Infrastructure, and Impacts, Final Report, Princeton University, Princeton, NJ. https://netzeroamerica.princeton.edu/the-report. Consulté le 4 juin 2023.
- Lecocq, F., H. Winkler, J.P. Daka, S. Fu, J.S. Gerber, S. Kartha, V. Krey, H. Lofgren, T. Masui, R. Mathur, J. Portugal-Pereira, B. K. Sovacool, M. V. Vilariño et N. Zhou. 2022. « Mitigation and development pathways in the near- to midterm ». In Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change.
Contribution of Working Group III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA : Cambridge University Press. <https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009157926.006>. Consulté le 8 mai 2022.

- Lemprière, T. C., W. A. Kurz, E. H. Hogg, C. Schmoll, G. J. Rampley, D. Yemshanov, D. W. McKenney, R. Gilsenan, A. Beatch, D. Blain, J. S. Bhatti et E. Krcmar. 2013. «Canadian boreal forests and climate change mitigation1». *Environmental Reviews*, vol. 21, n° 4, p. 293-321. https://doi.org/10.1139/er-2013-0039>.
- Levasseur, Annie, Olivier Bahn, Didier Beloin-Saint-Pierre, Mariya Marinova et Kathleen Vaillancourt. 2017. «Assessing butanol from integrated forest biorefinery: A combined techno-economic and life cycle approach ». *Applied Energy*, vol. 198, p. 440-452. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2017.04.040>.
- Li, Wenqin, Qi Dang, Ryan Smith, Robert C. Brown et Mark M. Wright. 2017. « Technoeconomic analysis of the stabilization of bio-oil fractions for insertion into petroleum refineries ». ACS Sustainable Chemistry and Engineering, vol. 5, n° 2, p. 1528-1537. https://doi.org/10.1021/acssuschemeng.6b02222>.
- Li, Wenqin, Arpa Ghosh, Denis Bbosa, Robert Brown et Mark Mba Wright. 2018.
 « Comparative Techno-economic, Uncertainty and Life Cycle Analysis of Lignocellulosic Biomass Solvent Liquefaction and Sugar Fermentation to Ethanol ». ACS Sustainable Chemistry & Engineering, vol. 6, nº 12, p. 16515-16524. https://doi.org/10.1021/acssuschemeng.8b03622>.
- Liu, Weiguo, Zhonghui Zhang, Xinfeng Xie, Zhen Yu, Klaus von Gadow, Junming Xu, Shanshan Zhao et Yuchun Yang. 2017. « Analysis of the Global Warming Potential of Biogenic CO2 Emission in Life Cycle Assessments ». *Scientific Reports*, vol. 7, n° November 2016, p. 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep39857>.
- Longstaff, Holly, David M. Secko, Gabriela Capurro, Patricia Hanney et Terry McIntyre. 2015. «Fostering citizen deliberations on the social acceptability of renewable fuels policy: The case ofadvanced lignocellulosic biofuels in Canada ». *Biomass and Bioenergy*, vol. 74, p. 103-112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2015.01.003>.
- Loulou, Richard, Gary Goldstein, Amit Kanudia, Antti Lettila et Uwe Remme. 2016. « Documentation for the TIMES model: PART I. Energy Technology Systems Analysis Programme ».

etsap.org/docs/Documentation_for_the_TIMES_Model-Part-I_July-2016.pdf>.

- Loulou, Richard, Gary Goldstein, Amit Kanudia, Antti Lettila et Uwe Remme. 2016. « Documentation for the TIMES Model ». In Energy Technology Systems Analysis Program (ETSAP) of the International Energy Agency (IEA). https://iea-etsap.org/index.php/documentation>. Consulté le 16 mai 2022.
- Loulou, Richard, Antti Lehtilä, Amit Kanudia, Uwe Remme et Gary Goldstein. 2016. « Documentation for the TIMES Model PART II: Reference Manual ». *Energy Technology Systems Analysis Programme*, n° July, p. 1-78. http://www.iea-etsap.org/web/Documentation.asp>.
- Mahoutian, Mehrdad et Yixin Shao. 2016. « Production of cement-free construction blocks from industry wastes ». *Journal of Cleaner Production*, vol. 137, p. 1339-1346. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2016.08.012>. Consulté le 15 mars 2023.
- McDowall, Will, Baltazar Solano Rodriguez, Arkaitz Usubiaga et José Acosta Fernández. 2018. « Is the optimal decarbonization pathway influenced by indirect emissions? Incorporating indirect life-cycle carbon dioxide emissions into a European TIMES model ». *Journal of Cleaner Production*, vol. 170, p. 260-268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.09.132>.
- McKendry, Peter. 2002. «Energy production from biomass (part 2): Conversion technologies ». *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 83, n° 1, p. 47-54. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-8524(01)00119-5>. Consulté le 24 janvier 2021.
- Megia, Pedro J., Arturo J. Vizcaino, Jose A. Calles et Alicia Carrero. 2021. « Hydrogen Production Technologies: From Fossil Fuels toward Renewable Sources. A Mini Review ». *Energy and Fuels*, vol. 35, n° 20, p. 16403-16415.
 https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.ENERGYFUELS.1C02501/ASSET/IMAGES/LARGE/EF1C02501 0004.JPEG>. Consulté le 4 juin 2023.
- Ménard, Isabelle, Evelyne Thiffault, Yan Boulanger et Jean François Boucher. 2022.
 « Multi-model approach to integrate climate change impact on carbon sequestration potential of afforestation scenarios in Quebec, Canada ». *Ecological Modelling*, vol. 473, p. 110144.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECOLMODEL.2022.110144>. Consulté le 2 mai 2023.
- Ménard, Isabelle, Evelyne Thiffault, Werner A. Kurz et Jean François Boucher. 2022. « Carbon sequestration and emission mitigation potential of afforestation and

reforestation of unproductive territories ». *New Forests*, p. 1-23. <<u>https://doi.org/10.1007/S11056-022-09955-5/TABLES/3</u>>. Consulté le 2 mai 2023.

- METI. 2019. Strategy for Developing Hydrogen and Fuel-Cell Technologies Formulated. https://www.meti.go.jp/english/press/2019/0918_001.html. Consulté le 22 mars 2023.
- Ministère des Transports du Québec. 2015. « Propelling Quebec Forward with Electricity: Transportation Electrification Action Plan 2015–2020 ». http://medias.mtq.fabrique3/>.
- Mishra, Abhijeet, Florian Humpenöder, Galina Churkina, Christopher P.O. Reyer, Felicitas Beier, Benjamin Leon Bodirsky, Hans Joachim Schellnhuber, Hermann Lotze-Campen et Alexander Popp. 2022. « Land use change and carbon emissions of a transformation to timber cities ». *Nature Communications* 2022 13:1, vol. 13, n° 1, p. 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-32244-w>. Consulté le 12 avril 2023.
- Moreau, Lucas, Evelyne Thiffault, Dominic Cyr, Yan Boulanger et Robert Beauregard.
 2022. «How can the forest sector mitigate climate change in a changing climate? Case studies of boreal and northern temperate forests in eastern Canada ». Forest Ecosystems, vol. 9, p. 100026.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FECS.2022.100026>. Consulté le 4 avril 2022.
- Moreau, Lucas, Evelyne Thiffault, Werner A. Kurz et Robert Beauregard. 2023. « Under what circumstances can the forest sector contribute to 2050 climate change mitigation targets? A study from forest ecosystems to landfill methane emissions for the province of Quebec, Canada ». *GCB Bioenergy*. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.13081>.
- Moret, Stefano, Víctor Codina Gironès, Michel Bierlaire et François Maréchal. 2017. « Characterization of input uncertainties in strategic energy planning models ». *Applied Energy*, vol. 202, p. 597-617. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2017.05.106>.
- Moret, Stefano, Emanuela Peduzzi, Léda Gerber et François Maréchal. 2016. « Integration of deep geothermal energy and woody biomass conversion pathways in urban systems ». *Energy Conversion and Management*, vol. 129, p. 305-318. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2016.09.079>.
- Muradov, N. 2001. «Hydrogen via methane decomposition: an application for decarbonization of fossil fuels ». *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*,

vol. 26, n° 11, p. 1165-1175. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0360-3199(01)00073-8>. Consulté le 4 juin 2023.

- NASEM. 2019. Negative Emissions Technologies and Reliable Sequestration. Washington, D.C. : National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/25259>.
- Natrural Resources Canada. 2020. «Current lumber and pulp and panel prices». https://www.nrcan.gc.ca/our-natural-resources/domestic-international-markets/current-lumber-pulp-panel-prices/13309>.
- Nazir, Hassan, Cindrella Louis, Sujin Jose, Jyoti Prakash, Navaneethan Muthuswamy, Marthe E.M. Buan, Cristina Flox, Sai Chavan, Xuan Shi, Pertti Kauranen, Tanja Kallio, Gilberto Maia, Kaido Tammeveski, Nikolaos Lymperopoulos, Elena Carcadea, Emre Veziroglu, Alfredo Iranzo et Arunachala M. Kannan. 2020. « Is the H2 economy realizable in the foreseeable future? Part I: H2 production methods ». *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, vol. 45, n° 27, p. 13777-13788. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJHYDENE.2020.03.092>. Consulté le 4 juin 2023.
- NHTSA. 2011. « National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. Summary of Fuel Economy Performance. »
- Nikolaidis, Pavlos et Andreas Poullikkas. 2017. « A comparative overview of hydrogen production processes ». *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 67, p. 597-611. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RSER.2016.09.044>. Consulté le 4 juin 2023.
- NRCan. 2020. *Hydrogen Strategy for Canada -Seizing the Opportunities for Hydrogen*. https://natural-resources.canada.ca/climate-change-adapting-impacts-and-reducing-emissions/canadas-green-future/the-hydrogen-strategy/23080. Consulté le 12 février 2023.
- NRCan. 2022. « The State of Canada's Forests ». <https://naturalresources.canada.ca/sites/nrcan/files/forest/sof2022/SoF_Annual2022_EN_a ccess.pdf>. Consulté le 10 avril 2023.
- Pang, Shusheng. 2019. « Advances in thermochemical conversion of woody biomass to energy, fuels and chemicals ». *Biotechnology Advances*, vol. 37, nº 4, p. 589-597. < https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2018.11.004>.
- Panos, Evangelos et Ramachandran Kannan. 2016. « The role of domestic biomass in electricity, heat and grid balancing markets in Switzerland ». *Energy*, vol. 112, p. 1120-1138. < https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2016.06.107>.

- Paradis, Laurence, Evelyne Thiffault et Alexis Achim. 2019. « Comparison of carbon balance and climate change mitigation potential of forest management strategies in the boreal forest of Quebec (Canada) ». ForestryAn International Journal of Forest Research Forestry, vol. 92, p. 264-277. https://doi.org/10.1093/forestry/cpz004>. Consulté le 3 mai 2023.
- Peters, M S, K D Timmerhaus et R E West. 2003. *Plant Design and Economics for Chemical Engineers*. Coll. « McGraw-Hill chemical engineering series ». McGraw-Hill Education. <https://books.google.ca/books?id=3uVFkBBHyP8C>.
- Pfenninger, Stefan et James Keirstead. 2015. «Renewables, nuclear, or fossil fuels? Scenarios for Great Britain's power system considering costs, emissions and energy security ». *Applied Energy*, vol. 152, p. 83-93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2015.04.102>.
- Phillips, S., A. Aden, J. Jechura, D. Dayton et T. Eggeman. 2007. « Thermochemical Ethanol via Direct Gasification and Mixed Alcohol Synthesis of Lignocellulosic Biomass. Technical Report NREL/TP-510-41168 ». NREL, National Renewable Energy Laboratory.
- Phillips, Steven D., Joan K. Tarud, Mary J. Biddy et Abhijit Dutta. 2011. « Gasoline from woody biomass via thermochemical gasification, methanol synthesis, and methanol-to-gasoline technologies: A technoeconomic analysis ». *Industrial* and Engineering Chemistry Research, vol. 50, n° 20, p. 11734-11745. https://doi.org/10.1021/ie2010675>.
- Pilli, Roberto, Giacomo Grassi, Werner A. Kurz, Raúl Abad Viñas et Nuria Hue Guerrero. 2016. « Modelling forest carbon stock changes as affected by harvest and natural disturbances. I. Comparison with countries' estimates for forest management ». *Carbon Balance and Management*, vol. 11, nº 1, p. 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1186/S13021-016-0047-8/TABLES/2>. Consulté le 17 juin 2023.
- Poluzzi, Alessandro, Giulio Guandalini et Matteo C. Romano. 2022. « Flexible methanol and hydrogen production from biomass gasification with negative emissions ». Sustainable Energy & Fuels, vol. 6, nº 16, p. 3830-3851. https://doi.org/10.1039/D2SE00661H>. Consulté le 7 avril 2023.
- Pomponi, Francesco, Jim Hart, Jay H. Arehart et Bernardino D'Amico. 2020. « Buildings as a Global Carbon Sink? A Reality Check on Feasibility Limits ». One Earth, vol. 3, n° 2, p. 157-161. < https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ONEEAR.2020.07.018>. Consulté le 12 avril 2023.

- Purdue-University. 2023. « Critical Temperature and Pressure ». https://www.chem.purdue.edu/gchelp/liquids/critical.html. Consulté le 10 mai 2023.
- Razi, Faran et Ibrahim Dincer. 2022. « Challenges, opportunities and future directions in hydrogen sector development in Canada ». *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, vol. 47, nº 15, p. 9083-9102. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJHYDENE.2022.01.014>. Consulté le 19 septembre 2022.
- Rentizelas, A., S. Karellas, E. Kakaras et I. Tatsiopoulos. 2009. « Comparative technoeconomic analysis of ORC and gasification for bioenergy applications ». *Energy Conversion and Management*, vol. 50, n° 3, p. 674-681. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2008.10.008>.
- Riahi, K., R. Schaeffer, J. Arango, K. Calvin, C. Guivarch, T. Hasegawa, K. Jiang, E. Kriegler, R. Matthews, G.P. Peters, A. Rao, S. Robertson, A.M. Sebbit, J. Steinberger, M. Tavoni et D.P. van Vuuren. 2022. « Mitigation pathways compatible with long-term goals ». In *Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change; Contribution of Working Group III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, sous la dir. de Shukla, P.R., J. Skea, R. Slade, A. Al Khourdajie, R. van Diemen, D. McCollum, M. Pathank, S. Some, P. Vyas, R. Fradera, M. Belkacemi, A. Hasija, G. Lisboa, S. Luz et J. Malley. Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA : Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009157926.005>. Consulté le 8 mai 2022.
- Sanchez, Daniel L. et Daniel M. Kammen. 2016. «A commercialization strategy for carbon-negative energy ». Nature Energy 2016 1:1, vol. 1, nº 1, p. 1-4. https://doi.org/10.1038/nenergy.2015.2>. Consulté le 17 juin 2023.
- Sawatdeenarunat, Chayanon, K. C. Surendra, Devin Takara, Hans Oechsner et Samir Kumar Khanal. 2015. « Anaerobic digestion of lignocellulosic biomass: Challenges and opportunities ». *Bioresource Technology*, vol. 178, p. 178-186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.09.103>.
- Seidl, Rupert, Dominik Thom, Markus Kautz, Dario Martin-Benito, Mikko Peltoniemi, Giorgio Vacchiano, Jan Wild, Davide Ascoli, Michal Petr, Juha Honkaniemi, Manfred J. Lexer, Volodymyr Trotsiuk, Paola Mairota, Miroslav Svoboda, Marek Fabrika, Thomas A. Nagel et Christopher P.O. Reyer. 2017. « Forest disturbances under climate change ». *Nature Climate Change 2017 7:6*, vol. 7, nº 6, p. 395-402. <https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate3303>. Consulté le 10 avril 2023.

- Senez-Gagnon, Fanny, Evelyne Thiffault, David Paré, Alexis Achim et Yves Bergeron.
 2018. « Dynamics of detrital carbon pools following harvesting of a humid eastern Canadian balsam fir boreal forest ». Forest Ecology and Management, vol. 430, p. 33-42.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FORECO.2018.07.044>. Consulté le 3 mai 2023.
- Seto, Karen C., Steven J. Davis, Ronald B. Mitchell, Eleanor C. Stokes, Gregory Unruh et Diana Ürge-Vorsatz. 2016. « Carbon Lock-In: Types, Causes, and Policy Implications ». https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-110615-085934, vol. 41, p. 425-452. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV-ENVIRON-110615-085934>. Consulté le 6 juin 2023.
- Shahrukh, Hassan, Adetoyese Olajire Oyedun, Amit Kumar, Bahman Ghiasi, Linoj Kumar et Shahab Sokhansanj. 2015. « Net energy ratio for the production of steam pretreated biomass-based pellets ». *Biomass and Bioenergy*, vol. 80, p. 286-297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2015.06.006>.
- Shahrukh, Hassan, Adetoyese Olajire Oyedun, Amit Kumar, Bahman Ghiasi, Linoj Kumar et Shahab Sokhansanj. 2016. «Techno-economic assessment of pellets produced from steam pretreated biomass feedstock ». *Biomass and Bioenergy*, vol. 87, p. 131-143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2016.03.001>.
- Simoens, Machteld Catharina, Lea Fuenfschilling et Sina Leipold. 2022. « Discursive dynamics and lock-ins in socio-technical systems: an overview and a way forward ». Sustainability Science, vol. 17, n° 5, p. 1841-1853. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11625-022-01110-5/FIGURES/1>. Consulté le 6 juin 2023.
- Skea, Jim, Priyadarshi R Shukla, Andy Reisinger, Raphael Slade, Minal Pathak, Alaa Al Khourdajie, Renée van Diemen, Amjad Abdulla, Keigo Akimoto et Mustafa Babiker. 2022. « Summary for policymakers ». In Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change: Contribution of Working Group III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press.
- Smith, Pete, Steven J. Davis, Felix Creutzig, Sabine Fuss, Jan Minx, Benoit Gabrielle, Etsushi Kato, Robert B. Jackson, Annette Cowie, Elmar Kriegler, Detlef P. van Vuuren, Joeri Rogelj, Philippe Ciais, Jennifer Milne, Josep G. Canadell, David McCollum, Glen Peters, Robbie Andrew, Volker Krey, Gyami Shrestha, Pierre Friedlingstein, Thomas Gasser, Arnulf Grübler, Wolfgang K. Heidug, Matthias Jonas, Chris D. Jones, Florian Kraxner, Emma Littleton, Jason Lowe, José Roberto Moreira, Nebojsa Nakicenovic, Michael Obersteiner, Anand Patwardhan, Mathis Rogner, Ed Rubin, Ayyoob Sharifi,

Asbjørn Torvanger, Yoshiki Yamagata, Jae Edmonds et Cho Yongsung. 2016. «Biophysical and economic limits to negative CO2 emissions». *Nature Climate Change*, vol. 6, n° 1, p. 42-50. https://doi.org/10.1038/NCLIMATE2870>. Consulté le 4 mai 2022.

- Smyth, C. E., G. Stinson, E. Neilson, T. C. Lemprière, M. Hafer, G. J. Rampley et W. A. Kurz. 2014. «Quantifying the biophysical climate change mitigation potential of Canada's forest sector ». *Biogeosciences*, vol. 11, nº 13, p. 3515-3529. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-11-3515-2014>.
- Smyth, Carolyn, Werner A. Kurz, Greg Rampley, Tony C. Lemprière et Olaf Schwab. 2017. « Climate change mitigation potential of local use of harvest residues for bioenergy in Canada ». GCB Bioenergy, vol. 9, nº 4, p. 817-832. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12387>.
- Speight, James G. 2019. «Upgrading by Gasification ». In *Heavy Oil Recovery and Upgrading*, p. 559-614. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-813025-4.00013-1.
- Steinberg, Meyer et Hsing C. Cheng. 1989. « Modern and prospective technologies for hydrogen production from fossil fuels ». *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, vol. 14, n° 11, p. 797-820. https://doi.org/10.1016/0360-3199(89)90018-9>. Consulté le 4 juin 2023.
- Swanson, Ryan M., Alexandru Platon, Justinus A. Satrio et Robert C. Brown. 2010. « Techno-economic analysis of biomass-to-liquids production based on gasification ». *Fuel*, vol. 89, n° SUPPL. 1, p. S11-S19. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2010.07.027>.
- TEFP. 2016. « Canada's challenge & opportunity transformations for major reductions in GHG emissions ». < https://iet.polymtl.ca/en/tefp/>.
- Tijmensen, Michiel J.A., André P.C. Faaij, Carlo N. Hamelinck et Martijn R.M. Van Hardeveld. 2002. « Exploration of the possibilities for production of Fischer Tropsch liquids and power via biomass gasification ». *Biomass and Bioenergy*, vol. 23, n° 2, p. 129-152. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0961-9534(02)00037-5>.
- Tock, Laurence. 2013. « Thermo-environomic optimisation of fuel decarbonisation alternative processes for hydrogen and power production ». École polytechnique fédérale de Lausanne, 1-73 p.
- UNFCCC. 2015. « United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, Paris Agreement ».

<https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/english_paris_agreement.pdf>. Consulté le 30 mars 2021.

- UNFCCC. 2021. « Annex I Party GHG Inventory Submissions ». In United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change . https://unfccc.int/ghg-inventories-annex-i-parties/2021. Consulté le 21 décembre 2022.
- Unruh, Gregory C. 2002. « Escaping carbon lock-in ». *Energy Policy*, vol. 30, nº 4, p. 317-325. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-4215(01)00098-2>. Consulté le 6 juin 2023.
- Vaillancourt, Kathleen, Yuri Alcocer, Olivier Bahn, Camille Fertel, Erik Frenette, Hichem Garbouj, Amit Kanudia, Maryse Labriet, Richard Loulou, Mathilde Marcy, Yosra Neji et Jean Philippe Waaub. 2014. « A Canadian 2050 energy outlook: Analysis with the multi-regional model TIMES-Canada ». *Applied Energy*, vol. 132, p. 56-65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2014.06.072>.
- Vaillancourt, Kathleen, Olivier Bahn, Erik Frenette et Oskar Sigvaldason. 2017. « Exploring deep decarbonization pathways to 2050 for Canada using an optimization energy model framework ». *Applied Energy*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2017.03.104>.
- Vaillancourt, Kathleen, Olivier Bahn et Annie Levasseur. 2019. « The role of bioenergy in low-carbon energy transition scenarios: A case study for Quebec (Canada) ». *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 102, n° November 2018, p. 24-34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2018.11.025>.
- Vaughan, Adam. 2020. « China's surprising ambition ». *New Scientist*, vol. 248, nº 3302, p. 18. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0262-4079(20)31741-3>.
- Volkart, Kathrin, Nicolas Weidmann, Christian Bauer et Stefan Hirschberg. 2017. « Multi-criteria decision analysis of energy system transformation pathways: A case study for Switzerland ». *Energy Policy*, vol. 106, nº October 2016, p. 155-168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2017.03.026>.
- Wade, Christopher M., Justin S. Baker, Jason P.H. Jones, Kemen G. Austin, Yongxia Cai, Alison Bean de Hernandez, Gregory S. Latta, Sara B. Ohrel, Shaun Ragnauth, Jared Creason et Bruce McCarl. 2022. «Projecting the Impact of Socioeconomic and Policy Factors on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Carbon Sequestration in U.S. Forestry and Agriculture ». Journal of Forest Economics, vol. 37, n° 1, p. 127-131. <https://doi.org/10.1561/112.00000545>. Consulté le 12 avril 2023.

- Van Walsum, G. Peter et M. Clayton Wheeler. 2013. « Biofuel production ». In *Wood-Based Energy in the Northern Forests*. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-9478-2 10>.
- Wang, Weiwei, Puneet Dwivedi, Robert Abt et Madhu Khanna. 2015. « Carbon savings with transatlantic trade in pellets: Accounting for market-driven effects ». *Environmental Research Letters*, vol. 10, n° 11. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/10/11/114019>
- Welfle, Andrew, Patricia Thornley et Mirjam Röder. 2020. «A review of the role of bioenergy modelling in renewable energy research & policy development ». *Biomass and Bioenergy*, vol. 136, p. 105542. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2020.105542>.
- Wenzl, Hermann Franz Joseph. 1970. « The chemical technology of wood ». p. 692.
- Werner, Frank, Ruedi Taverna, Peter Hofer, Esther Thürig et Edgar Kaufmann. 2010. «National and global greenhouse gas dynamics of different forest management and wood use scenarios: a model-based assessment». *Environmental Science and Policy*, vol. 13, n° 1, p. 72-85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2009.10.004>.
- Woolf, Dominic, Johannes Lehmann et David R. Lee. 2016. « Optimal bioenergy power generation for climate change mitigation with or without carbon sequestration ». *Nature Communications 2016 7:1*, vol. 7, nº 1, p. 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms13160>. Consulté le 10 avril 2023.
- Wright, Mark M. et Tristan Brown. 2019. «Costs of Thermochemical Conversion of Biomass to Power and Liquid Fuels ». In *Thermochemical Processing of Biomass*, p. 337-353. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119417637.ch10>. Consulté le 30 octobre 2020.
- Xu, Zhen, Carolyn E. Smyth, Tony C. Lemprière, Greg J. Rampley et Werner A. Kurz. 2018. « Climate change mitigation strategies in the forest sector: biophysical impacts and economic implications in British Columbia, Canada ». *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change*, vol. 23, n° 2, p. 257-290. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11027-016-9735-7>.
- Yang, Xi, Chris P. Nielsen, Shaojie Song et Michael B. McElroy. 2022. « Breaking the hard-to-abate bottleneck in China's path to carbon neutrality with clean hydrogen ». *Nature Energy 2022* 7:10, vol. 7, n° 10, p. 955-965. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41560-022-01114-6>. Consulté le 25 janvier 2023.

- Zhao, Lili, Shiyan Chang, Hailin Wang, Xiliang Zhang, Xunmin Ou, Baiyu Wang et Maorong Wu. 2015. « Long-term projections of liquid biofuels in China: Uncertainties and potential benefits ». *Energy*, vol. 83, p. 37-54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2015.01.060>.
- Zhu, Yunhua, Mary J. Biddy, Susanne B. Jones, Douglas C. Elliott et Andrew J. Schmidt.
 2014. « Techno-economic analysis of liquid fuel production from woody biomass via hydrothermal liquefaction (HTL) and upgrading ». *Applied Energy*, vol. 129, p. 384-394.
 .
- van der Zwaan, Bob, Sam Lamboo et Francesco Dalla Longa. 2021. « Timmermans' dream: An electricity and hydrogen partnership between Europe and North Africa ». Energy Policy, vol. 159, p. 112613. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENPOL.2021.112613>. Consulté le 21 mars 2023.